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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chairman’s Sta'tement

“The Group performed strongly
in a challenging market”

Professor
Richard Parry~Jones CBE
Chairman

{ntroduction

| am delighted to present our Annual Report and Accounts
(“Annual Report"} for the year ended 31 December 2018
(the “Year"), my first since becoming Chairman of the Group
on 1 January 2019.

Whilst the market backdrop in 2018 remained challenging,
the Group performed strongly. We are pleased to report a
record continuing underlying profit before tax* (“PBT")
perfornance for the Year.

| am excited to have joined the Group at this time in its
development. The global autemotive industry is undergoing
unprecedented change, driven in arge part by exciting new
technologies, some of which | have been heavily invoived
with during my career.

| have visited a number of our dealerships and met with
many of our ¢ofleagues since | joined the Group and | have
been very impressed with how the Group operates.

Strategy

The Group's strategy of close partnership with major global
automotive brands has served it well over many years,
enabling it to grow significantly and become a feading UK
automotive retailer. This strategy has positioned the Group
well to continue its success and | very much look forward to
being part of the leadership team to help deliver its future
potential. We remain committed o our strategy of growing
the Group further, both organically and through targeted
acquisitions. We continue to believe that those automotive
retailers with both scale and a diverse portfolio will be best
placed {o succeed in a changing market.

Results

The Group has enjoyed another record year, delivering like-
far-like*” revenue growth of 1.2% and continuing underlying
PBT growth of 1.2% to £25.7m. The Group’s balance sheet
also remains strong, underpinned by £125.3m of
freeholdflong leasehold property.

Dividend

The Group's stated dividend policy since 2015 has been to
maintain a progressive dividend policy where dividends
were covered between 4 to 5 times by underlying eamings.
The Board has recently reviewed its dividend policy and, in
light of the Group’s strong financial position and confidence
in its long-term prosgects, is pleased to announce a change
to this policy.

The Group's revised dividend policy is that, subject lo the
Group's trading prospects being satisfactory and taking into
account polential investments, dividends will be covered by
between 2.5 to 3.5 times underlying eamings and paid in
an approximate one-third (interim dividend} and two-thirds
{final dividend) split. The Board believes the revised
dividend policy is appropriate and sustainable, balancing
the Group's strong financial position and cash generation
with its stated strategy of further investment and growth in
its business.

The Board is therefore recommending a final dividend for
2018 of 6.39p per share which, if approved by shareholders
at our AGM on 21 May 2019, will be paid on 24 May 2019
to shareholders who are on the Company's register at close

* underlying profit befors lax is presented excluding non-underying
itams {see Note 7 to the {inancial slatements)
** See Note 2 to the financial slatements

of business on 26 April 2019, If approved, this will resuitin
a full year dividend of 8.54p per share, an increase of
33.4% on the prior year {2017 6.40p} and dividend cover
of 3.2x (2017 4.2x).

AGM

Qur annual general meeting will be held on 21 May 2019
and | look forward to meeting all shareholders whao are able
to attend.

Outlook

The Board notes the latest forecast by the Society of Motor
Manufacturers and Traders ('SMMT) for a further decline
in the UK new car market in 2019 of 2.3%. The Board is
also cognisant of the potential impact that Brexit may have
on both the UK economy generally and the automotive
sector in particular. Al the date of this Annual Report, the
terms of the UK's departure from the European Union are
not certain and the Board therefore remains cautious about
the economic outiook for 2019. We are, however, confident
in our brand partners’ commitment to the UK automotive
retail market (the second largest in Europe) and their
coflective ability to respond effectively to the potential
challenges that Brexit may bring.

Qur order baok for the important March plate-change period
is, however, encouraging and our cutiook for the full year
remains unchanged.

The Group has the benefit of a strong balance sheet with a
low level of net debt. This, together with an exceptional
management team, leaves it well placed to respond ta
market changes and challenges and to take advantage of
opportunities when they arise.

On behalf of the Board, | would once again like to thank
Peter Johngon wha retired as Chairman on 31 Degember
2018. His leadership since the Graup's IPO in 2015
oversaw its transformation, including through the
acquisitions of SG Smith in 2015, Ridgeway in 2016 and
the disposal of Marshall Leasing in 2017. 1 would also like
to thank Mark Raban, who stepped down from his position
as Chief Financial Officer on 2 January 2019, for his
valuable contribution to the Group over the same period.
| am very pleased to welcome Richard Blumberger to the
Board as our new Chief Financial Officer.

I would also like to thank the leadership team, cur brand
partners, business suppliers, shareholders and colleagues
throughout the Group for their continued support duning
another successful year.

Finally, | would like to thank all of our customers throughout
the UK who choose Marshall as their preferred source of
mobitity products and services — delighting and satisfying
you is the ultimate goal of evenything we do.

Professor Richard Parry-Jones CBE

Chairman
12 March 2019
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Our Vision
To be lhe UK's premier automotive retail group as recognisec d iy our colieagues.
cuslomers. busimess pariners and sharehalc 0 achieve our vision we will create
& people centric culture

excellence and are regarde

. EiS weH as operate as reiaiiers who deliver retailing
an employer of choice

M Marshall

— Motor Holdings plc

Class leading Customer Retailing People Strategic)
returns first excellence centric growth
& »D 1 a@
< S ;@ L0
VAN
The Group Customer service The Group The Group is The Group
aims to deliver is at the core of maintains its committed to aims to grow
benchmarked the Group as it competitive edge recruiting, both organically
class leading drives repeat car by investing in fraining, and and through
retumns for its sales and the the best people retaining the acquisitions,
shareholders. purchase of supported by best talent in building scale
higher margin cutting-edge the industry. with its existing
aftersales technology in brand partners
products. the sector. and extending
its geographic
footprint.

Underpinned by five strategic pillars




STRATEGIC REPORT

Operating Review

“Despite a challenging new and used
car market, the Group performed
robustly, exceeding last year's record
result at continuing underlying PBY
level”

“Overall like-for-like revenue growth
in the face of a decline in the new and
used vehicle market”

Daksh Gupta
Chiaf Executive
Officar

Overview
For the fourth consecutive year since our IPO, | am pleased to
announce another record result at continuing underlying PBT Like-for-Like Revenue

level. Despite the well-publicisaed decline in our markets, the
'Gr?up deliverad :cxntinlxl:ing underlying PBT of £25.7m, ahead of £2 ; 1 34 . 6m (up 1 2(%))
ast year's record result. (2017 £2 108 gm)

. y .

2018 was another successful year for the Group:

* Total revenue of £2.2 billion with like-for-like revenue growth of  Continuing Underlying PBT

1.2% to £2.1 billion; £25 7m (up 1_20/0)
« Continuing underlying PBT up 1.2% to £25.7m, ahead of last (201 7: £25 4m)

year's record result;

= Strong used car performanca. like-for-like volumes up 2.3%
combined with a 32bps margin i sment; -
ith @ 32bps margin improvemen Full Year Dividend

= Aftersales like-for-like revenue continued to grow, up 2.3%; 8 . 54p (Up 334%)

« Like-for-like total new vehicle unit sales down 8.2% due to .
impact of WLTP and diesel challenges; (20 1 7 . 6 . 40p)

» Disciplined cost management despite significant costs .
headwinds with like-for-like operating expenses as a Ninth Year of

percentage of tumover marginally down at 10.1%; ‘Great Place to Worlk’ status

» Net dabt at 31 December 2018 of £5.1m after continued
investment in capital expenditure of £23.8m, including a new
freeheld al Lincoin Jaguar Land Rover and a ‘ong leasehold
development at Cambridge Ford,;

« Extinguished residual liability for historic defined benefit
pension arrangements;

+ Revised dividend cover policy of 2.5 to 3.5 underying eamings Best Workplaces™
with recommended finat dividend of 6.39p per share, giving a MARSHALL MOTOR 1AL Mgron
full year dividend of 8.54p per share, an increase of 33.4% HOLDINGSPLC ~  LDINGS

versus last year; L43GE CATIGORY e
R,ur—',Z'l!’T

» Ninth year of Great Place to Work status with four consecutive
years achieving ranked status; and

» Further technological advancements in the Group's bespoke
managemant information system, ‘Phoenix 2'.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our
strategy

The Group's strategic
vision, which is unchanged,
is to become the UK's
premier automotive Group
and this remains central to
everything we do. The five
strategic piltars, of equal
importance, which underpin
that vision are: class
leading returns; putting
our customers first;
detivering retailing
excellence for the benefit
of aur customers; being
people-centric by focusing
on empioyee engagement;
and pursuing strategic
growth both organicaity
and through targeted
acquisitions in-line with the
Group’s strategy.

x)

Class N\

leading returns

The Group's strategy of building a
balanced brand portfolio in
attraclive geographic locations, has
assisted the continuation of our
strong track record in the face of a
more challenging market. In spite
of an overall market decline during
the Year, with the new car market
declining by 6.8% and the used car
market declining by 2.1%, our ke
for-like revenue grew by 1.2% and
our continuing underlying PBT grew
by 1.2% versus last year’s record
result. In the face of increasing
pressures, our costs were tightly
controlied and our margins
continued to be strong.

In light of the Group's strong
financial position and canfidence in
its long-term prospects, we are
pleased that we have been able to
amend our dividend policy which
has resulied in a 33.4% increase in
our full year dividand.

Continuing to grow with our brand
partners will enable the Group to
access further banefits of scale
across a number of areas of the
business, intluding improved
commarcial terms with suppliers
and vehicle stock management.
The racent SKODA acquisitions
also highlight the strength of our
relationships with our brand
pariners. We continue to actively
pursue acquisition opportunities
which are in-line with our strategy
and mest our investment criteria.

Customer
first

Customer satisfaction is an impartant
element of the Group's strategy,
driving repeat business and loyalty to
the Marshall brand.

It is therefore pleasing that during the
Year, 45.6% of the 40,471 customers
surveyed who visited cur showrcoms
indicated that they were either
previous customers or were
recommended to us, up from 42% in
the prior year.

Qur in-house developed
management information system
{Phoenix 2) provides daily customar
satisfaction information by dealership
which aliows management to
proactively respond to customer
needs and follow up on potential
areas of concem.

In addition, on a weekly basis, the
Group cenitratly monitors customer
satisfaction for both sales and
aftersales across all locations and
brand partners. This alignment
ensures we focus on our brand
partners’ key measures whilst also
ensuring consistency of intemal
parformance monitoring.

The Group's continued expansion
and scale gives customars a wider
choice of location and products,
increasing both customer satisfaction
and sales.
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www,marshall.co.uk is

the sixih most visited dealer
group website n the UK
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STRATEGIC REFPORT

Retailing
excellence

A key differentiator is the Group’s
focus on, and investment in,
technology aimed at expanding the
Group's customer base and
improving operating efficiencies.
2018 saw further investment in
these areas.

The Group is focused on
angaging and attracting new and
axisting customers with its online
presenca both through our
website and social media. During
the Year, the Group has focused
on maximising its marketing return
on investment through its online
channels which has seen an
increase in lead conversion. The
Group is widely regarded as being
at the forefront of social media in
the sector, winning 14 awards in
the last two years and two further
awards so far in 2019.

During the Year, the Group
partnered with one of the UK's
leading suppliers of used car
pricing and transaction data. This
data has been uniqualy integrated
into Phoenix 2, our bespoke, in-
house management information
systam, to create a separate
madule to support management in
vehicle valuations. This enables
visibility of pricing comparison to
the market, including regional and
market desirability variations, all of
which leads 1o greater customer
transparency and optimal pricing.
In addition, central oversight of
stock management and market
pricing has been improved. We
bselieve this gives us a competitive
advantage in the market place.

. the future.

People
centric

For the ninth consecutive year, the
Group has been recognised by the
Great Place to Work Institute as a
‘great place to work’ based on
colleagues surveyed during 2018, Qur
2018 scores were excellent with 78%
of colfeagues stating that Marshali was
a 'great place to work'. This compares
to an average UK score of 55%.

\4

Based on the resuits of the 2017
survey, the Group was ranked 21st of
the Top 30 large employers in the LK
which included employers such as
Cisco, Admiral Group Ple, SAP and
MBNA. 2018 was the fourth year
running that the Group was ranked.
Given the further improvements of
colleagus engagement in 2018, we
are confident of being ranked for a fifth
year running which only 11 companies
in the Great Place to Work Institute
have achiaved.

The Group is committed to diversity in
both Marshall and the wider industry.
This is demonstrated by the Group
recently becoming a mamber of the
Automotive 30 Club, the aim of which
is to work towards having women in
30% of key leadership positions by
2030. Currently, 14.3% of the Group's
management positions are undertaken
by female colleagues and we continue
to work towards growing this
proportion.

Qur Gender Pay Gap Report, which is
published on our website, sets out the
actions we are taking to address the
gender pay gap which exists both in
our husiness and the wider sector. We
have made improvements in this area
and are committed to do more.

As previously reparted, the Group
continues to make a significant
investment in its sales exacutive
offering with the objective of increasing
diversity and retention in these key
customer intarfacing roles. Since
launch, the Group has sean a
significant decrease in salas executive
tumover although there remains mare
to do in this area. In addition, the
proportion of female sales executives
in the Group has grown by §0%. This
is encouraging for succession, talent
development and gender diversity for

Recognising that people are at the
heart of our success, further strategic
initiatives have been launched during
the Year in the following areas:

» Future leaders programme to identity
and develop our future management
teams — this pregramme is for high
potential colleagues to ready
themselves for their first line
management position. Encouragingly,
we have already seen a number of the
first cohort achieve promotion to their
first ine management role.

» Management development
programme aimed at supporting and
upskilling existing managers to help
better equip them to gst the best cut
of their teams and improve business
performance.

» New in-house recruitment team giving
more control over recruitment quality
and cost. This initiative atso sees the
implementation of a new applicant
tracking system which will provide
greater control over our employment
brand and candidate experience,
whilst also saving time and cost.

» New leaming management system
Qur new Group wide e-learning
platform will help us to deliver more
leaming and development
oppontunities to ail colleagues.

In keeping with our sacial agenda and
aim o support local communities, we
have also implemanted a new work
experience programme to attract new
talent for the future alongside our
cumrent apprentice programme which
curently has 122 participants.
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The Group's strategy is to grow scale
with existing brand partners in new
geagraphical termitories, as
demonsirated by the acquisitions
completed since our IPQ.

There has been considerable
consclidation in the UK motor retail
market over the last ten years, in
which the Group has played an active
role. We expect further industry
consoclidation over the coming years
for which the Group is very well
positioned, with a strong balance
sheet and excellent manufacturer
relationships.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Development at Lincoln Jaguar Land Rover
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Acquisitions and disposals

The Group continually seeks to maximise return on capital
employed and closely monitors and reviews its portfolic 1o
ensure optimal retums. As a result, in November 2017 the
Group closed six sub-scale, loss-making businesses. These
businesses lost, in aggregate, £1.3m in 2017, with the
resultant financial benefits of their closure being realised
during the Year. The Group also successfully disposed of its
property interests and liabilities in each of these closed sites
by the end of the Year. Management taok further proactive
steps during the Year, closing two used car centres and one
franchised site, Vauxhall Leicester, as part of a wider network
recrganisation announced by the brand in 2018.

Consistent with our strategic growth pillar, during early
2019 the Group announced two acquisitions which have
further extended our relationship with SKODA and the
Volkswagen Group as a whole, growing our SKODA
partnership from 5 locations to 11.

Our growth with SKODA is in-line with the Group's strategy
fo grow scale with key brand partners and extend our
geographic footprint. The Group joined the $KODA network
in 2013 with the acquisition of Silver Street Automotive which
indluded Bamstaple SKODA. We added Croydon $KODA as
part of the acquisition of S.G. Smith in 2015, followed by the
addition of our Newbury, Oxford and Reading SKODA
businesses as a part of the acquisition of Ridgeway in 2016.

In January 2019, the Group acquired Leicester and
Nottingham SKODA from Sandidiffe Limited and in February
2019 acquired the Bedford, Harlow, Letchworth and
Northampton SKODA businesses from Progress Bedford
Limited. These dealsrships are in excellent locations, fully
compliant with the fatest SKODA brand standards and are
contiguous to our existing SKODA sites. We believe they
have potential for growth and improvement in their operating
performance as par of a scaled and focused division.

Each acquisition was completed in consultation with, and the
support of, SKODA UK, making Marshall the fargest SKODA
retailer in the UK. The 3KCDA brand has enjoyed strong
growth in recent years. In 2018 the brand achieved 74,512
registrations which represented a UK market share of 3.2%
and has enjoyed a 13.1% growth in the last five years. This
has been driven by significant product development,
parlicularly across the SUV segment, and this is expected to
increase further with the introduction of two new models in
2019. The brand is part of the Volkswagen Group which has
announced it will invest aimost €44 billion in electrification
and new mobility services. We are very proud to represent
the SKODA brand and wish to thank the SKODA UK
management tearn for their support over the years and look
forward to building on our excellent relationship. We would
also like to take this oppartunity to welcome all colleagues of
the acquired businesses to the Group,

Following these additions, the Group now consists of
106 franchises representing 23 brand partners trading in
27 counties nationwide. In addition, the Group operates five
trade parts specialists, three used car centres, five
standalone body shops and a pre-delivery inspection (PDI)
centre. The Group operates a balanced portfolio of volume,
premium and alternate premiumn brands including all of the
top five premium brands.

The Group’s diverse portfolio means it represents
manufacturer brands accounting for 81.4% of all new vehicle
sales in the UK. This scale and diversified spread of
representation helps mitigate the effect of the cyclical nature
of individual brand performancs.

investment in new retail locations and
major developments

The Group continues to invest in its retail sites and has
invested a total of £19.6m into its property portfofio during the
Year. Invastment in relocations and major rebuilds included:

*{Incoln Jaguar Land Rover this development brings
together Lincoln Jaguar and Lincoln Land Rover, previously
two separate leaseho!d sites, on one purpose-built freehold
site providing a significant increase in capacity for both
vehicle and aftermarket sales.

« Cambridge Ford this relocated our existing leasehold
showroom on Newmarket Road to a state-of-the-art Ford
Store on long leasehold property and provides a
significantly improved customer experience.

» Compiletion of a redevelopment of Bedford Land Rover,
an existing freehold site. This investment brings the site up

. to Jaguar Land Rover ‘arch’ concept standard.

Investment in existing businesses

In addition to large scale redevelopments, the Group
continues to invest in upgrading existing businesses to
enhanca the customer experience, satisfy brand requirements
and increase sales and aftersales capacities. In recent years,
the Group has invested significantly in its portfolio, with 84%
of the Group's facilities having benefited from investment in
the latest corporate identity or relocation. We expect this to
matanially reduce after 2019. Significant corporate identity
upgrades were completed at the following locations:

« Audi -~ Sydenham and Taunton

* Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles — Bridgwater and
Reading

» SKODA — Newbury and Reading

- SEAT — Cambridge, Leicester and Newbury

» Mercedas-Benz Commercial Vehicles — Croydon
* Honda — Harmogate, Hull, Leicester and Peterborough
» BMW — Salisbury and Scunthorpe

* Volve — Grantham and Leeds



Retail units
Fleet units

Total units

Total Units

STRATEGIC REPORT
Market and Business Update
New Vehicles

Variance
LFL

Total
(92%) (8
(19.4%) (7
(13.3%) (8.2%)

2017
31.801
21.507

53.308

2018
28.871
17.342

46,213

As has been widely reported, 2018 was challenging for the
new vehicle market. The SMMT recorded new vehicle
registrations of 2.37m in the Year, a decline of 6.8% vetsus
2017 (2.54m). A number of factors impacted the market:

+ Firstly, general economic uncertainty, inciuding the
negative impact of Brexit on consumer confidence.
Waeakness in Sterling also impacted new vehicle prices
and European manufaciurers’ focus on the UK market.

+ Secondly, the introduction of the Worldwide Light Vehicle
Tast Procedure (WL TP} which replaced the outgoing New
European Driving Cycle (NEDC) in September 2018,
significantly impacted the new vehicle market in 2018.
The introduction of the new procedure, during a peak
registration month, led to shortagss of supply and longer
lead times in certain brands and continued to impact the
industry for the remainder of 2018 and info 2019.

*» Thirdly, the current uncertainty of future government
policy in relation to diesel engines has led to a decline of
29.6% In total diesel registrations, taking its share to a
15 year low of 31.7%. This paricularly impacted the
premium segment which has historically offered a highear

Used Vehicles

Growth
Total LFL
{(21%) 2.3%

2018
43.302

2017
44 237

The SMMT reported further used vehicle market decline
of 2.1% in 2018 despite the used car market benefiting
from WLTP-ralated supply shortages in the new vehicle
market. In the context of an overall market decline, we
are therefore particulariy pleased to report continued
like-for-like growth in used vehicle unit sales. In addition
to increased unit sales, we also delivered a total gross
margin improvement of 36bps which we consider to be
an excellent performance.

The Group's strategy on used car sales Is to utilise
existing capacity within the current Greup portfolio to
maximise throughput on its existing footprint, therefore
mitigating the associated invastment in additional sites
and resource. We beliave this approach highlights the
resilience of the franchise modsl even during a time of
declining new vehicle sates.

As a resuit of the closures made in November 2017, total
used car unit sales declined by 2.1%. Like-for-like used unit
sales grew 2.3% and like-for-like used vehicle revenues
increased by 8.1%. This is a particularly strong performance
when compared with the overall market decline.

proportion of diess! vehicles, Manufacturers have heen
responding to changing consumer demand for petrol
engines by switching production through 2018 and we
expect to see this continue through 2019.

Against this market backdrop, during the Year, the Group's
like-for-like new retail unit sales declined by B.4% against
an overall UK new retail registration decline of 6.4%.
Like-for-like new revenues declined by 4.5%. Given the
Group's weighting towards premium brands which were
more affected by the decline in diesel, together with a
number of our key brands being more exposed to WLTP
supply shortages, we were pleased with this result.

Total unit sales to fleet customers declined by 18.4%. This
was largely driven by a commercial decision we look
during 2017 fo withdraw from certain low margin fieet
business. Excluding the impact of this and site closures,
like-for-like unit sales to fieet customers declined by 7.7%
versus an overall market decline of 7.2%.

Sales of new vehicles utilising personal contract purchase
("PCP"™) have stabilised at B1% during the Year (2017:
83%). At 31 December 2018, the Group had 69,429 active
PCPs which create a defined point of renewal/purchasef
replacement and we actively manage the renewal process
to ensure, where possible, customers are retained with the
Group.

Total new vehicle gross margins were flat versus 2017 at
7.2%, a pleasing performance in a challenging market.

The continued improvement in used volumes and
margins has been driven by the addition of our recently
enhanced in-house management information system,
Phoenix 2 as described earlier. This, along with a
continuation of our 56 day stocking policy which
encourages accelerated stock turn, leading to higher
sales volumes and reduced residual value risk,
contributed to the strong velume and margin perforrmance
during the Year.

There was further growth in the number of used vehicles
purchased using PCP products which have now become
& Key feature of the 3-6 year old used car market in which
the Group primarily operates. 63% of the Group's used
vehicles which were purchased on finance were
purchased using a PCP (2017: 58%). As in the new car
market, PCPs create a defined point of
renswalipurchasefreptacement and we actively manage
the renewal process to ensure, where possible,
customaers are retained by the Graup.

We heliave the racent popularity of used car PCPs
presents the Group with future opportunities for the sale
of older used cars given the event-driven nature of a
PCP.
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Revenue (Em)

STRATEGIC REPORT

Aftersales

Growth
2018 2017 Total LFL
246.1 243.1 1.3% 2.3%

Aftersales remains a key strategic focus of the Group,
providing revenue and profit assurance during a
challenging economic environment.  Cur strong
performance in recent years continted during the Year,
with 1otal revenue growth of 1.3% (2.3% like-for-like).
This growth has partiaily offset margin pressure (down
126bps versus 2017) as a result of reduced
pre-delivery inspection revenue caused by fewer new
vehicle sales and an increased proportion of lower
margin parts sales.

Market Qutlook

in 2018 the SMMT reported new vehicle registrations of
2.37m, down 6.8% versus 2017 and down 13.1% from
the peak year of 2016. The current SMMT forecast for
2019 predicts a further new car market decline of 2.3%
to 2.31m. Further declines are expected. in diesel
market share, with growth in registrations of aiternative
fuel vehicie registrations expected to continue.

The new vehicle market in 2019 may also be affected
by the implementation of WLTP for commercial
vehicles and changes to the Real Driving Emissions
Test in September.

In addition te our retail centre based aftersales
facilities, the Group operates five standalone
bodyshops, five trade parts centres and one PDI
centre. Aftersales contributes 44.0% of total retail gross
profit and therefore makes a significant financial
centribution to the Group which is important in the
context of a more cyclical new car market.

In order to drive customer retention, wé offer service
plans to customers of both new and used vebhicles
which allow custorners to plan and budget for service
costs. These plans are often included in the monthly
payment of a vehicle and are therefore very convenient
for customers. At 31 December 2018, the Group had
over 75,000 live service plans (2017: 77,000).

Finally, we are cognisant of the potential impact that
Brexit may have an both the wider UK ecanomy and
the automotive sector. At the date of this repart, the
terms of the UK's departure from the European Union
are not certain. However, we remain confident in our
brand partners’ commitment to the UK automotive retail
market {the second ‘argest in Europe) and their
collective abiiity to respond effectively to the potential
challenges that this situation may bring.

Summary

in a challenging economic environment and reduced new
and used vehicle market, the Group has delivered a
record continuing underlying PBT performance.

I am particutarly pleased with our used wvehicle
performance and continued growth in aftersales
revenues. These revenue streams provide resilience to
the business during more challenging periods of the
cyclical new car market, as demonstrated during the Year.

The Group has the benefit of a strong balance sheet with
a low level of nel debt which leaves it well placed to
respond to market changes and take advantage of
opportunities when they arise.

| am pleased that Richard Pamy-Jones, as Chairman, and
Richard Blumberger, as Chief Financial Officer, have
joined the Group and Board. | would also like to thank
Peter Johnson and Mark Raban for their significant
contributions to the Group since its IPO.

Finally, on behalf of the Board t would like to thank cur
colleagues, and our brand and business partners for their
hard work and support during what is now my 10th full
year with the Group. | look forward to continuing to work
togetherin 2019

Daksh
Chief Executive Officer
12 March 2019
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial Review

“Aresilient and cash
generative business”

Richard Blumberger
Chief Financial
Officer

Overview

| am dslighted to present the Group's 2018 annual
results, my first since appointment as Chief financial
Officer in January 2019.

The Group is focused on delivering long-term value for
our shareholders, our customers and our people. This
year's financial results show continued underying PBT
growth, strong margin, growth in earrnings per share
(“EPS"} and solid cash generation. The Group is in a
strong financial position with low leverage, a sirong
batance sheet and long-term committed financing
facilities. As a rasult of this, and our confidence in the
Group's long-term prospects, we have been able to
amend our dividend policy and increase our dividend.

This was another good year for the Group which again
demonstrated the strategic importance and resilience
of our business in a toughening market.

Following four years of strong growth since PO, wa
anticipated a challenging market in 2018. As such, our
focus for the Year was on our cost base and portfolio
management. In-line with this stratlegy, we closed a

L

number of syb-scale, loss-making sites in both 2017
and 2018.

We are, nevertheless, committed to targeting further
growth and in early 2019 we have further expanded our
portfolio in-line with our strategy to grow with existing
brand partners and extend cur geographic footprint,
and we racantly announced two acquisitions, adding 6
SKODA dealerships.

Our balance sheat remains robust, with minimal net
debt and we continue ta invest in our asset basae, with
a particular focus on freehold and long leasehold
property. Total capital expense of £23.8m was invested
during the Year, including £18.6m relating to
investments in freehold and long leasehold properties.

Notwithstanding that the year ahead may be uncertain
and we expect the difficult market backdrop to continuse,
the Group is in a strong position to continue its strategic
growth and market penetration.

Reported Financial Performance

2018 2017 Var%
Revenue 2,186.9 2,232.0 (2.0%)
Gross profit 25567 256B3 (1.0%)
Operating Expenses (223.6) (2254) 0.8%
Operating Profit 32.0 329 (2.6%)
Net finance costs (6.4) {75) 154%
PBT underlying 25.7 254 1.2%
Nan-underlying items (7.00 (12.8) 458%
PBT reportad 18.7 12.6 48.9%
Tax (4.8)  (3.1) (54.0%)
PAT reported 13.9 95 47.2%
Discontinued operations 0.6 39.8 (98.5%)
Profit for the year 14.5 49.3 (70.5%)

Due to 2017 site closures, reported revenue from
cantinuing operations was £2,186.9m compared with
£2,232.0m for 2017. The Group's operalting profit, on a
continuing basis, before non-underlying items, was
£32.0m compared to £32.9m in 2017. Continuing
underlying PBT in the Year was £25.7m compared to
£254min 2017.

Our reportad PBT of £18.7m (2017: £12.6m) included
one-off non-undearlying items of £7.0m (2017: £12.8m} as
set out on page 23 of this report.

Analysis of Reported Revenue and Gross Profit

The segmentai mix on a reported basis is shown in the
table below. Whilst the like-for-like analysis is covered later
in the report, the reported basis demonstrates the decline
in the new car market in 2018 and our strong performance
in the used car market despite the overall market decline.

Twelve maonths ended 31 December 2018

Revenue Gross Profit

£m mix* £m mix

New Car 1,064.8 47.7% 763 299%
Used Car 920.2 41.2% 668 26.1%
Aftersalas 2481 11.0% 1123 40%
Internal/QOther (44.3) - 0.3 -
Total 21869 100.0% 255.7 100.0%
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Twelve months ended 31 December 2017

Revenue Gross Profit

£m mix* £m mix

Now Car 1,166.5 51.2% 841 326%
Used Car 869.7 38.2% 59.9 23.2%
Aftersales 2431 10.6% 114.0 44.2%
InternaliOther (47.3) - 0.3 -
Total 22320 100.0% 258.3 100.0%

* mix caleylation excludes intemal / Other Sales

Finance Costs

Net finance costs decreased in the Year to £6.4m (2017:
£7 5m), reflecting the ongoing strengthening of the balance
sheet and focus on vehicle stock management.

Generating Sustainable Shareholder Value
Underlying profit befors tax was £25,7m (2017: £25.4m).

The total reported effective tax rate was 24.8%, (17.1%
on a continuing underlying basis). Profit from continuing
operations after tax was £21.3m (2017: £20.8m), giving
a basic continuing earnings per share of 27.4p, an
increase of 2% on the prior year.

Non-Underlying ltems

Non-underlying items are presented separately in the
income statement to provide an effective comparison of
performance. Non-underlying items in the Year are
summarised below:

2018 2017
2017 closure provision 3,282 (6,783)
Impairment of goodwill (9,302) -
2018 closure provisions/ :
other restructuring costs (943) -
Pension - (6,000)
Total (6,963) (12,783)
Profit on disposal of discontinued
business 589 36,851

We are pleased to report that all outstanding property
issues in retation to dealership closures announced in
Novembaer 2017 were resolved during 2018, ahead of our

initial timing and cost expectations, leading to a net
" non-underlying profit of £3.3m in the Year.

Foliowing our annual impaiment test, a charge of £9.3m
has been taken against our BMW/MINI and Nissan
goodwill values, which is detailed in the balance sheet
review section of this report.

Other restructuring costs of £0.9m are detailed in note 7
to the financial statements.

In addition, the Group recognised a further profit on the
disposal of our discontinued leasing segment of £0.6m
which related to the settlement of certain historic pension
liabilities at a reduced cost to that originally provided.

Like-for-Like Financial Performance

Basis of Comparatives

To enable effective comparison of our year-on-year
performance, underlying operating profit is shown on a
like-for-like basis. The full definition of an Altemative
Performance Measure can be found in Note 2 to the
financial statements. ' )

Like-for-like 2018 2097 Var%
Revenue 21346 21089 12%
Gross Profit 2505 2511 (0.3%)
GP% 11.7% 11.9% (17 bps)
Expenses {216.4) (21686) 0.1%
Operating Profit 341 34.6 (1.4%)

Like-for-Like Segmental Analysis
Twelve months ended 31 December 2018

Revenue Gross Profit

£m mix* £m mix

New Car 1.0454 48.0% 750 30.0%
Used Car 8931 41.0% 654 261%
Aftersales 240.5 11.0% 1098 43.9%
Internal/Other {44.3) - 0.3 -
Total 21346 100.0% 2505 100.0%

Twelve months ended 31 December 2017

Revenue Gross Profit

£m mix* £m mix

New Car 1,094.8 508% 823 328%
Used Car 826.5 38.3% 579 23.1%
Aftersales 2349 109% 1107 441%
InternalOther (47.3) - 03 -
Total 21089 100.0% 2511 100.0%
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Life-for-like Revenue

Life-for-like Operating Expenses

£2,134.6m (up 1.2%)

£216.4m (down 0.1%)
(2017: £216.6m)

(2017: £2,108.9m)

Like-for-like revenue was £2,134.6m {2017:
£2.108.9m), a 1.2% growth in a year which saw the new
car market declining by 6.8% and the used car market
declining by 2.1%.

Like-for-like naw retail units, one of our Key Performance
Indicators (KPl), declined 8.4% in a year in which the new
retail market declined 6.4%. Like-for-like fleet units
declined by 7.7% against a market decline of 7.2%. As
expected, these were impacted by WLTP and issues
surrounding diesel-fuelled engines which had a
disproportionate effect an our portfolio. As a result of an
increase in the average revenus per unit, like-for-like new
revenue only declined by 4.6%.

Our used car business performed very well with
like-for-like unit sates up 2.3% year on year against a
used car market decline of 2.1%. Used unit sales is a KPI
and continued to be a key area of focus. Strong facus on
margin and mix meant the 2.3% unit increase translated
inte an 8.1% revenue increase.

Aftersales revenue had another strong year with like-for-
like revenues up 2.3%. the fourth consecutive year of
growth.

Life-for-like Graoss Profit

£250.5m (down 0.3%)
(2017: £251.1m)

Like-for-like gross profit at £250.5m (2017: £25%.1m) was
consistent year on year, with margins remaining strong
at 11.7% compared to 11.9% in 2017.

New vehicle margins were slightly down in the year at
7.2% (2017: 7.8%) which we consider a good resultin a
challenging market.

QOur used vehicle margin at 7.3% was up by 32bps driven
by our technology-ted approach in our used car sales
process and further reflacts our strategic focus on tha
used car market. The combination of revenue and
volume growth led to a total gross profit improvement of
£7.5m on used vehicles.

Like-for-like aftersales margin was 45.7% compared to
47.1% last year. This was as a result of reduced
pre-delivery inspection revenue caused by fewer new
vehicle sales and an increased proportion of lower
margin parts sales.

Despite cost pressures continuing to impact the overall
sector, like-for-like expenses were marginally down
£216.4m (2017: £216.6m). This was strong performance
given the significant cost headwinds experienced. The
Group placed particular focus on discretionary costs both
in qur central cost base as well as at dealership level,
including marketing effectiveness, demonstrator vehicle
costs and stocking costs.

Life-for-like Operating Profit

£34.1m ‘(down 1.4%)
(2017: £34.6m)

Given the factors referred to above, like-for-ike operating
profit at £34.1m {2017: £34.6m), whilst slightty down on
2017, is a good example of the resilience shown in a
difficuit market, allowing our operating margins 10 be
consistent at 1.6% year on year.
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Shareholder Returns

Full year dividend per share
8.54p (up 33.4%)
(2017: 6.40p)

The Group has a strong track record of delivering growth
in our financial results and growing retums to our
shareholders as a result is an important part of our
strategy. As mentioned earlier, we have amended our
dividend policy and as such, the final dividend
recommended by the Board is 6.39p per share, giving a
full year dividend of 8.54p and cover of 3.2x underlying
earings per share (2017: 4.2x). This year’s dividend to
shareholders and change in dividend policy, demonstrates
the Group’s strong financiaf position and our confidence in
its long-term prospects and represents growth of 33.4%.

During the Year, total dividends of £5.0m were paid to
shareholders.

ROCE

Return on capital employed {ROCE) for the Year was
12.8% (2017: 13.3%). ROCE is calculated as underlying
profit before tax divided by total equity.

The Group has ongoing capital expenditure requirements
and will continue to pursue organic and acquisitive
growth cpportunities. This may also include further
freehold invesiments in preference to leasehold liabilities
which can have a short-tarm impact on ROCE as it did in
2018 with our capital programme.

Balance Sheet

There is ng material difference between the reported
and the like-for-like balance sheet so Unless otherwise
slated, the remalinder of the financiat review is on an
as reported basis.

£m 2018 2017
Intangintle 112.2 121.6
Freehold/long leasehold 125.3 116.3
Other retail assets 30.5 26.1
Other 26 26
Fixed assets 270.5 266.7
Inventory 384.0 401.3
Trade / other receivables 79.7 92.1
Cash & equivalents 12 4.9
Assets held for sale 08 08
Current assots 465.7 499.0
Vehicle funding {370.8) (380.6)
Trade / other payables (128.6) (151.3)
Bank / other debt (6.3) (7.1}
Other liabilities {30.1) {35.5)
Total ljabilities {535.8) {574.5)
Net assets 200.4 191.2
Reported net debt (Em) (5.1) (2.2}

Intangibles

Each year we test the carrying value of goodwill and other
intangible assets for impairment. For the year ended
31 December 2018, we have applied a more cautious
assessment on the market outlock for our BMW and
Nissan CGUs and as a rasult, recognised an impaiment
of £9.3m of goodwill. Further details are set out in Note
15 to the financial statements.

There were no additions to gocdwill and intangibles in the
Year with the only movement being the amortisation of
previous acquisitions.

Freehold / Long Leasehold

The Group's property portfolio is a key strength of the
business. Our capital programme continues, with a
further £23.8m of capital expenditure invested in the Year
including the new builds of Lincoln Jaguar Land Rover
and Cambridge Ford Stare, the major redevelopment of
Bedford Land Raover and further investment across a
number of our brands. This brings our cumulative
expenditure to £76.4m over the last three years, of which
£63.1m has been invested in freehold and long leasehold
properties. The net book value of tha Group's property,
plant and equipment at 31 December 2018 was
£155.8m, of which £125.3m (80.4%) related to freehold
and long leasehold property.

Strong Working Capital Management

Working capital management is a key focus for the Group
with a strong result in inventory and debtor management
in the Year.

Inventory, net of provisions, at £384.0m reduced year on
year by 4.3% with a strong focus on stock profiling. As at
31 December 2018, the value of vehictes held under
vehicle financing arrangements was £370.8m (2017:
E£380.6m).

A reduction of 13.5% in our trade and other receivables
was reflective of the strong focus placed on warking
capital management at ali lavels of the business.

Overall the Group had reported net asseis as at
31 Decernber 2018 of £200.4m (2017; £191.8m), which
equates to £2.57 per share (2017; £2.47).

Good Cash Conversion

Operating cash flow conversion (defined as cash flow
genarated by operations divided by continuing operations
operating profit before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation), is key to allowing us to maintain our
investment programme. During the Year, cash inflows
from operations were £36.5m (2017 EB69.6m}),
representing a cash conversion of 88.2% {(2017:
150.0%). Our cash conversion has been consistently
strong, reflecting our focus on working capital
management over recent years,
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Net Debt and Facilities

As at 31 December 2018, net debt was £5.1m (2017:
£2.2m). Our current facilities include a £120m revolving
credit facility which is in place until June 2021, Our interest
rale is LIBOR plus 1.2% to 2.0%, dependant on the
leverage level. We remain comfortably within each of our
banking covenants.

Tax

The Group manages all taxes, both direct and indirect ta
ensure that it pays the appropriate amount of tax. Qur tax
strategy is reviewed regularly and approved by the Board.

The Group's tax charge for the Year (before
non-underlying items) was £4.4m (2017: £5.3m) giving an
effective tax rate of 17.1% (2017: 18.1%)}. The effective
tax rate was posilively impacted by a review of historic
capital allowance claims. Excluding the impact of these,
the underlying effective tax rate would have been 21.6%.
After adjusting for non-underlying items, the total tax
charge was £4.8m (2017 £3.8m) giving an effective tax
rate of 24.8% (2017: 7.1%).

Full details of the Group's tax governance framework can
be found in the Group's tax strategy which is available on
the Group's website.

IFRS$16

The Group is finalising its impact assessment of the
accounting standard IFRS16 which is mandatory for
accounting periods starting 1 January 2319, The standard
has no economic impact on the Group or on our cash
flows. It does, however, have an impact on the way the
assets, liabilities and the income statement of the Group
are presented, as well as the classification of cash flows
relating o lease contracls.

Bue to the profile of our current operating lease portfolio,
it is anticipated that the impact of IFRS16 is likely to be
rmarginally earnings dilutive in the early years of adoption,
with an initial 1%-2% impact on profit befare tax. In
addition, if the balance sheet at 31 December 2018 had
been restated, we estimate ¢£86.0m of right-of-use
assets and ¢£92 5m of asscciated liabilities, would have
been recognised in the Group's balance sheet, resulting
in a c£6.5m decline in net assets.

Pensions

During the year, the Group ceased to be a participating
employer in the Marshall Group Executive Plan {‘Plan"}
following a strategic decision taken in 2017 to crystallise
and pay the Group's residual liability to this historic
defined benefit pension scheme. The aggregate amount
paid by the Group to exit the Plan was in-line with the
provision of £6.0m taken in last year's accounts and was
paid to the Trustees in February 2019. As a resuit, the
Group no longer has any further obligations in relation to
any defined benefit pension schemes.

—
-

'ﬁ;ard Blumberger

Chief Financial Officer
12 March 2019
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group faces a range of risks and uncertainties. The processes that the Board has established to safeguard both
shareholder value and the assets of the Group are described in the Corporate Govemnance report.

Set out helow are the principal risks and uncertainties the Directors believe could have the most significant adverse
impact on the Group's business, together with the principal controls in place to mitigate those risks. The risk trend
column indicates the Board's view on whather, from a Group parspective taking Into account mitigating actions, these
risks have increased, remained relatively stable or decreased over the past 12 months. The risks and uncertainties
described below are naot intanded to be an axhaustive list.

STRATEGY
AND
BUSINESS

RELATIONSHIPS

ECONOMIC

AND,
POLITICALS

L1 Marshall

= Motor Holdings plc

Principal Risks
and Uncertainties

ENVIRONMENTAL
[AND]
HEALTHIETS ARE T
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Risk Area Potential Impact Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend
STRATEGY AND BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS
Failure to adoptthe  'The Group misses its financial Annual strategy review by the Board [ ]
right business targets or is unable to invest in Monthly reporting and monitoring of key financial ]
strategy and/or - its businesses : .
p information and performance
failure to implemont L .
strategy Reduction in confidence of key  petailed business planning and due diligence prior to
successfully stakeholders (shareholders, potential acquisitions
brand partners, tenders, R . )
employees) . Review of capital expenditure plans to ensure our-
retum on capital objectives are achievable
Poor investment decisions/ . - .
failure to achieve targeted Capital investment appraisal process with Board
investrnent returns review of major investrments
Diversity of franchises mitigates the cyclicat nature
cf, and an over reliance on individual vehicle brands
Focus on efficient use of working capital
Manufacturer Failure, or downtum in Ongoing portfolio management focused on I
Relatlonships performance, of manufacturer strengthening key franchise relationships/divestment . R
' pariners impacting vehicle sales of non-core businesses
:gg &f;gl:b"lw of those Diverse franchise representation avoids over reliance
on any single manufacturer
Fg&u;eat:ugzntzrnsg;oicrg?hons Ciese contact and regular review with manufacturers
:‘: venue and uroﬁ!atlzilip 9 (through CEQ, Operations, Commercial and
and p ty Franchise Directors) to ensure our respective goals
Loss of a franchise leading to a are communicated, understood and aligned
reduction in revenue and
profitability and the risk of vacant
properties andfor onerous leases
Poor manufacturer relationships
Impacting acquisition and/or
growth opportunities
Fallure to integrate: Loss of key personnel/customers  Detailed busines_s pianning and due diligence on
:zg::ssl::‘ rl'ls' Brand partner relationship potential acquisitions
y damage - Integration plan developed prior to acquisition and
Reducad financial performance implemented in a timely manner tT'uereaﬂer
of acquired businesses Group-wids single dealar managament platform and
. " Phoenix management system implemented
Failure o achieve targeted ; » e
synergies Immediately ‘aﬂar acqulsmon_ .
Damage to manufacturer and/for implementation of Group poficies and procedures.
customer relationships Intermal Audit verification of successful
implementation of Group processes post-acquisition
Dlsi"upllon to Alternative business models Ongoing development of customer experience to ]
franchise business impacting franchised daaler . ensure the Group maintains a compelitive advantage IS
model model, IT developments to maintain competiive advantage
Direct sales channels (e.g. development of website/Phoenix managemant
circumventing franchised dealers  system)
Revenues and profits may fali Maintaining close relationships with manufacturer -
due to competitor action partners to ensure each party's mutual aims are
‘Mobility as a service' leadingto  2chieved
reduced private vehicle . Partnering with brands who are responding
ownership - effectively to the cleaner technology agenda
Electric and alternative fuel Connected car technology reinforces link between
vehicles leading to a decline’in customers and manufacturers through franchised
salas for traditional vehicle dealers .
manufacturers and/or reduced .
demand for aftersales services Annuat strategy review




STRATEGIC REPORT

Risk Area Potential Impact Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend

[ CEEE AP FRUNRAG |
Datarioration in Inzreased inflation and falling consumer  Monitoring of economic conditions with appropriate -
economic conditions/ confidence leading to lower vehicle actions

consumer confidente  sates/margins and a reduction in

revenue and profitability

Reduction in used vehicle values
impacting stock values

Weakening Sterling impacting new
vehicle prices and sales

Manufacturers' focus on the UK
autcmotive retail market rnay decine
leading to reduced output and sales

Interast rata rises impacting availability
and afordability of vahide finance

Incraased casts of servicing the
Group's borrowings

Negative impact en UK economy:
increased inflation and falling consurmer
cenfidence leading o lower vehicie
sales/margins and a reduction in
vavanue and profitability

Reduction in used vehicie valuas
impacting stock values
Weakening $terling impacting new
vahicle prices and sales

Manhufacturers' focus on the UK
automotiva retail market may decline
teading to reduced oulput and sales

Potential regulatory changes may
impact franchising model in the UK
(including potential changes to KU
Block Examplions)

‘No Deal’ Brexit significantly more
negaltive for automotive retail sector
than a managed exit with a UK-EU free
trada deal

UK's withdrawal from
the European Union
{'Brexit’)

Increased Operating
Costs

Increased operating and non-
controfiable ¢costs (a.g. smployment
costs, Apprentice Levy, business rate
changes, T and marketing costs)
impacting profitability

Stock management & monitaring (56 day stocking
policy) with appropriately prudent financial provisions

Maintaining close relationships with manufacturers
Low tevel of net debt with faciity headroom

Monitoring of economic conditions with appropriate
actions taken

Impact of a deterioration in consurmer confidence
mitigated by PCP renewal cycle (primarily In new car
market)

Stock management and monitoring (56 day stocking
policy) with approprately prudent financial provisions 1o
mitigate impact of falfing vehicle values

Maintaining close relationsttip with manufacturers and
monitoring of manufacturers’ Brexit preparations

The Group is not a direct imponter of vehictes and parts
frorn the EU; Extent of supply disruptions to the Group
and its custorners in 2 'No Deal Brexit scenario will
depend on manufacturars’ abllity to manage import
challenges

Diversity of the Group's portfolio of brand partners which
includes UK, EU and ROW manufacturers

Increased costs monttared and forecast in budgets.

Caosl reduction and efficiency initiatives to offset
structural cost increases

FINANCE AND TREASURY

Liquidity & credit Credit availability/withdrawal of financing
faciliies impacting trading ability

Breach of covenants or inabllity to meet
debt obligations

Increased stock funding costs

Fluctuations in used vehicle values
adversely impacting the value of the
Group’s vehicle inventory

Vahicle residual values
volatility

Working capital management & cash flow monitoring SRR }
Compnitted RCF and vehicle stocking facilitias |

Maintaining strong relationships wilh fundars

Low leve) of net debt

Stock management & monitoring (56 day stocking [ ]

policy) [ ]

Risk reduced following disposal of Marshall Leasing
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Risk Area Potential Impact Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend
[ BEA®EEMMAER . . o . . i, sl b L, T S
Legal & Ragulatory Non-compliance with key legal and Group policles and procadures to minimise risk of [ ]
Changes and regulatory codes (FCA, VOSA, ICO, non-compliance r—
Compliance atc.} leading to fines, ltigation, »
sutherisation suspension and/ar Tratning and development of employees
raputational damage : Compliance committess to monitor compliance

Regulatory intervention into the markal  Compliance Team strengthened
{a.g. FCA motor finance review) may
impact operations Internal Audit departiment strengthaned

Monitoring of regulatory announcements/market
studias to assass potential changes and modifying
operations to adapt to any implemented changes

[ ENVIRONMENTAWANDIHEALT HE SAFE 1374 J
Environmental and Failure to ensure colleagues and  Group health & safety poficies and procedures to [ ]
Health & Safaty customers safe places of work promota safe places of work [

leading to accidents, litigation, : )
fines and regulatory intervention EH&S audit programme a Group

Regular inspection of plant and ipment
Nen-compliance with € Pe P equipm

environmental laws & Health & Safety team monitors compliance and
regulations leading to fines, promotes a health and safety helps culture

penalties and compensation and  Standing agenda item on main board and
clean-up costs and disruption to  gperational board

qperations
Waste management procedures and employee

training
Environmental due diligence for new site acquisitions

with appropriate environmental insurance in place for
higher risk sites

ROl EER[SECURITY,

Failure of kay IT Loss of key information systems,  In-house IT tearm monitors systems and implements TR
systams downtime and business upgrade programmes T
interruption

Contingency and disaster recovery plans in place

IT steering committea and IT risk register maintained
to monitor risk

Ongoing investment in IT infrastructure maintenance
and upgrade

Cyber Security Potential to corrupt, affect or Unified threat management - Firewall installed

destroy key systems and data Clear protocols/policies in place regarding use and

email, DMS & customer ,
Seoords), denial of service access 1o the Group’s IT systems

attacks and business interruption  Anti-virus software installed on all computers to

leading to lost revenue reduce risk of viral infections
Further investment in cyber security and systems
resilience
PEOPLE _
Failure to attract, Loss of key personnel and Appropriate remuneration packages which reward
devalop, motivate skilled workers (e.g. technicians}  performance and long term incentive plans for seniar
and retaln kay impacting operational employees
employees performance, and relationships Guarantesd eamin
: gs scheme for new sales staff to
:l:lgpll(igsbrand partners and assist recruitment and retention

Promotion of “Great Place to Work™ culture
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Board of Directors
s/, T

1. Professor Richard Parry-Jones CBE

Non-Executiva Chairman and Chalr of the NomInations Committee

Richard has had a long and distinguished career in the automotive industry. He spent over 30 years in senior executive
positions at Ford Motor Company, including Group Vice President of Global Praduct Development and served as its Chief
Technical Officer for 10 years.

Richard's non-executive career has included positions working with the Government as Co-Chair of the UK Automotive Council
and in infrastructure sectors as Chairman of Network Rail and Chaiman of Kelda Group Holdings and Yorkshire Water. He
also served for 10 years as a non-executive director of GKN plc, a global feader in automotive and aerospace systems,
inciuding the role of senior independent director. Richard's other current roles include Visiting Professor at Loughborough
University and Chairman of the Faraday Challenge Advisory Board.

Richard joined the Board as Non-Executive Chairman in January 2019.

2. Daksh Gupta

Chief Executive Offlcer

Daksh has over 26 years' experience in the automotive retail sector and joined the Company in 2008 as its Chief Executive Officer.
Daksh was a franchise director for Inchcaps for seven years where he was responsible for the Volkswagen, Audi and Mercedes-Benz
brands. Daksh also served as Chief Operating Officer of Accident Exchange Group ple and prior to joining the Group, was Group
Managing Director for Ridgeway Group. Daksh was a director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited untit 2 Agril 2015 and is
vice president of the UK automaotive industry charity, BEN.

3. Richard Blumberger FCMA

Chief Financlal Officer

Richard has a wealth of experience gained from senior finance roles with major UK public companies, Before jeining Marshall,
Richard was Director of Group Finance at Mitie pic and previously held senior finance roles at Engie {formerly GDF Susez) and
Balfour Beatty ple. He has a strong understanding of multi-site businesses and a track record of strategic planning, profit
enhancernent angd extensive M&A experience.

Richard was appointed to the Board as Chief Financial Cfficer in January 2019.

4. Alan Ferguson

Senlor Independent Director and Chair of the Audit Committee

Alan is a non-executive director of Johnson Matthey plc, Croda intemational pic and AngloGold Ashanti Lirited. He chairs the
audit committees and is the senior independent director of both Johnson Matthey Plc and Croda Intemational plc. Alan was chief
financial officer and a director of Lonmin ple until December 2010, prior 1o which he was group finance director of the BOC Group
plc. Alan spent 22 years in a vaniety of roles at inchcape ple, including six years as its group finance director from 1999. Alan is a
chartered accountant and sits on the Business Policy Panel of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.

Alan was appointed to the Board in March 2015.
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5. Sarah Dickins

Non-Executive Director and Chalr of the Remuneration Committee

Sarah has over 20 years' HR experience across a broad range of sectors including retail, utilities and financial services. She spent
16 years at Asda, five of those years as an operating board member responsible for pecple operations and customer service for
150,000 colleagues. Sarah joined Provident Financia! Graup in 2012 as Executive Peaple Director before becoming Group Pecple
Director at Bourne Leisure Limited in 2015.

Sarah was appainted to the Board in March 2015.

6. Kathy Jenkins

Non-Executive Director

Kathy joined Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited in Aprit 2017 as Group HR Director. Before joining Marshall, Kathy spent 14
years at Thales plc where she held a number of senior executive positions. She has also worked with Marcani plc.

Kathy was appointed to the Board in May 2018 as a nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited.

7. Christopher Walkinshaw

Non-Executive Director

Christopher joined Marshall of Cambridge (Hcldings) Limited in 1983 and has warked in all of the principal Marshall businesses,
including Marshall Aerospace, Marshall Land Systems and, from 1934 to 2011, Marshall Motor Heldings. Christopher joined the
senior team in Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Ltd in 2011 and has responsibility for external relations and communications.
Christopher is Chairman of the Regional Employers Engagement Group for the East Anglian Reserve Forces' and Cadets’
Association, Chairman of No. 104 (City of Cambridge) Squadron Air Cadets, a director of the Cambridgeshire Chambers of
Commerce, a Trustee of the Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust and a Member of Anglian Leaming.

Christepher was appointed to the Board in July 2016 as a nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited.

8. Francesca Ecsery

Non-Executive Director

Francesca has aver 20 years' directorship experience in both biue chip companies and start-ups in the digital, retail, fast-maoving
consumer goods (FMCG) and leisure industries. She is a Harvard MBA, fluent in five languages and has special expertise in
multi-platform consumer marketing, branding and commercial strategies. Francesca is currently a non-executive director of listed
companies F&C Investment Trust plc and Share plc and was appointed as a nan-executive director of Ait France in May 2018.
She was previously a non-executive director of Good Energy Group pic untii December 2017. Her previous executive experience
includes McKinsey, Pepsi Co, ThamEMI, Thomas Cook, STA Travel and many other consumer brands.

Francesca was appointed to the Board in March 2015.

9. Stephen Jones

Company Secretary

Stephen is a practising Solicitor and spent eight years as a corporate lawyer at Eversheds LLP. He afso spent eight years as Group
Counsel and Company Secretary at Autornotive and Insurance Solutions Group ple.

Stephen joined the Company in March 2015.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Annual Report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and
Independent Augitor's Repont, for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the "Year”). -

Principal Activities . .
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings is
the sale and servicing of passenger cars and commercial vehicle and associated activities.

Results and Dividends
The results for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Cormprehensive Income. The Directors recommend

the payment of a final dividend of 6.39p per ordinary share to be paid on 24 May 2019 to shareholders who are on the
Company's register at close of business on 28 April 2019.

Business Review and Future Developments
The review of the business and likely future developments is included within the Strategic Report. This also includes details
of acquisiions, disposals and growth plans for the future.

Going Concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reascnable expectation that the Group has adequate rescurces
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least one year from the date of these financial
statements. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of these financial

statements.

Directors
Details of the current directors are set out on pages 32 to 33. The directors who served during the Year and subsequently

are detailed bhalow.

Current Directors ~ Non-Executive Directors
Richard Pamy-Jones {Appointed 1 January 2018)
Alan Ferguson

Sarah Dickins

Francesca Ecsery

Kathy Jenkins (Appointed 23 May 2018)
Christopher Walkinshaw

Executive Direclors
Daksh Gupta
Richard Blumberger (Appointed 2 January 2019)

Other Directors who he!d office during the Year
Peter Johnson (Resigned 31 December 2018)
Christophar Sawyer (Resigned 23 May 2018)
Mark Raban (Rasigned 2 January 2019)

In accordance with the Articles of Assaciation of the Company adopted on 12 March 2015 {the “Articles™), having been
appointed since the date of the tast annua! general meeting of the Company, Richard Parry-Jones, Kathy Jenkins and
Richard Blumberger wifl each retire by rotation and each offers themselves for reappointment at the annual general meeting
to be held on 21 May 2019 (the "AGM").

The interests of the Directors and their immediate families in the share capital of the Company, along with details of
Directors share options and awards, are contained in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 53 to 60,

Share Capital

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company, together with the delails of shares issued during the Year are
shown in Note 28 to the financial statements. The issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2018 was
77,865,653 ordinary shares of 64p each.
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Substantial Shareholdings
As at 11 March 2019, the Company had been notified of interests in excess of 3 per cent in the Company's share capital
by the foilowing shareholders:

Percentage of Existing

Name Number of Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares Held
Marshall of Cambridge (Heldings) Limited 50,390,625 64.72%
Union investments and Devetopment Limited 7.005,839 9.00%
Polar Capital LLP 3,087,900 397%

Share Option Schemes
Details of employee share option schemes are set out in the Remuneration Committee Report and in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial staternents.

Charitable and Paolitical Donations
During the Year, the Group made the following charitable donations during the year: £8,000 (2017: £14,000).

Nao political contributions were made during the Year (2017: £nil).

Disabled Employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidate’s particular
aptitude and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to
disabled employees far training, career development and promotion. Where existing employees become disabled, it is
the Group's policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable in the same or an alternative position and to
provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.

Employee Involvement

During the Year the policy of providing employees with infermation about the Group has been continued through the
newsletters ‘Marshall Matters’ and ‘Compliance Matters', team briefings and through our globat email network. Regular
meetings are held between local management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas. We also
participate in the Great Place to Work Institute’s employee engagement programme. Further details are set out in the
Corporate Social Responsibility Section of this Annual Repart.

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption policy, the aim of which is to ensure that colleagues understand
their obligations under anti-bribery legislation and includes authorisation and disclosure procedures around the provision
and receipt of corporate hospitality and gifts.

Disclosure of Information to Auditor
In so far as each of the persons who were Directors at the date of approving these financial statements is aware:

« There is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

+ Each directar has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that.

Auditor
A resolution to appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditor will be put to the members at the AGM.

AGM
Notice of the AGM to be held on 21 May 2018 will be sent to shareholders with a copy of this Annual Report and will be
made available on the Group's website at www.mmhplc.com.

By order of the Board

Stephen Jones
Company Secretary
12 March 2019
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Corporate and Social Responsibility

Community

Siriving to have a positive impact on
lhe communities in which we serve

MARSHALL MAKING A DIFFERENCE

Our values are incredibly important to us as they
determine how we should all behave. We encourage
colleagues to help us make a difference and stand out
from the crowd.

Whilst our focus is on creating an environment whare
colleagues enjoy coming to work and help us to meet our
business objectives, we also believe it is important to give
back to our communities and the environment in which we
live.

Group Giving

We have been actively involved in supporting and raising
awareness for the Molor and Allied Trades Benevolent
Fund ('BEN'} — since 1984. BEN is the UK’s dedicated
charity for those who work, or have worked, in the
automotive and related industries, as well as their
dependants. In that time, we have raised over £800,000
which includes the generous donations our colleagues
make via payroll giving.

CEQ, Daksh Gupta, bacame a trustee and Vice President
of BEN in October 2012,

For the third year running we have run ‘BEN Week’ where
every Marshall business did something to raise monay and
awareness for this charity. Colleagues dressed up, took
part in sporting challenges and other fun activities during
this awareness week. This was a tremendous team
building apportunity for colleagues, creating camaraderie
among each other as well as with our customers.

We have also supported Hats on 4 Mental Health for the
past two years. BEN launched this initiative to help raise
awareness of the mental health issues which people face
evary day. We are committed to helping our colleagues
understand the importance of looking after their mental
health and provide various sources of support should they
nead it.

We have supported the Macmillan Coffee Mornings for
many years which anables our businesses to get involved
at a local leve!, bringing colleagues and customers
together. We have raised over £116,000 for Macmillan
over this period.

Create Camaraderie

We also support national initiatives such as Red Nose
Day, Childran in Need, Wear it Pink for Breast Cancer and
Christmas Jumper Day for Save the Children. Each
dealership determinas how they are going to support
these events. This generally involves having a lot of fun
and getting customners involved. For example, coming 1o
work in fancy dress or taking part in a daring challenge
such as head shaving or sitting in a bath of baked beans.

" Local Giving

We encourage our colleagues to get involved with_local
causas which support the communities in which they work.
By way of example, a smali tearr of colleagues from head
office siept rough for a night to raise money and
awareness for the homeless charity Centrepoint raising
over £12,000

‘Services in the Community' is one of the categories
recognised as part of our Marshall Achievement, Values
and Teamwork Awards.

Whilst supporting BEN remains close to our hearts, giving
colleagues the opportunity to get involved with other good
causes is equally important.
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GOVERNANCE

Colleagues
Comimilled to altraciing, developing and

retaining the besi talentio help drive our
business forward in ling with our values

MARSHALL PEOPLE

Qur Values

We seek to ensure our values are at the forefront of
everything we do. We encourage colleagues to uphold
these values and behave in a way that brings them to life
and suppaorts our culture of being a great place to work,
delivaring first class customer sarvice.

Recruiting, retaining and developing our people

We have a clear Colleague Value Proposition to attract
the best talent and support our strategy to be an
employmant destination. We use a range of toois and
assessment methods to ensure we recruit people who
can geliver their objectives in line with our values and
business strategy.

Every new colleague experiences a therough induction
programme which incorporates our history, values, aims
and objectives as well as a structured programme of
training and coaching refevant to their role, the brand and
the team.

Our dedicated téam of HR professionals support the
business, aided by policies and practices to ensure we
pravide the best support, benefits and career
opportunitias to our colleaguss.

Qur bespoke Marshall Learning & Development
Academy provides opportunities for our colleagues to
realise their potential and support their development to
ensure they have a fulfilling career with us.

in addition, all new Sales Executives attend our
residential Sales Orientation Programme before starting
in their dealership. This is a rounded programme which
not only includes the technicalities of the role but
culturally what our customers should experience when
they interact with us. This programme has significantly
reduced our sales executive turnover since launching in
June 2016.

Recognising our people

Qur recognition programmes are designed 1o support our
colleague ergagement agenda. These programmes
include Apprentice of the Year Awards, Long Service
Events and awards for demonstraling our values.

Our MAVTA programme (Marshall Achievement, Values
and Teamwaork Awards) recognises cclleagues who
demonstrate outstanding achievements in Customer
Service, Teamwork, Innovation, Leadership, Servicas in
the  Community, Business Excellence  and
Environmental.

Communicating with our people

We believe communication is the key to maintaining
colleague engagement and our employment brand. We
have an ethos of transparency and sharing news on a
regular basis including CEO communications, weekly
bullstins, our Colleague magazine, intranet and regular
team meetings. '

Diversity and our peaple

Woe are committed to encouraging diversity and ensuring
that discrimination has no place in our business. We
want every colisague to fee! respacted and able to
peiform to the best of thair ability. We do not make
assumptions about a person’s ability to carry out his or
her duties based on ethnic origin, gender, sexual
orientation, marital status, religion or other philosophical
beliefs, age or disability.

We expect ali our colleagues to act with integrity and
behave ethically in everything they do. To reinforce this,
we have the Marshall Code of Conduct which is
supported by an online programme which forms part of
every new colleague's induction.

Engaging our pecople

Our employment pelicies and practices are consistent
with our values and culture, hefping us to achieve our
business objectives through engaged paaple.

Since 2008 we have worked with the Great Piace to
Work Institute’s Best Workplaces programme. This has
given us the opportunity to seek feadback from our
colleagues each vear to measure levels of engagrment
and drive continuous improvement.

Since 2010 we have achiaved survey scores ahead of
the 70% UK benchmark which determines a great place
to work, In 2017 we achieved an overall score of 79%
with a paricipation rate of 80%. In April 2018 we were
proud to be ranked as a Best Large UK Workplace for
the fourth year in succession.

ui

Best Workplaces™

MARSHALL MOTOR
HOLDINGS PLC

LapGLCATECON

{ALL MOTOR
WOINGS
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Health & Safety
Making Healih & Safely an

mntegral part of Marshall's day
o day operation

MARSHALL EMBRACING SAFETY

In 2018, we continued to increase the visibility of cur Health,
Safety & Environmaental (HSE) team across the businass.
Targeted communications and visits to sites enable us to
adopt a consistent approach to health and safety for all
activities across our business.

Our HSE team aims to provide support and direction fo all
sites by continually reviewing and improving our policies
and procedures, supporting and advising managers to
assist them in fulfilling their H&S responsibilities.

The team also provide access to first aider, fire warden and
risk assessor training.

Quir first aiders and fire wardens are al! volunteers who
undertake these roles in addition to their usual duties,
Monthly checks of first aid boxes, firefighting equipment and

emergency lighting, as well as weekly fire alarm tests are
just some of the additional tasks these colleagues
undertake an our behalf.

In addition, each of our sites has a trained risk assessor
who is responsible for ensuring that the site specific risk
assessments remain relevant and up to date for their site.

The HSE team also monitor, report and invastigate all
incidents and where trends are identified an HSE Alert is
created and shared with all colleagues.

Planned preventive maintenance is organised by the HSE
team, working in conjunction with our business
management teams and cur approved contractors to
ensure all relevant inspections and any identified remedial
work is undertaken on time and certificated evidenca is
available.

We track our Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) on a monthly
and annual basis. The AFR is the measure of the number
of accidents per Tm hours worked. The Motor Industry AFR
average is currently 14.2 (taken from HSE document ‘Injury
fraquency rates’). Our AFR for 2018 was 8.67.

Environmental
Embracing o environmental

responsibilities

MARSHALL GOING GREEN

In 2018, our environmental focus has sharpened following
the amival of our new Environmental Co-ordinator, who has
been working on increasing awareness across the business.

We have engaged with our colleagues to reinvigorate
Marshalt LEAF (Lowering Energy to Aid the Future) which
aims to lower the impact we have on the environment, by
holding a competition for children related to our colleagues
to create posters on saving energy and designing a new
logo or slogan.

This initiative complements our obligations to repart under
Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (ESQOS) which is
designed to iead to greater energy efliciency, cost savings
and carbon reduction.

We use the information from the ESOS survaeys when
developing our new dealerships as well as refurbishments
of existing sites.

Al of our new-build dealerships have been built to BREEAM
"Very Good” rating. BREEAM is the word's leading
environmental assessment methed for buildings and sets
the standard for best practice in sustainable building design,
construction and operation and has become one of the most
comprehensive and widsly recognised measures of a
building's environmenial performance.

At Marshall we take our duty of care responsibilities very
seriously and as such work closely with our approved waste
contractor fo provide a comprehensive collection and
processing service of our hazardous and nan-hazardous
recyciable materials.

In 2018 96.2% of our hazardous waste materials, such as
engine c¢ll, lead acid batteries, rags and absorbents were
recycled and recovared. This equates to over 1.2m kg of
waste which didn’t go to landfill.

Also in 2018, 68.2% of our dry mixed recycling waste
materials, such as paper, plastics, metals and cardboard,
were recycled and recovered. This equates to over 1.4m kg
of waste which didn't go to landfill.

We work with our Brand partners to ensure compliance with
The Producer Responsibility Chligations (Packaging Waste)
Regulations the aim of which is to reduce the amount of
packaging waste that ends up in landfill.

Additionally, we work closely with water retailers and local
water authorities fo ensure that where our operations
invoive the discharge of waste water (e.g. valeting), we
have oblained the correct level of consent and that our
actions do not cause pollution via surface water drainage
and other water courses.

Finally, we work with the Enviranmental Protection Teams
at various councils across England to ensure we have the
relevant pemmits in place, under the Environmental
Parmitting (England & Wales Regulations 2007) at those of
our dealerships which have a Bodyshop, or where we have
independent Bodysnop operations. This  includes
undertaking regular monitcring to ensure we remain
compliant with the limits set within the permits.
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\ Health and safety statistics 2018

Total number of incidents 180
Of which RIDDOR® reporiable incidents 20
_+ Fatales 0
= Specified Injuries o . 3
= Qver 7 day absence . ('
+ Non workers {contractars, vnsutors thlrd parties) 2
I __* Occupational Di 1
+ Dangerous occurrences reported under RIDDOR" 1
¥ Number of enforcement notices issued by HSE 0
Number of prohibition notices issued by HSE 1

*Reporting of injuries, Dengerous Occurrences Regulations 2013

SUBSTANCES ENERGY RECYCLING
Contro! of Substances Reducing Waste
Hazardous to energy and
Health (COSHH) consumption recycling

Contlnually Vi |smgth

e
perahonal actmltles ‘on h
f’(\t : i \

t.-t'. ]
\ r




GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance

PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANGCE
The Board recognises that applying sound governance principles in the running of the Group is essential. The Group has, since
its admission to AIM in April 2015, adopted the QCA Corporate Governance Code for Smail and Mid-Size Quoted Companies.

An explanation of how these principies are applied by the Group are set out in the table below and the remainder of this corporate
govermance repor.

APPLICATION OF THE QCA CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

QCA Principle - Application by the Group

1. Establish a strategy and The Group's vision is to be the UK's premier automotive retail group. This vision is
business model which underpinned by five strategic pillars set by the Board: class leading retumns; customer first;
promote fong-term value retailing excellence; people-centric; and strategic growth.

for shareholders
The Group's business modei and strategy are set out both in its AIM Admission document

{which can be found on the Group’s website at www.mmhplc.com) and the Strategic Report
section of this Annual Report.

In addition, the principal risks and uncerainties identified by the Board to the successful
delivery of the Group's strategy, together with the principal controls in place tc mitigate
those risks, are set out on pages 28 io 31 of this Annual Report. The Board reviews the
Group's risk register at least twice a year as pan of the annual and interim accounts

processes.
2. Seek to understand and The Group is committed to maintaining gocd relations with all its shareholders through the
meet shareholder needs provision of interim and annual reports, other trading statements and its AGM.

and expectations
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer alsc meet with the Group's

institutional shareholders regularly to discuss the Group’s performance and business model
and strategy and feedback from these meetings is reported to the Board.

Each Board member attends the AGM where investors are invited to formally and informalty
field questions and discuss their views with the Board. :

In light of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited's (‘MCHL") aggregate shareholding in
the Group, on Admission the Group entered into a Refationship Agreement (“Relationship
Agreement”) with MCHL in order to regutate the relationship between MCHL and the Group
and enable the Group to act independently of MCHL and its affiiates. Under the terms of
this agreement, MCHL has the right, for so long as it owns 30% or more of the Ordinary
Shares in the capital of the Compaany, to appaint two directars ta the Board and one director
to each of the commiittees of the Board, including the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committee. The Relationship Agreement will terminate in the event that MCHL ceases to
own 30% or more of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company. Further details of
the Relationship Agreement can be found on page 13 of the Group's AIM Admission
Document.
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QCA Principle Application by the Group

3. Take into account wider The Group recognises that its long-term success relies on maintaining and building strong

stakeholder and social
responsibilities and their
implications for long-term
SuUCCess

relationships with its varous stakeholders, including in particular, its customers,
shareholders, suppliers and employees.

As a franchise partner to global automotive manufacturers, the Group is focused on building
and maintaining excellent brand partner relationships. The Group's recent success and
growth has been achieved as a result of strong and growing relationships with its brand
partners. The Group has also invested in long-term strategic partnerships with other key
suppliers, many of whom have worked with the Group over many years.

The Group is committed to maintaining good employee relationships and employs a range of
recruitment, communication and employee engagement initiatives designed to attract, recruit
and retain employees. Further details of the Group's employee engagement programme are
set out in the Corporate and Social Responsibility section of this Annual Report.

The Group's participation in the Greal Place to Work Institute’s Best Workplaces programme
provides an effective means o seek feedback from colleagues each year and to measure
levels of engagement and drive continuous improvement.

The Group also recognises the potential impact of its operations on the environment and
examples of how the Group seeks to minimise that impact are set out in the Corperate and
Social Responsibility section of this Annual Report.

4, Embed effective risk

management considering
both opportunities and
threats, throughout the
arganisation

The principal elements of the Group's system of intemal control are set out on page 47.

In addition, the principal risks and uncertainties the Board believes could have the most
signfficant adverse impact on the Group's business, together with the principal controls in
place to mitigate those risks, are set out on pages 28 to 31.

. Maintain a well-functioning,
balanced team led by the
Chair

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and its governance arrangements.

The Group cumently has eight directors, of which four are independent non-executives (being
Richard Parry-Jones, Alan Ferguson, Sarah Dickins and Francesca Ecsery). Details of the
directors, including their roles, committee memberships, skills and experience and are set out
on pages 32 to 33 and their attendance record in the last financial year is set out on page 45.

Details of the Group's Board Committees, being the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nominations Committee, are set cut below.

As stated above, under the terms of the Relationship Agreement, MCHL is entitied to appoint
two nominated directors to the Board, so long as it holds 30% or more of the Company’s ardinary
shares. Christopher Welkinshaw and Kathy Jenkins are the two nominated directors of MCHL.

The Board is satisfied that it has a suitable balance between independence and knowledge
of the Group to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board's balance and membership.

. Ensure that between them
the Directors have the
necessary up-to-date
experience, skills and
capabilities

Details of each Board member's experience, skills and qualifications are set out on pages
32 and 33 of this Annual Report.

All Directors are able to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company's expense. In addition, the Directors have direct access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary, a qualified solicitor.

The Board considers that collectively, it has the necessary experience, skills and capabiiities
1o discharge its duties effectively.
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QCA #Principle

Application by the Group

7. Evaluation of Board
performance

The Non-Executive Directors meet each financial year without the presence of the Executive
Directors, during which the performance of Executive Directors is assessed and without the
presence of the Chairman {{o assess the performance of the Chairman).

The Board intends to commence a formal Board evaiuation praocess in 2019 which will
include a review of development and mentoring needs of the Group's management team.

8. Promote a culture based on
ethical values and
behaviours

The Group has clear and defined values based on people, innovation, integrity and
customers.

These values are embedded in the Group's internal systems and controls (including its
whistieblowing, anti-corruption and modem slavery policies) and in its HR policies which,
collectively define how it behaves as a Group.

Further details of our approach to embedding these values are set out in the Cerporate and
Social Responsibility section of this Annuzl Report.

9. Maintain governance
structures and processes
that are fit for purpose and
support good decision-
making by the Board

Details of the Group’s principal governance structures, including the Board and its
committees are set out below. In addition, pages 48 to 60 contain reports from the Audit and
Remuneration Committees which set out their key areas of responsibility and activities.

The Board considers that the Group’s governance structures and processes are fit for
purpose and support good decision making by the Board.

10. Communicate how the
Group is governed and is
performing by maintaining
a dialogue with
shareholders and other
relevant stakeholders

The Group communicates with shareholders through its Annual Report and Accounts,
annual and interim announcements, the AGM and individual meetings with shareholders.
Key corporate information (including all Group announcements and presentations) is
available on the Group's website at www.mmhplc.com.

The Board receives regular updates on sharehalders' views through briefings from the Chief
Executive Cfficer, Chief Financial Officer and the Group's brokers. In addition, both the
Chairman and the Senior Independent Director are available to meet on an ad hoc basis
with the Group’s principal shareholders.

The Group communicates with its institutional investors through briefings with management
at least twice a year, coinciding with the Group's annual znd interim results and at other
times during the year. In addition, analysis’ notes and brokers’ briefings are reviewed to
provide insight into investors’ views of the Group, its strategy and performance.
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THE BOARD

The table below sets out details of all Directors who have served during the Year and their membership of Board Committees.
This includes details of each member’s attendance at the ten board meetings held during the Year. There are separate attendance
statements in respect of the Audit and Remuneration Committees on pages 48 and 53.

Director Date appointed Role Committees 2018 Board
(C = current chair) attendance

Peter Johnson 27 June 2014 Non-Executive Chairman Nomination Committee (C) 10110

Alan Ferguson 11 March 2015 Senior Independent Director  Audit Committee (C) 10110

Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

Francesca Ecsery 25 March 2015 Independent Non-Executive Audit Committee 1010
Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

Sarah Dickins 11 March 2015 Independent Non-Executive Audit Committee 1010
Remuneration Committee (C)
Nominations Commitiee

Christapher Sawyer* 2 April 2015 Non-Executive Audit Committee **4/10
Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

Christopher 12 July 2016 Non-Executive Audit Committee {from May 2018) 10/10
Walkinshaw" Nomination Committee
Kathy Jenkins® 23 May 2018 Non-Executive Remuneration Cornmittee ~5M10
{from May 2018)
Nomination Committee
(from May 2018)
Daksh Gupta 1 Qctober 2008 Chief Executive Officer n/a 10/10
Mark Raban 2 April 2015 Chief Financial Officer nfa 10/10

* Christopher Walkinshaw and Kathy Jenkins are nominated directors of Marshail of Cambridge (Haldings) Limited. Christopher
Sawyer was also a nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited until his retirement from the Board o 23
May 2018.

** Christopher Sawyer retired from the Board and Kathy Jenkins was appointed to the Board, on 23 May 2018.

Peter Johnsan resigned from the Board on 31 December 2018. Subsequent to the year end, Richard Parry-Jones was appointed
to the Board as Non-Executive Chairman cn 1 January 2019. Mark Raban resigned from the Board on 2 January 2819 and
Richard Blumberger was appointed to the Board as Chief Financial Officer on the same date.

Board decisions are generally on matters of strategy (including acquisitions and disposals), policy, people, perfformance, budgets
and significant capital expenditure. Each director receives information on matters to be discussed (including Board reponts from
the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) in advance of each Board meeting to ensure that
there is a full debate at Board level and in particular so that the non-executive directors can contribute fully.

The Board has formally reserved specific matters for its determination and has approved terms of reference for all Board
Committees.

All directors have access to independent professional advice, if they have the need to seek it. There is an induction process for
new directors and training is available when required.
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Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Senior Independent Director
Richard Parry-Jones is Non-Executive Chaiman and the Chief Executive Officer is Daksh Gupta. There is a formal division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The Senior independent Director is Alan Ferguson.

Board Balance
The Company currently has eight directors, of which four are independent non-executives.

Under the terms of a Relationship Agreement ('Relationship Agreement”) with Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited ("MCHL")
{details of which are set out below), MCHL is entitled to appoint two nominated directors to the Board, so long as it holds 30% or
more of the Company's ordinary shares. The curent MCHL-nominated directors are Christopher Walkinshaw and Kathy Jenkins.

Performance Evaluation
The Non-Executive Directors have met without the presence of the Executive Directors, during which the performance of executive
directors was assessed. The Board intends to conduct a formal evaluation of its performance in the coming year.

Re-appointment of Directors

in accordance with the Articles, having been appointed since the date of the last annuai general meeting of the Company, Richard
Parry-Jones, Kathy Jenkins and Richard Blumberger will each retire by rotation and each offers themselves for reappointment
at the AGM to be held on 21 May 2019. In addition, the Notice of AGM sets out those directors who are reliring by rotation in
accordance with the Articles and are offering themselves for re-election at the AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Commitiee which comprises Richard Parry-Jones (Chair of the Committee), Alan
Ferguson, Sarah Dickins, Francesca Ecsery, Christopher Walkinshaw and Kathy Jenkins.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, preparing a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment and identifying and noeminating candidates tc fill Board positicns
as and when they arise. The Nomination Committes met on a numher of nocasions during the Year to discuss the appointment
of the new Chairman following the announcement that Peter Johnson planned to retire and the appointment of the new Chief
Financial Officer, following the resignation of Mark Raban.

Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit Committee, which comprises Alan Ferguson (Chair of the Committee), Sarah Dickins,
Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Walkinshaw. Further information on the Audit Committee is set cut on pages 48 to 50.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee which comprises Sarah Dickins (Chair of the Cormmittee) Afan
Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery and Kathy Jenkins. Further information on the Remuneration Committee is set out on pages
51 to 60.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Group is committed to maintaining good relations with all its shareholders through the provision of Interim and Annua! Reports,
other trading statements and the Annual General Meeting. The Group also meets with its institutional shareholders regularly.,

In light of MCHL's aggregate shareholding in the Group, on Admission the Group entered into the Relationship Agreement with
MCHL in order to regulate the relationship betwean MCHL and the Group and enable the Group to act independently of MCHL
and its affiliates. Under the terms of this agreement MCHL has the right, for so long as it owns 30% or more of the Crdinary
Shares in the capital of the Company, to appaint two directors to the Board and one director to each of the commitiees of the
Board, including the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Relationship Agreement will terminate in the event
that MCHL ceases to own 30% or more of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Further details of the Relationship Agreement can be found in the Group's AIM Admission Document which is avaitable on the
Group's website at www.mmhple.com.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting provides an opportunity for all shareholders to be updated on the Group's progress and ask questions
of the Beard.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board has ulimate responsibility for both the preparation of accounts and the monitoring of systems of internal financial
contral. The Board seeks to present a fair, balanced and understandabile assessment of the Group's position and its prospects

and present price-sensitive information in an appropriate way.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board hag yltimate responsibility for the Group's system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. However, any
such system of internal control can provide only reascnable but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board considers that the internal controls in place are appropriate for the size, complexity and risk profile of the Group.

The principal elements of the Group's internal control system include:

«  managereant of the day to day activities of the Group by the Executive Directors; aided by the Group's bespoke management
information system, Phoenix 2;

<« an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility,

- aforecasting process at each quarter end;

« anannual budgeting process which is approved by the Board;

- detailed weekly and monthly reporting of performance against budget and the prior year using Cognos;

- central cantrol over key areas such as capital expenditure authorisation, contracts and finanging facilities;
» formal accounting policies and procedures which are regularly reviewed and publicised in the business;

« an Intemal Audit department which monitors compliance of Group processes and procedures and whose programme of
work is overseen by the Audit Committee;

+ aCompliance teamn to assess and monitor the Group's compliance with its regulatory responsibilities with a particular focus
on compliance with FCA and data protection requirements.

The Group continues to review its system of intemal control to ensure compliance with best practice, whilst also having regard
to its size and the resources avalilable.

The principal tisks and uncertainties identified by the Board are set out on pages 28 to 31.

By order of the Board
Stephen Jones

Company Secretary
12 March 2019
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Audit Committee Report

Alan Ferguson
Senior Independent Director and
Chair of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee Members

The Group's Audit Committee currently comprises myself,
Sarah Dickins, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher
Walkinshaw, who joined the Committee on 23 May 2018
following the retirement of Christopher Sawyer from the Board
and the Committee.

With the exception of Christopher Walkinshaw (given his
position as a nominated director of MCHL), all members of the
Audit Committee are considered to be independent.

It is considered that the Audit Committee possesses the
necessary skills and experience to fulfil its responsibilities
effectively with its members, through their other business
activities, having a wide range of financial and commercial
expertise. In particular, as set out on page 32, my background
was as an experienced Finance Director serving on the
boards of a number of large companies throughout my
exacutive career. | am the current chair of the audit
committees of Johnson Matthey Plc and Croda International
Plc and was the chair of the audit committee of The Weir
Group Pic until April 2018.

Audit Committee Responsibllities
The Audit Committes’s principal responsibilities are to:

= monitor the integrity of the Company's financial
statements (including its annual and interim reports,
interim managemeant statements results’ announcerments
and any cther formal announcement relating to its
financial performance);

«  review significant financial reporting issues, judgements
and estimates as described in Note 4 to the financial
statements;

= keep under review the effectivenass of intemal controls
and risk management systems;

«  review ammangements for its employees to raise concems,
in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial
reporting or other matters;

+  monitor and review the effectiveness of the intermal audit
function, review and approve the intemal audit function’s
planned work and meet privately with the head of intemal
audit without the presence of management; and

+ make recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appointment of the external auditor and oversee the
relationship with the extemnal auditor including approving
the annual audit plan, assessing audit quality,
effectiveness and approving the audit fes.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities, its procedures and its
authority are set out in formal terms of reference approved by
the Board.

Audit Committee Meetings

The Audit Committee has an annual agenda of matters to be
considered and is scheduled to meet three times each year
and at any other time when it is appropriate to consider and
discuss audit and accounting related issues.

During the Year, the Audit Committee met formally three times,
each member's attendance at those meetings being set out
below:

Attendance

record

whilst a

Committes Committee

Member Role Member

Alan Ferguson Chair of the Committee 33

Sarah Dickins Non-Executive Director 33

Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Director 33

Christopher Sawyer  Non-Executive Director *1H
Christopher

Walkinshaw Non-Executive Director w2/2

* Retired on 23 May 2018
* Appointed on 23 May 2018

Audit Committee meetings are also attended (at the discretion
and invitation of the Committee Chair) by the Chairman,
Non-Executive and Executive Directors, the Head of Intemnal
Audit and representatives of the Company's extemal auditor.

Between the end of the Year and the date of this report, there
were two further meetings of the Audit Committee which were
attended by all members.

" E



Marshall Motor Holdings ple | Annuai Report & Accounts 2018

Activities During the Periad
During the period since the last annual report to the date of
this report, the Audit Committee has:

reviewed its terms of reference and operated in
accordance with an annual agenda of matters to be
considered by it;

raviswed the key accounting judgements and estimates
and going concem assassment in connecticn with the full
year and interim results announcements;

reviewed and after challenge, approved the extemal
auditor's audit plan for 2018, including their proposed fee
and statement of independence. The Audit Committee
also reviewed the quality of the external audit and
recommended the re-appointmant of the external auditor;

reviewed non audit fees paid to tha extermnal auditor in the
Year. These fees totalled £36,000 and refated solely to
the review of the Group's interim results;

considered the potential impact of future changes to
accounting standards, in particular IFRS 9 and IFRS 16;

considered the recommendations of the Financial

considered and subsequently recommended the taking
of an exemption from an audit pursuant to S.479A
Companies Act 2006 in respact of the year ending
31 December 2018 for certain subsidiary companies as
set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

approved the programme of work for intemal auditin 2018
and considered the output of that work. in addition, it
approved the internal audit plan for 2019;

considered the Group's risk management process and its
effectiveness, and

reviewed the Company's arrangements to enable
employees to raise concems about possible impraprieties
confidentially including the use of an independent
organisation to provide a confidential ‘whistleblowers’
hotline.

The Committee receives reports from executive directors and
also receives reports fram, and periodically maeets with the
external auditor and the head of intemal audit in the absence
of management. In addition, as chair of the Audit Committes,

i also mest with tha extemal and intemal auditor outside of the

formal meetings.

Reporting Council following its thematic review of the

Group's 2017 financial statements and in particular
implernented its recommandations regarding the
disclosure of the allocation of goodwill and intangible
assets by CGU in these financial statements. It is noted
that tha FRC's review only covered specific disclosures
relating to its thematic reviaw:;

Audit issues considered by the Committee
The Audit Committee has considered areas of significant complexity, management judgemant and estimation applied in the
preparaticn of the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. In addition, the Audit Committee discussed
with the Company's extemna! auditors those areas of audit focus described in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 62 to 71,

Set out below are the key audit risks and judgements considered by the Audit Committee together with the Committee’s conclusions:

Audit Risks Considered

Audit Committee's Review and Conclusions

Valuation of inventory

The Group recognises a provision for its vehicle
inventory. When determining an appropriate
provision, management judgement is required to
assess and make reasonable assumptions to
determine the net realisable value of the Group's
vehicle inventory.

Concluslon:

The Committee concluded that the judgements and assumptions applied
to assess inventory valuation and calculate the net realisable value of the
Group's vehicle inventory were appropriate.

The Audit Committee reviewed the Group's inventory provision in the light
of external industry data, the inventary profile and the movement in the
provision in the pariod. The Audit Committee discussed this analysis with
management and with the extemal auditor.

The Audit Committee also noted that, overall, the assumptions used were
consistent with those applied in previous years.
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Audit Risks Considered

Audit Committee’s Review and Conclusions

Valuation and possible impairment of goodwill
and other intangible assets

As disclosed in Note 15 '‘Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets’ to the financial statements, the
Group has goodwill and indefinite-life intangible
assets arising from acquisitions of businesses
totaling £112.2m. These assets are assessed for
impaiment every six months.

Assessment for ipairment involves comparing the
carrying value of the asset with its recoverable
amount (the higher of value-in-use and fair value
less costs to sell). Value-in-use is determined with
reference to projected future cash flows discounted
at an appropriate rate.

Both the cash flows and the discount rate involve a
significant degree of estimation, uncertainty as well
as judgemental assessments of the future brand
performance of individual vehicle manufacturers.

The Audit Committee reviewed management’s process for reviewing and
testing goodwill and other intangible assets for potential impaiment. The
Audit Committee also considered the adequacy of the disdlosures in the
Group's financial statements in respect of the allocation of goodwill and
intangible assets to CGUs, as well as in relation to key assumptions and
sensitivities.

The extemnal audilcr also independently reviewed management’s estimate
of value-in-use, including challenging management's underying cash flow
projections, long-temn growth assumptions and discount rates.

Conclusion:

The Audit Committee concluded that the judgements and assumptions
applied when determining the £9.3m impainment were appropriate and
reasonable.

Recognition and valuation of provisions

As disclosed in Note 24 ‘Provisions’ to the financial
statements, the Group has provisions totalling £7.9m
consisting largely of property provisions and a
provision for the costs of exiting the defined benefit
pension scheme.

Pravisions are, by their nature, judgemental and
involve estimates of likely outcomes and an
assessment of the likelihood of future events
occurring. When determining the recognition and
quantification of a provision, management are
required to make assumptions and estimates which
may materially influence the financial statements.

The Audit Committee pays particular attention to management’s estimates
and judgements in this area. Based on detailed reports and through
discussion with both management and the Group's extemal auditor, the
Audit Committee reviewed and assessed the basis and level of provisions.

Conclusion:

The Audit Commiillee concluded that the judgements and assumptions
applied to assess whether to recognise a provision and to estimate the
amounts to be recognised, were reasonable and appropriate.

The Audit Committee also noted that, where relevant, the assumptions
used were consistent with those applied in previous years.

Revenue recognition

The Group's core revenue streams are new and
used car sales, parts sales and servicing. The Group
also derives income from wvolume incentive
arangements with suppliers. Given the business
focus on sales targets and incentives and the
complexity and varied nature of the supplier incentive
schemes, together with the materiality of these
revenues for the Group, revenue recognition
represents an area of focus for the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the work of the external and intemal
auditors in this area and noted any deviation from the Group's revenue

recognition palicy.

Conclusion:

Sales are individually immaterial, and the Audit Commiittee and based on
the review work undertaken, did not consider revenue recognition to be a
material fraud risk for the Group.

M

p—
Alan Ferguson
Chair of the Audit Committee
12 March 2019
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Remuneration Committee Report

Sarah Dickins
Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Remuneration Committes

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board, the
Remuneration Committee’s (the “Committee”) Remuneration
Report providing details of the remuneration of the Directors

" far the Year and of our remuneration palicy and principles.

Remuneration policy

The Committea regularly reviews its remuneration policy to
ensure it supports achievement of the Company’s short-tarm
financial goals and longer-term strategic objectives, including
transformational activity such as the acquisition of SG Smith
in 2015, Ridgeway in 2016 and the disposal of Marshall
Leasing Limited in 2017. Although not bound by the same
regulation as main market listed companies, including the
requirament to put rernunertation policy to shareholder vote at
least every three years, the Committee continues to monitor
deveifopments in regulation, govemance and best praclice,
including the recently updated UK Corporate Govemance
Code and considers the current remuneration policy
appraopriate to the Company's circumstances,

Key Committee decisions and remuneration outcomes
for the period to 31 December 2018

As outlined in the Operating Review, the Company has
continued its excellent track record of performance in 2018.
Financial highlights include like-for-like revenue growth of
1.2% and continuing underlying PBT of £25.7m representing
an increase of 1.2% versus 2017.

Annual bonus opportunity and Performanca Share Plan
("PSP") opportunities for both Daksh Gupta and Mark Raban
remained the same as the previous year.

Annual bonus opportunity during 2018 was based on the
achievement of underying PBT targets with bonuses of 96.3%
of maximum awarded to the Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officer respectively in respect of performance in the
year ended 31 December 2018.

The Executive Directors also received an award under the
Company's Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) which is subject
to demanding three year EPS targets. Subject tc the
performance condition being met, PSP awards will vest on the
third anniversary of grant with any vested sharss required to
be held for a further 12 months post vesting.

On 3 July 2018, we announced that Mark Raban intended to
step down as Chief Financial Officer. In role since 2014, Mark
played a pivotal rale in the Group's IPO in 2015, the successful
acquisitions of SG Smith in 2015, Ridgeway in 2016, and the
disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited in 2017. Despite Mark
notifying his intention to step down in July, he remained
committed to the business throughout 2018 whilst a successor
was appointed and has remained available to support the
business if and when required. The Committee therefore
considered him eligible to participate in the 2018 annual
bonus.

Further, taking into account Mark's contribution during his
tenure, the Committes has exercised its discrelion to permit
the final tranche of his 2015 IPO Performance Awards to vest
on 2 April 2019 and that subject to pro-rating far time and
achievement of the attaching EPS performance target, his
2016 PSP award will continue to its ordinary vesting date of
13 June 2019. All other PSP awards made to Mark have
lapsed. On behalf of the Committee, we thank Mark for his
valuable contribution to the business and wish him well in
the future.

Wa walcomed Richard Blumberger as our new Chief Financial
Officer on 2 January 2019, Richard Joins on the same base
salary as the outgoing Chief Financial Officer and will be
eligible to participate in the 2019 annual bonus plan and
receive a PSP award in 2019 as per the terms of cumrent
remuneration policy.

As wa announced in December 2018, Professor Richard
Parry-Jones CBE was appointed Non-Executive Chairman
effective 1 January 2019 following the retirement of Peter
Johnson on 31 December 2018. Richard was appointed on
the same fee as the cutgoing Chairman of £135,500 per
annum.

Key remuneration decisions for the year to
31 December 2019

The Committee continues to believe that the remuneration
policy remains appropriate and having reviewed the base
salary for the Chief Executive Officer in the context of increases
for tha wider workforce, the Committee has approved an
increase of 2%. The new Chief Financial Officer will not be
receiving an increase due to having only recently been
appointed. The maximum annual bonus potential for 2019 will
be 125% of salary for the CEO and 100% of salary forthe CFO
based on PBT in line with the stretching business plan.



GOVERNANCE

The Committee intends to make awards in 2019 under the
PSP subject to a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of the
Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Finanaial Officer will receive
100% of salary on the same basis as his predecessor. Any
shares awarded this year to Executive Direclors that vest
under the PSP must be retained for a further year before they
can be sold.

Conclusion

The directors' remuneration policy which follows this annual
statement sets out the Committee’s principles on
remuneration for the future and the annual report on
remuneration provides details of remuneration for the period
ended 31 December 2018. The Committee wifl continue to be
mindful of shareholder views and interests, and we believe
that the Directors’ remuneration policy is aligned with the
achievement of the Company's business objectives.

Sldete d
Sarah Dickins

Chair of Remuneration Committee
12 March 2019
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE

Throughout the period 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018,
the Committea comprised three independent Non-Exacutive
Directors: Sarah Dickins (Chair of the Committeg), Alan
Ferguson and Francesca Ecsery alengside Christopher
Sawyer who was an appointed representative of MCHL until
23 May 2018 when he was replaced by Kathy Jenkins.

The table below sets oul each member's attendance record
at Committee meetings during the financiat year.

Committee Attendance
Member Role record
Sarah Dickins Chair of the Committee 4/4
Alan Ferguson Non-Executive Director 4/4
Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Director 34
Christopher Sawyar  Non-Executive Director 212
(resigned 24 May 2018)
Kathy Jenkins Non-Executive Director . 212

(appointed 24 May 2018)

The Chair, members of the management team, as well as the
Committee's advisers, are invited to attend meetings as
appropriate, unless there is any potential conflict of interest.

The Remuneration Commitiee: Responsibilities

The terms of reference of the Committee cover such issues
as: committee membership; frequency of meetings; quorum
requirements; and the right to attend meetings. In addition, the
Committee has responsibility for, amongst other things:

«  making recormmendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy on remuneration for the Group;

determining and monitoring specific remuneration
packages for the Chairman, each of the Executive
Diractors and certain senior management in the Group,
including pension rights and any cempensation
payments;

recommending and monitoring the leve! and structure of
remuneration for senior managament;

recomrnending and overseseing the implementation of
share related schemes, including scheme grants; and

ensuring the Committee has access tc independent
remuneration advice including responsibility for
appointing a suitably qualified adviser.

The Board remains responsible for the approval and
implementation of any recommendations made by the
Committee. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
other than the Chairman is determined by the Chairman of the
Board and the Executive Qirectors.

The Committee's Advisers

The Committee engages external advisers to assist it in
meeting ils responsibilities and has retained Willis Towers
Watson to provide independent remuneration advice to the
Committee. Willis Towers Watson are a signatory to the
Remuneration Consultants’ Code of Conduct, and the
Committee is satisfied that the advice that it recaives is
objective and independent.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The overall aim of our remuneration policy is to provide
appropriate incentives that reflect the Group’s performance
culture and values, through a number of specific remuneration
components (detailed in the table on the following pages). in
summary, we aim to:

attract, retain and motivate high calibre, senior
management and to focus them on the delivery of the
Group's strategic and business objectives;

set base pay having had due regard to the competitive
talent market in which the Company operates with
incentive pay structured so that top quartile pay can be
achieved for top quartile performance;

be simple and understandable, both externally and to
colleagues; and

achieve consistency of approach across the senior
management population to the extent appropriate.

In determining the practical application of the policy, the
Committee considers a range of intemal and extemal factors,
including pay and conditions for employees generally,
shareholder feedback, and appropriate market comparisons
with remuneration practices in FTSE-listed, AlM-listed and
othar automotive-based companies.

The Committee is satisfied that this policy succassfully aligns
the interests of Executive Directors, senior managers, and
other amployees with the long-term interests of shareholders,
by ensuring that an appropriate proportion of total
remuneration is directly linked to the Group's performance
over beth the short and the long term.
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REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)

Future Policy Table

The main elements of the remuneration package of Executive Directors are set out below:

Purpose and link to
strategy

Attract and retain high calibre
Executive Directors to deliver
strategy.

Incentivises achievement of
business  objectives by
providing rewarg for
performance against annual
financial targets.

Operation

Paid in 12 equai monthly
instalments during the year.

Paid in cash after the and of
the financial year ta which it
relates.

Recovery and withhaolding
provisions apply.

Maximum opportunity

Reviewed annually to reflact
role, responsibility and
performance of the individual
and the Group, and to take
into account rates of pay for
comparable roles in similar
companies. When selecting
comparators, the Committee
has regard to, inter alia, the
Group's revenue, profitability,
market worth and business
sector. There i$ no prescribed
maximum increase. Annual
rates are set out in the annual
report on remuneration for the
cument year and the following
year.

| ANNUAL BONUS |

Itis the palicy of the committee
to cap maximum annual
bonuses. The levels of such
caps are reviewed annually
and are set at an appropriate
percentage of annual salary.
Currently the maximum bonus
is 125% of base salary in
respect of the Chief Executive
Officer and 100% in respect of
the Chief Financial Officer.

Performance metrics

None.

Performance Is  normally
measured over one year,
based sclely on financial
targets (e.g. profit before tax).

The Committee sets threshold
and maximum targets on an
annual basis.

A sliding scale operates
between threshold and
maximum performance. No
honus is payable where
performance is below the
threshald.

Payment of any bonus is
subject to the overriding
discretion of the Committee
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REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)
Future Policy Table (continued)

Purpose and link to
strategy

Alignment of interests with
sharehaldars by providing
long-term incentives designed
to incentivise and recognise
execution of the business
strategy over the longer-term.

Provide benefits consistent
with role and in support of
the personal health and
well-being of employees.

Attract and retain Executive
Directors for the long term by
providing  funding  for
retirement.

Operation

Grant of £nil cost options
under the PSP. Options
normally vest 3 years from
grant subject to the
achiavement of parformance
conditions and continued
employment.

A 12 months post-vesting
holding period applies for
awards made from 2016.

A dividend equivalent applies.

Recovery and withholding
pravisions apply at the
discration of the Committee
within three years of vesting.

Currently these consist of
holiday entittement, health

insurance, life assurance
premiums and  income
protection insurance. The

Committee reviews the level
of benefit provision from time
to time and has the flexibility
to add or remove benefits to
refiect changes in market
practices or the operational

All Executive Directors are
entitled fo participate in the
Company's defined
contribution pension scheme
or to receive a cash aliowance
in lieu of pension contributions.

Only  bhase
pensionable.

salary is

Maximum opportunity

'LONG-TERM INCENTIVES - MMH PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

150% of base salary (up to
200% of base salary in
exceptional circumstances) in
any financial year.

Current award levels are set
out in the Annual Report on
Remuneration.

The cost of providing henefits
is bome by the Company and
varies from time to time.

The Chief Executive receives
a 16% of base salary
contribution,

The Chief Financial Officer
participates in the Company's
defined contrbution pension
scheme whersby the
Company makes an 8% of
base salary contribution,
conditional upon the Chief
Financial Officer making a
matched contribution of 8%.

Performance metrics

Vesting is subject to
continuous employment and
targets linked to the strategy
of the business. Curent
targets are based on
achievement of growth in
eamings per share, but the
Committee may vary the

targets. 25% vests for
achieving threshold
performance,100% vests for
achieving maximurm
performance.

Benees

None.

needs of the Group.

None.
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REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)
Future Policy Table (continued)

Purpose and link to
strategy Operation

SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDEL!INES

Increasa alignment between | Executive

parformance stewardship instalments

the Executive Directors and | expected to retain 50% of the | for Executive Directors.
shareholders. net of tax vested PSP sharas
until the guideline level is mst.

"NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES ({“NED")

To attract NEDs who have a | NED feas are determined by | Annual rate set out in the | None.
broad range of experience | the Board {excluding NEDs) [ annual report on remuneration
and skills o oversee the | within the limils set out in the | for the current year and the
implementation  of  our | Articles of Association and are | following year. No prescribed
strategy and provide strong | paid in 12 equal monthly | maximum annual increase.

Maximum opportunity Performance metrics

Directors arej At least 100% of basse salary | None.

during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts, Notice Periods and Termination Payments

Provision

Detalls

Notice pericds in Executive Directors’
service contracts

Maximum of 12 months by Company ar Exacutive Director. Executive Diractors
may be required to work during the notice period.

Compensation for loss of office

In the event of termination, service contracts provide for paymenits of base salary,
pension and benefits only over tha notice period.

Treatment of annuat bonus on
termination

There is no contractual right to any bonus payment in the event of termination
although in certain "good leaver” circumstances the Remuneration Committee
may exercise its discretion to pay a honus for the period of empioyment and based
on performance assessed after the end of the financial year.

Treatment of unvested PSP awards

Thae default ireatment for any entitiermnents under the PSP is that any outstanding
awards lapse on cessation of empioyment. However, in certain prescribed
circumstances, or at the discretion of the Committee “good leaver” status can be
applied. In these circumstances a participant's awards vest subject 1o the
satisfaction of the relevant performance criteria and, ordinarily, cn a ime pro-rata
basis, with the balance of the awards lapsing.

Qutside appointments

Other directorships have been permitted with prior agreement:
— Daksh Gupta is a director of BEN — Metor and Allied Trades Benevolent Fund.

- Mark Raban is a director of Precise Finance Limited. Precise Finance Limited
is the company owned by Mr Raban and used to provide consultancy services
prior to his appaintment to Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

Non-executive directors

All Non-Executives are subject to re-election every three years. No compensation
payable if required to stand down.
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REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)
Directors’ Service Contracts, Notice Periods and Termination Payments {continued)

In the event of the negotiation of a compromise or settlement agreement between the Company and a departing Director, the
Committee may make payments it considers reascnable in setlement of potential legal claims. Such payments may also include

reasonable reimbursement of professional fees in connection with such agresments.

The Committee may also include the reimbursement of fees for professicnal or outplacement advice in the termination package,

if it considers it reasonable to do so. It may also allow the continuation of benefits for a limited period.

Dates of appolntment

Diractor Date of appolntmant Date of resignation as a director
D Gupta 1 October 2008 -

P Johnson 27 June 2014 31 December 2018

M Raban 2 April 2015 2 January 2018

A Ferguson 11 March 2015 -

S Dickins 11 March 2015 -

F Ecsery 25 March 2015 -

C Sawyer 2 April 2015 23 May 2018

C Walkinshaw 12 July 2016 -

K Jankins 23 May 2018 -

Copies of Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.
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Annual Report on Remuneration
Single total figure of remuneration
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown far each Director in respect of the 12 month period

ending 31 December 2018.

Basic Annual Long term
salary Fees Benefits Pension bonuses  incentives® Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £'000
D Gupta 4169 - 18.0 67.0 501.7 10216 20255
M Raban’ 260.6 - 3.0 21.0 250.9 302.7 838.2
Total 677.5 - 21.0 88.0 752.6 13243 28634
P Johnson - 135.5 - - - - 1355
A Fergusonh - 58.5 - - - - 595
S Dickins - 49.5 - - - - 49.5
F Ecsary - 420 - - - - 420
C Sawyer? - 175 - - - - 175
C Walkinshaw' - 400 - - - - 40.0
K Jenkins' 25.8 258
Total - 369.8 - - - - 369.8
Aggregate directors :
emofuments 677.5 3698 21.0 88.0 752.6 13243 3233.2

The benefits above include items such as medical cover, life assurance premiums and income protection insurance.

Mark Raban has a 12 month notice period and although he served notice on 3 July 2018, he continued to fulfil tha position
of CFQ for the remainder of 2018 until a successor was appainted. Mark has agreed to be available to support the hew
CFO for the remainder of his nolice period. Salary, pension and benefits will be paid in the ardinary manner during the
12 month notice period (subject to mitigation should he take up afternative employment during his remaining notice period)
and the Commiltee exercised its discretion o consider him eligible to recefve an annual bonus in respect of 2018.

Christopher Walkinshaw and Kathy Jenkins are nominated directors of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Lid with the fee
payable in respect of their undertakings as a Non-Executive Director payabie to Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Ltd.

-

N

3. Market value of share options exercised during the Year (based on the Company's share price on the date of exercise} plus
the value of dividend equivalents on those options {which were seltled in cash). Indluded within the figures quoted for long
term incentives in the prior year was an amount of £260k which was the market value of share options on the date of their
vesting, not their exercise. These oplions were exercised in the current year and are correctly included within the totals
presenied above.

LTIP awards

Details of LTIP awards granted during the year are as follows:

Market
valua
Earllest Exercise on date Number of
Date of exercise price of grant options
Scheme grant date {pence) (pence) grants
D Gupta 2018 LTIP award 17-Apr-18 17-Apr-21 £Nil 155p 328,845
M Raban' 2018 LTIP award 17-Apr-18 17-Apr-21 ENil 155p 164,423

1 Mark Raban's 2018 LTIP awards lapsed during the Year.

Awards vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2018 to 2020; 25% vest for achieving EPS growth of 1.3% per annum increasing
to 100% vesting for achieving EPS growth of 6.0% per annum,
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The movement in directors’ LTIP Awards during the year are as foliows:

Number Number Number
granted exerclsed lapsed Number at
during during during 31 December
Number at 1 January 2618 the year the year the year 2018
D Gupta 1.487,703 328,845 604,026 0 1,212,522
M Raban 587,253 164,423 178,971 335,072 237,633

Statement of Directors’ Shareholding

Our Executive Directors are expected to build up and maintain a 100% of salary shareholding in the Company and are expected
to retain 50% of the net of tax vested PSP shares until the guideline leval is met. The Directors who held office at 31 Deceamber
2018 and their connected persons had interests in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2018 as follows:

Number of
ordinary Number of Number of
shares ordinary ordinary
hald shares Market shares
benefcially acqulred Purchases Dlsposals  bsneficially LTIP Interests! Tolal
as at on exercise during durlng held at Vestod but  Interest In
3217 of options the year the year 31218 Unvested unexercisad shares
P Johnson 175,328 - - - 175,328 - - 175328
D. Gupta 843,138 320,134 - - 1,163,272 1,212,522 - 2375794
M Raban? 61,726 94 855 = - 156,581 237,633 - 394244
A Fergusan 58,557 - - - 58,557 - - 58,557
S Dickins 6,71 - - - 6,714 - - 6711
F Etsery 2,013 - - - 2,013 - - 2013

The middle market price of the shares as at 31 December 2018 was 156p and the range in respect of the 12 month pericd ending

31 December 2018 was 122.5p to 175.5p.

1 These include the 2018, 2017 and 2016 LTIP Awards along with the IPQ Performance Awards which vest subject to growth
in the Company's underfying basic Earnings Per Share (EPS). 25% of the award vests for achisving growth in underlying
basic EPS of 1.3%, CP! plus 1.0%, CPI plus 3.0% and CP! plus 4% per annum respectively, increasing to 100% vesting for
achieving growth of 6.0%, CPI plus 5.0%, CP! plus 8.0% and CPI plus 10% per anhum respeclively over a three year
performance period. 50% of the IPC Performance Awards vasted on the third anniversary of Admission and the remaining
50% will vest orr the fourth anniversary subjfect to continued employmsnt. A 12 month holding period applies to the 2016,

2017 and 2018 LTIP Awards.

2 Taking into account Mark's contribution during his tenure, the Commiltee has exercised its discretion to permit the final
tranche’ of his 2015 IPO Performance Awards to vest on 2 April 2019 and that subject to pro-rating for time and achfevement
of the attaching EPS performance target, his 2016 PSP award will continue to its ordinary vesting date of 13 June 2019, All

othar PSP awards made to Mark have lapsed.

The Committee has discretion to adjust the aforementioned performance targsts to refiect the impact of events which ccour after
the date of grant in order to take into account the impact of events such as material acquisilions and disposals made by the
Group and to ensure that the adjusted targets are no more difficult or easter to satisfy than they would have otherwise been.
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Imptementation of remuneration policy for the year ending 31 December 2019

The annual salaries and fees to be paid to directors in the year ending 31 December 2019 are set gut below, together with any

increase expressed as a percentage.

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 Increase

Executive Directors £000 £'000 %
D Gupta 4253 416.9 2
R Blumberger* 260.0 - n/a
Non-executive Directors £'000 £'000 %
R Pamy-Jones! - 135.5 - n/a
A Ferguson 60.3 59.5 2
S Dickins 50.3 495 2
F Ecsery 42.8 420 2
C Walkinshaw? 40.0 40.0 0]
400 0

K Jenkins? 40.0

1 Richard Parry-Janes was appointed on 1 January 2018, Richard Blumberger was appointed an 2 January 2019.

2  Christopher Walkinshaw and Kathryn Jenkins are nominated directors of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Ltd with the fee
payable in respect of their undertakings as a Non-Execulive Director payable to Marshall of Carnbridge {Holdings) Ltd.

The maximum patential annual bonus for the year ending 31 December 2019 will be 125% of salary for the CEO and 100% of

salary for the CFO. Awards are determined based on PBT targets. Recovery and withhelding provisions wili apply.

The Commiittee intends to grant options under the PSP in 2019, These options will be £nil cost options over a value of shares
subject to a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of salary in respect of the Chief

Financial Officer where the vesting is subject fo performance targets.

By order of the Board

Moot

Sarah Dickins
Chair of Remuneration Committee
12 March 2019
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

The Directors are required to prepare Consolldated financial statements for each financial year in accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adapted by the European Union. The Direclors have elected to prepare the parent
company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Birectors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the Group and Company and of the profit and loss of the Group for that
period. In preparing those Consdlidated financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- selectand apply accounting policies in accordance with 1AS 8;

« present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

+  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in [FRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial
performance; and

+ state that the group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements.

In preparing the Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:
= salect suitable accounting policies and apply tham consistently;
»  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

»  prepared the financial statements on a going concem basis unless It is inappropriate to presume that the company will not
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate acoounting reconds which are sufficient to disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financia! position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial siatements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonabie steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other imegutarities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MARSHALL
MOTOR HOLDINGS PLC

What we have audited
Wa have audited the financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings plc. for the year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Related notes 1 to 34 to the consolidated financial Related notes 1 to 15 to the Company financial statements
statements, including a summary of significant including a summary of significant accaunting paoficies
accounting policies

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financia) statements is applicable law
and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdem
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”
{United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Opinion
In our opinion:

* the financial statemants give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at
31 December 2018 and of the group's profit for the year then ended;

+  the group financial statements have baen properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adapted by the European Union,

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdem Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

+  the financial statemants have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

Woe conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are described further in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statemants
section of our report below. We are independent of the group and parent company in accardance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed
entities, and we hava fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have hothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 1SAs (UK) require us to repart to you where:
« thadirectors' use of the going concemn basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

+  the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the group’s or the parent company's ability to continue to adopt the going concem basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months fram the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Overview of our audit approach
Materality . Qverall group materiality of £1.28m (2017: £1.45m) which represents approximately 5% (2017: 5%}
of Underlying Profil before Tax.

*  Any audit differences in excess of £64k (2017: £73k) are reported to the audit committee.

Audit scope . We performed an audit of the complete financial infformation of 14 {2017:14) full scope components
and performed audit procedures for a further 21 (2017:22) review scope components,

+  The full scope components accounted for 94% (2017: 92%) of Underlying Profit before Tax, 92%
(2017: 92%) of External Revenue and 97% (2017: 97%) of Total Net Assets.

Key audit matters . Valuation of inventory

+  Assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets
. Misstatement of provisions and head office accruals

. Ravenue recognition, including manufacturer's rebates and bonuses

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements an
the audit and in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materialily provides a basis for determining the nature and extent
of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £1.28 million (2017: £1.45 million), which is approximately 5% (2017: 5%} of
Underlying Profit before Tax. The rationale for using Underlying Profit befora Tax as our basis for materiality is that it provides a
consistent year on year approach, excluding gains and losses from transactions which are considered one off in nature by
management and that are unlikely to reoccur, which can be significant compared to underlying trading. We review the assessment
of these items before inclusion in our materiality calculation. There were no changes in the approach year on year.

We determined materiality for the Parent Company to be £1.28 million. This is capped at group materiality.

See breakdown below for details of adjustments made

-
- Profit before tax - £19.3m (2017: £53.1m)
>
+ Non - Underlying items - {£8.4m) {2017: £24.1m)
»Loss-on dispesal of iInvestment property and assets held for 5ale - (£0.9m}
~+ Goodwill and intangible asset impairment - (£9.3m)
: » Net release of restrucluring provisions - £3.2m
Adjustments -+ Profit on disposal of subsidiary - £0.6m y
)
« Underlying Profit before Tax' - £25.7m (2017: £20.0m)
» Materlality of £1.28m (2017: £1.45m)
Materiality )
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As part of our audit planning, we reported to the audit committee on 3 August 2018, an initial materiality calculation of £1.30m.
This amount was based on the estimated annualised profit before tax.

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and calculated a reduction from £1.30m to a final figure of £1.28m.
This was primarily the result of estimation used when annualising the materiality base during the planning phase of the audit
when compared to the actual full year results observed.

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to &n appropriately low
{evel the probahility that the aggregate of uncorrected and undelected misstalements exceeds materality.

©On tha basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's cverall control environment, our judgement
was that performance materiality should be set at 50% (2017: 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £641k {2017 £725k).

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is
undertaken based on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set for each component is based
on the relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstaterment at that
component. n the current year, the range of performance materiality allocated to components was 30% to 100% {2017: 30% to
100%) of total parformance materiality or £192k to £641k (2017: £218k to £725k).

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstataments are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them ali uncorrected audit differencas in excess of £64k (2017:
£73k), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that thresheld that, in our view, warranted reporting
on qualitative grounds.

We gvaluate any uncorrected misstatemants against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light
of ather relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

An overview of the scope of our audit

Tailoring the scope

Our assassment of audit risk, our evaluation of materality and our allocation of performance matariaiity determines our audit
scope for each componant within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the financial statements. We
take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the group, the effectiveness of group-wide controls and changes in the
business environment when assessing the leva! of work to be performad at each component.

After assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements we ensured we had adequate quantitative
coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements. Of the 35 reporting components of the Group, we selected 14
components all within the UK, which represent the principal business units within the Group.

Wa performed an audit of the complete financial information of all 14 components (“full scope components”) of which 9 were
selectad based on their size or risk characteristics and the remaining 5 components on the basis that these entities are required
to file statutory accounts in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The full scope companents contributed 94% (2017: 2%} of the Underlying Profit before Tax, 92% (2017: 92%) of External
Revenue and 97% (2017: 97%) of Total Net Assets.

Of the remaining 20 components that together represent 6% of the Group's Underlying Profit before Tax, none are individualty
greater than 2% of Underlying Profit before tax. For these components, we performed analytical review and testing of cansofidation
joumnals and intercompany eliminations to respand to any potantial risks of material misstatement to the Group financial
staternents.
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The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams.

Underlying Profit Before Tax Profit Before Tax

u 94% Full scope u94% Full scope
components components

m 6% Review scope = §% Review scope

Revenue Total Net Assets

= 92% Full scope =97% Full scope
components components

u 8% Review scopse m 3% Review scope

Changes from the prior year :
There were no changes in the approach and no significant changes in terms of coverage year on year.

Involvement with component teams
All audit work performed for the purposss of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team.

Our assessment of the risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financiat
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or notdue to
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in expressing our opinion thereon. We do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committes

Valuation of inventory: Gross
inventory — £393.7 million, {2017:
£410.4 million); Inventory provision —
£9.7 million, (2017: £9.2 million)

The group has a significant value of new and
used vehicle inventory.

Vehicles have the potential to experience
significant value dectines in short time
periods.

Value volatility is a response to market
conditions impacting demand and is deemed
a higher risk in relation to used, demanstration
and pre-reg vehicle inventory.

The valuation of vehicle inventory is subject
to significant judgement. Therefare, there is a
risk that inventory is misstated.

Refer to Accounting poficies {page 81);
Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (page 97) and Note 18 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements
(page 113)

We understood the method applied by
management in performing its inventory
provisioning calcutation and walked through
the controls over the process.

We recalculated management's provision
and agreed all vehicle prices included through
to third party independent market values
(CAP). This provides a base value for all
vehicles at the year end date. This is
compared to the current camying value of the
vehicles in order to calculate an estimated
provision figure for used vehicles. Higher
provisions are made against demonstration
and pre-reg vehicles using historic
experience adjusted for current market
conditions.

We performed Analylical Review of the leval
of provision held to identify any significant
provisions on a particular vehicle type or
brand in the portfolio. A particular focus was
given in this area to used, demonstration and
pre-reg vehicles.

We evaluated the accuracy of the provision
in prior periods to assess management’s long
term forecasting ability and compared the
post year end utilisation of the provision in the
current year to the comparable period in the
prior year.

We performed full scope audit procedures
over this risk area in 14 full scope locations,
which covered 87.1% of the risk amount,
Further, as the inventory provision is a single
calculation based on inventory across all
locations our procedures covered the
inventory provision for all components.

QOur audit procedures indicate
that the provision is consistent
with prior years and that it is
based on reasonable
assumptions regarding the
underlying axposures in the UK
used car market.

We consider the provision to be
within an approprate range.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Assessment of the carrying value of
goodwilll and other intangible assets:
£112.2 million, (2017: £121.6 milllon)
The group has a significant value of goodwill
that has arisen from acquisitions as well as
other intangible assets in the form of franchise
agreements.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units
{'CGUs’) groupad by manufacturer brand.

A number of brands have experienced
challenging trading conditions driving poor
financial performance. Management have
recorded an impairment charge of £9.3 million
in the year in relation to BMW/Mini (£8.4m)
and Nissan (£0.9m).

There is a risk that these CGUs may not
achieve the anticipated financial performance
to support their camrying value, leading to an
impairment charge that has not bean
recognised by management.

Significant  judgemsnt is required in
forecasting the future cash flows of each CGU
due to the current conditions in the
automotive market, together with the rate at
which they are discountad.

Refer to Accounting policies (page 79);
Significant accounting judgements and
estimatas (page 36) and Note 15 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements
{page 108)

We understood the method applied by
management in performing its impairment
test for each of the relevant CGUs and
walked through the controls over the process.

We have reviewed the rationale in respect of
the allocation of goodwill to identified CGU's.

For all CGUs we calculated the degree to
which the key inputs and assumptions would
need to change before an impairment was
triggered or where the currently calculated
impairment would be materially adjusted, and
considered the tikelhood of this occurring. We
performed our own sensitivities on the
group's forecasts and determined whether
adequate headroom rernained.

For CGUs where management identified
impairment, there was avidence of indicators
of impaimment or low levels of headroom exist
we performed detailed testing to critically
assess and commoborata the key inputs to the
valuations, including:

« Analysing the historical accuracy of
budgets to actual results to determine
whether forecast cash flows are reliable
based on pasl experience;

+ Comuborating the discount rate by
abtaining the underying data usedin the
calculation and benchmarking it against
market data and comparable
organisations; and

~ Validating the growth rates assumed by
comparing them to either economic and
industry  forecasts or  detailed
management action plans; and

«  Applying sensitivities to assumptions and
recalculating headroom.

We assessed the disclosures in Note 15
against the requirements of IAS 36
Impairment of Assets, in particular in respect
of the reqguirement to disclose further
sensitivities for CGUs where a reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would
cause an impaiment.

We have performed full scope audit
procedures over this risk area in all relevant
statutory locations, covering 100% of the risk
amount. We have performed specified
procedures to identify any indicators of
potential impairnent of intangible assets, and
determined the impact of these indicators
where such circumstances arose.

We are satisfied that group
goodwill and intangible assets
have been correctly assessed
for impairment, based on
appropriate allocation to CGU's
and the impaimment charge in
the year is appropriate.

Management describes these
sensitiviies appropriately in the
goodwill and intangibles note to
the group financial statements,
in accordance with 1AS 36.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communlcated to the
Audit Committee

Misstatement of provisions and head
office accruals: £33 million,
(2017: £43.7 miilion)

The nature of the group's system architecture
and individual site accounting functions
results in the requirement far provisions and
certain accruals to be maintained in entities
accounted for by the head office function,
primarily in relation to propserty and in respect
of the participation in a defined benefit
pension scheme,

Management has to apply judgement in
assessing provisions and demonstrate
diligence In identifying required accruals held
in respect of individual sites and for the group
as a whole. Given this judgement and
complicated systermn architecture, there is a
risk that provisions and head office accruals
ara misstated.

Refer to Accounting policies (page 85) and
Note 24 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (page 116)

We understood the group's process for
determining the completeness  and
measurement of provisions along with
management's controls associated to the
Process.

We assessed the lavel of provisions and
challenged management’s judgments in
relation to the recognition requirements of IAS
37. We referred to pre and post year end third
party evidence where appropriate to validate
the existence and valuation of provisions and
head office accruals.

As part of our procedures designed to
address the risk of managemsnt override of
controls we reviewed joumat postings related
to provisions and head office accruals to
identify significant releases and postings
around the year end, which may be indicative
of management overide.

Knawledge of the sector and the company’s
operations was utilised to identify any new
provisions that in our professional judgement
would be considered unusual.

We bhave performed full scope audit
procedures over this risk area in all relevant
statutory locations, which covered 100% of
the risk amount.

We consider the provisions and
head office accruals to be within
an appropriate range.

The balance in respect of
property provisions has fallen in
the year from £6.4m to £1m and
pensicn liability of £5.6m was
setled post year end. As a
result, we consider the lavel
of management judgement
required relating to provisions is
now lower than in prior years.
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Key observations
communicated to the

Risk Our response to the risk Audlt Committee

Revenue recognition: £2,187 million, We understcod the business's revenue | Based on the procedures

{2017; £2,269 million), including
manufacturer’s rebates and bonuses:
£122.9 milllon (2017: £121.2 million)
The maijority of the group's sales arangements
are generally straightforward, being on a point
of sale basis where vehicles are handed over to
customers or servicing takes place at an agreed
point in time, requiring little judgement to be
exercised.

There is a natural pressure on the group o meet
expectations and targets. Employee reward and
incentive schemes based on achieving revenue
targets may also create pressure to manipulate
revenue transactions.

There is a risk that management may override
controls to intentionally misstate revenue
transactions and bonuses within cost of sales.
This could be either through the judgements
made in estimating manufacturer rebates and
bonuses or by recording fictitious revenue
transactions across the business.

Refer to Accounting policles (page 85) and
Note 5 of the Consolldated Financial Statements
(page 98)

recognition policy and how this was applied
including the relevant controis operating in
respect of the recognition of revenue and the
aliocation of manufacturer bonuses and rebates.
As part of our overali revenue recognition testing
we used data analysis tools on £2.16 billion
(98.7%) of revenue from continuing operations
in the year to test the comelation of revenue to
cash receipts to verify the occurmence of revenue.

We reviewed revenue by dealership and
considered margins in comparison to prior year
and similar dealerships in order to identify
unusuat changes in performance, material
increases in revenue recognised or increased
margins which may indicate an overstatement
of manufacturer rebates or bonuses.

We performed cut-off testing for a sample of
revenue transactions around the period end
date, to check that they were recognised in the
appropriate period.

Other audit procedures designed to address the
risk of management overide of controls
included joumnal entry testing, applying particular
focus fo the manual entries associated to
revenue accounts,

We discussed key contractual arrangements
with management and obtained retevant
documentation, including in  respect of
manufacturer rebate and bonus arangements
to ensure the accuracy of accrued rebates and
bonuses at the year end.

Where rebate arrangements existed we
reviewed contracts, recalculated rebates and
agreed values to past year end credit notes and
cash receipts. We performed analysis over
changes to prior period rebate estimates to

challenge assumptions made, including
assessing estimates for evidence of
management bias.

We reviewed management's assessment of the
impact of IFRS 15 on revenue reccgnition,
including the recognition criteria under the
five-step model.

In addition, we assessed the disclosures against
the requirements of IFRS 15 and benchmarked
against disclosures issued by competitors.

We performed full scope audit procedures over
revenue far the 92% of revenue within full scope
components and our neview procedunes obtained
a further 8% coverage over revenue recognised
in relation to review scope compenents,

performed, including those in
respect of manufacturer rebates
and bonuses, we are satisfied
that the revenue was
appropriately recognised during
the year.

There have been no changes to key audit matters in the current year.
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Qur opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

= theinformation given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable lega! requirements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

ISAs (UK and We are required to report to you if we identify material misstatements in the Strategic | We have no
Ireland) reporting | Report or Directors’ Report in light of the knowladge and understanding of the group | exceptions to report.
and parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit.

Companles Act We are required to raport to you if, in cur opinion: We have no

2008 reporting +  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or exceptions to report.

retums adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited
by us; or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and retumns; or

*  perain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our
audit.

Other Informatlion
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 4 to 61, other than the financial
statements and our auditor's report therean. The directors are responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated
in this repart, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, cansider
whether the ather information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit ar
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we
are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. if, based on the wark we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are requirad to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set aut on page 61, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the praparation of financial statements that are free from material misstaterment,
whether due to fraud or efmor.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent company’s ability ta continue
as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concemn basis of accounting

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group ar the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic attemative
but to do so,
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in acoordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or emror and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a bady, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2008, Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's
website at https://iwww.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

—
/{’ v %ufj L
Nigel Meredith (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

Birmingham
12 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Non- Non-
Undarlying underlying Underlying underlying
Items items Total items items Total
2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 E'000 £'000 £'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 5 2,186,887 - 2,186,887 2,231,979 - 2,231,979
Cost of sales (1,831,210} - (1,931,210) { (1,973,678) - (1,973,678)
Gross profit 255,677 - 255,677 258,304 - 258,301
Net operating expenses (223,648) (6,963) (230,611) (225.421) (12,783) (238,204)
Qperating profit 32,029 {6,963) 25,066 32,880 {12,783) 20,097
Net finance costs 11 (6,362) - (6,362) (7.519) - (7,519)
Profit before taxation 6 25,667 (6,963) 18,704 25,361 (12,783) 12,578
Taxation 12 {4,395) (380) (4,775) (4,554) 1,474 {3,080)
Profit from continuing
operations after tax 21,272 (7,343) 13,929 20,807 {11,309) 9,498
Discontinued operations
Profit from discontinued
operations after tax 8 - 588 589 2,990 36,851 39,841
Profit for the year 21,212 (6,754) [ 14,518 23,797 25,542 49,339
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 21,272 (6,754) 14,518 23,818 25,542 49,360
Non-controlling interests - - - (21) - (21)
21,272 (6,754) 14,518 23,797 25,542 49,339
Total comprehenslve
income for
the year net of tax 21,272 (6,754) 14,518 23,797 25,542 49,339
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 21,272 (6,754) 14,518 23,818 25,542 48,360
Non-controling interests - - - 21} - {21y
21,272 {6,754) 14,518 23,797 25,542 49,339
Earnings per share (EPS})
attributable to equity
shareholders of the parent
From continuing operations:
Basic 13 27.4 - 17.9 268 - 12.3
Diluted 13 265 - 17.3 26.0 - 1.9
From continuing and
discontinued operations:
Basic 13 274 - 18.7 308 - 63.8
Biluted 13 26.5 - 18.1 29.8 - 61.7
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2018

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Gaodwili and other intangible assets 15
Property, plant and equipment 16
Investment property . 17
Deferred tax asset 25
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories 18
Trade and other receivables 19
Cash and cash equivalents 20
Assets classified as held for sale 21
Total current assets
Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 23
Trade and other payables 22
Provisions 24
Deferred tax liabilities 25
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 23
Trade and other payables 22
Provisions 24
Current tax liabilities .
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Shareholders' equity
Share capital 28
Share premium 28
Share-based paymenis reserve 28
Own shares reserve 28

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share of equity atiributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
112 202 121,596
155,758 142,428
2,590 2,590

- 39
270,550 266,653
384,005 401,260
79,682 92,141
1,174 4,867
797 750
465,658 499,018
736,208 765,671
5,665 6,466
5,596 4,281

- 4,015
20,787 20,448
32,048 35,210
641 642
493,859 527,614
7.926 8,815
1,345 2,180
503,772 539,251
535,820 574,461
200,388 191,210
49,834 49,531
10,672 19.672
1,570 2,608
129,312 119,399
200,388 191,210
200,388 191,210

The consolidated financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings plc were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on

12 March 2019.
Daksh Gupta Richard Blumberger

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial O%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018

MNote

Balance at
t January 2017

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive
income

Transactions with
owners

Dividends paid 14
Share-based
payments charge 29

Balance at
31 Dacember 2017

Change in accounting
policy 3
Restated balance at

1 January 2018

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive
income

Transactlons with

owners
Dividends paid 14
I1ssue of share

capital 28
Exercise of share

options 29
Share-based

payments charge 29

Acquisition of non-
controlling interast
in subsidiaries 33

Balance at
31 December 2018

Equity
Share- attributable
based Own to owners Non-
Share Share paymants shares Retained of the controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings parent Interests aquity
£000 £'000 £'000 €000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
49,531 19,672 1,869 - 74,566 145,638 21 145,659
- - - - 49,360 48,360 (21) 49,339
- . - - 49,360 49,360 (21) 49,339
- - - - (4,527) (4,527) - (4,527
- - 739 - - 739 - 739
49,531 19,672 2,608 - 119,399 191,210 - 191,210
- - B - {76) (76) - {76)
49,531 18,672 2,608 - 119,323 191,134 - 191,124
- - - - 14,518 14,518 - 14,518
- - - - 14,518 14,518 - 14,518
- - - - (4,983) (4,983) - (4,983)
303 - - (303} - - - .
- - (1,567) 303 504 {760) - (760)
- - 529 - - 529 - 629
- - - - (50} (50} - (50)
49,834 19,672 1,570 - 129,312 200,388 - 200,388




Marshall Motor Holdings ple | Annual Report & Accounts 2018

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Operating profit

— continuing operations

— discontinued operations
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation
Share-based payments charge

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale

Loss on disposal of proparty plant and equipment

Loss on impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
Loss on impairmeant of property, plant and equipment

Loss on disposal of investment property
Impairment of invastment

Profit on disposal of subsidiary

Cash flows from operating activities

Dacrease/(increase) in inventories

Decrease in trade and other receivables
(Decrease)increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease)_lincrease in provisions

Total cash flows generated by operations

Tax paid

Interest paid

Net cash Inflow from operating activities
Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant, equipment,
leased vehicles and software

Net purchase of investmant property
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

Acquisition of non-contrailing interast in subsidiaries

Net cash flow from sale of discontinued operation

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment and leased vehicles

Note

15116
29

15
16

24

1

15/16

Proceeds from disposal of assets classified as held for sale

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Dividends paid

Settiement of exercised share awards

Net cash outflow from firancing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at year end

14

20

2018 2017
£'000 £000
25,066 20,097
589 41,137
9,327 25,183
732 739
(268) -
67 1,085
9,302 -
87 945
1,146 -
- 10
{589) (38,664)
45,459 50,532
17,255 (21,223)
12,383 450
(33,699) 33,703
{4,904) 6,138
36,494 69,600
(5,231) {7.443)
(6,362) {8,099)
24,901 54,058
{22,526) (57,549)
(1,146) -
- {(77)
{50) -
589 44,695
274 11,985
1,018 -
(21,841) (946)
30,000 41,778
{30,802) (85.579)
(4,983) {4,527)
(968) -
{6,753) {48,328)
{3,693) 4,784
4,867 83
1,174 4,867




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Net Debt Reconciliation
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Note
Reconciliation of cash flow to movement in net debt
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Proceeds from drawdown of RCF ‘ 23
Repayment of drawdown of RCF 23
Proceeds of asset backed borrowings (Discontinued) 23
Repayment of asset backed borrowings (Discontinued) 23
Repayment of other borrowings
Repayment of bank overdraft
Repayment of debt with acquisitions
Repayment of derivatives with acquisitions
(Increase)/dacrease In net debt
Opening net dabt
Net debt at year end

Net debt at year end conslists of:

Cash and cash equivalents 20
Loans and borrowings 23
Closing net dabt

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
(3,693) 4,784
(30,000) (10,000)
30,000 45,000
- (31,778)

- 68,185

802 2,791

- 10,825

. 25,705

. 1,258
(2,891} 116,770
(2,241) (119,011)
(5,132) (2,241)
1,174 4,867
(6.306) (7.108)
(5,132) (2,241)




Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Presentation of the financial statements

General information

Marshall Motor Holdings ple {the Company) is incorporated and resident in the United Kingdom. The Company is a public limited
company, limited by shares, whose shares are listed on the Altemative investment Market (AIM) of the London Stock Exchange.
The Company is registered in England and Wates under the Companies Act 2006 (registration number 02051461) with the
address of the registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY, United Kingdom.

The financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings plc were authorised far issue by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2019,
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with Internationa!l Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and in accordanca with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to entities reporting under [FRS.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (togsther “the Group"); a schedule
of all subsidiaries is contained in Note 6 'Investments in Subsidiaries’ of the Company financial statements {page 139). The
consolidated financial statements have bean prepared under the historical cost convention as medified by the revaluation of
investment properties and assets held for sale.

During the year the Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 40 Investment Properties, the amendments to IFRS 2 Share
Based Payment Transactions as well as the following new standards IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Full details of the impeact of adoption are set out in Note 3 'Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures’,

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Sterfing which is both the functional currency of the Group's subsidiaties
and presentational currency of the Group. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000} except where otherwise
indicated.

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concem basis. Aftar making appropriate enquiries, the Direclors
have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for at least one year from the date that these consolidated financial statements are signed. For these reasons they
continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors have considered the future prospects and performance of the Group including: business plans, impact of
acquisitions, future cash flows and availability of core and auxiliary financing facilities.

2. Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
retums from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: a} power over the investee (j.e., existing rights that give
it the cutrent ahility to direct the relevant activities of the investee); b) exposure, or rights, to variable retums from its invelvement
with the investee; and c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its retums.

In assessing contro! potentiat voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Generally, there

is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control detailed above.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial information of subsidiaries is included in the consolidated financial information from the date that control commences
untl the date that control ceases. Assasts, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consalidated financial statements from the date tha Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Whan the Group losses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assels {including goodwill), liabilities, nan-controlling
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained
is recognised at fair value.

Transactlons eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are efiminated in
preparing the consolidated financial information. Losses are eliminated in the same way as gains but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

Subslidiary audit axemption

The consolidated financial statements include the results of all subsidiary undertakings owned by the Company as kisted in Note 6
‘Invastments in Subsidiaries' on page 139 of the Annual Report.

Certain of the Group's subsidiaries, listed below, have taken the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 Decembar 2018
by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006. in order to allow these subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, the parent company,
Marshall Motor Holdings ple, has given a statutary guarantee of all the outstanding liabilities as at 31 Dacember 2018 of the
subsidiaries listed below.

The subsidiaries which have taken an exemption from audit for the year ended 31 Drecember 2018 by virtue of s479A of the
Companies Act 2006 are:

lim Bnnton Cars Limited {reg no. 01041301) 5.G. Smith (Motors) Limited {reg no. 00287378}

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited (reg no. 04174004} 8.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited (reg no. 00648395)
CMG 2007 Limited (reg no. 06275636) S.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Limited (reg no. 00581710)
S.G. Smith Automoetive Limited (reg no. 00622112) S.G. Smith {Motors) Crown Paint Limited (reg no. 00581711)
Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP (reg no. OC329331)  S.G. Smith {Motors) Sydenham Limited (reg no. 00660066)
Astle Limited (reg no. 01114983) Prep-Point Limited (reg no. 00660067)

Crystal Motor Group Limited (reg no. 04813767) 5.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited (reg no. 01794317)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transfarred, the liabllities incurred to the former ownars of the acquiree and the equity
interasts issued by the Group. The consideration transfarred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subseguent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent setlernent is accounted for within equity.

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and are excluded from underlying profit before tax.

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are atiributed to the identifiable assets and liabilties and contingent liabilities unless
the fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the value is subsumed into goodwill. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that meet the recognition criteria under IFRS 3 Business
Cornbinalions are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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Business combinations (continued)

Non-controfling Interests

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proporticnate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Measurement period adjustments

The Group assesses the fair value of assets acquired and finalises purchase price allocation within the measurement period
following acquisition and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. This includes an exercise to evaluate other material
separately identifiable intangible assets such as franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.

Tha finalisation of purchase prica allocations may resultin a change in the fair value of assets acquired. In accordance with IFRS
3 Business Combinations measurement period adjustments are reflected in the financial statements as if the final purchase
price allocation had been comptleted at the acquisition date.

Goadwlli

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of; the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Where the fair value of the consideration received is less than the fair value of the acquired net assets, the deficit is recognised
immediately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as a bargain purchase. Goodwill is capitalised and subject
to an impairment review at least annually and is caried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impaimment losses on
goodwili are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, when acquired separately from a business combination, include computer software and licences. Cost
comprises purchase price from third parties and amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the assets’ expected
economic lives, which varies depending on the nature of the asset. Licenses are amortised over the langth of the licence and
software is amortised between 3-5 years.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination include franchise agreements, favourable leases and arder backlog.
These items are capitalised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained
through contractual or other legal rights and if its fair value can be measured reliably on initial recognition. Such assets are stated
at fair value less accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

* Favourable leases - 3 years
»  Order backlog - as the orders are fulfilled
« Franchise agreements - indefinite life, not amortised.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful economic life are tested annually for impairment. Amortisation is included within net
operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Property, plant and equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and less any recognised impairment
loss. Costincludes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs atributable to bringing the asset to its working condition
for its intended use. When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives those components are

- acoounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Subsequent costs are included in the assef's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropnate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
itern will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably,
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Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Depreciation is charged to write assets down to their residual values over their estimated useful ecanomic lives. Depreciation is
charged on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

» Leasehold improvements — shorter of the [ease term or 10 years
*  Fixtunes and fittings — 5 years

+  Computer equipment — 2-§ years

= Freshold and long-leasehold buildings — 50 years

« land — indefinite life, not depreciated

*  Assets under construction — not depreciated.

The residual values and useful economic lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
The gains and losses on disposa! of assets are determined by comparing sales proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Investment property
Inltial recognition

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on formal valuations by extemal, independent valuers performed at least every
three years and updated each year for the Directors' estimate of value. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset dees not differ materially from its carrying amount. Investment property is not
depreciatad. Any surplus or deficit on revaiuation is taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income and is not
included within underlying profit before tax.

Derecognition

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control)
or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference
betwean the net disposal proceeds and the camrying amount of the asse! is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehansive Income in the period of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising
from the derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction
price under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets nol subject to amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. Assets that are subject to amartisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events ar changes
in circymstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recaverable. An impaimmant toss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s camying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an assef’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows {cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Goodwill and franchise agreemants acquired in a business combination are allocated to each of the cash generating units. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash generating units
("CGUs", or graups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The group of CGUs to which
the goodwill and franchise agreaments are allocated (being groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand) represents
the lowest lavel within the entity at which the goodwill and franchise agreements are monitored for intarnal management purposes.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lowsr of cost and net realisable valus. Costs incurned in bringing each product to its present location
and condition are included and cost is based on price indluding delivery costs less specific trade discounts. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling price fess further costs to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or
defective items where appropriate.

Inventories held on consignment are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet with a corresponding liability when the terms
of a consignment agreemant and industry practice indicate that the principal benefit of owning the inventory (the ability to seli it)
and principal risks of ownership (stock financing charges, responsibility for safekeeping and some risk of obsolescence) rest with
the Group. Stock financing charges from manufacturers and other vehicle funding facilities are presented within finance costs.
These charges are expensed over this period that vehicles are funded.

The Group finances the purchase of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facifities provided by various lenders
including the captive finance companies associated with brand partnars. These finance arangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date. Amounts due to finance cornpanies in respect of vehicle funding
are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle financing amangements. Related cash flows are reported within
cash flows from operating activities within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Vehicle financing faciliies are subject to
LIBOR-based (or similar) interest rates. The interest incurred under these arangements is included within finance costs and
classified as stock holding interest.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and cash in hand.
Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their camrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This classification is used where a sale is considered highly probable, Assets held for sale
are measured at the lower of thair carrying arnount and their fair value less costs to sell.

An impairment loss is recognisad for any initial or subsequent write-down of tha asset to fair value less costs to sell. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell of an asssat is recognised where it is not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss which has been previously recognisad. Non-current assats are not depreciated while they are classified as held
for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from other asset classes in the current assets section of the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Financial instruments

Financlal assets

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they criginated. Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods

sold or for services performed by the Group in the ordinary course of business. Credit terms are less than one year, as such they
are recognised as cumrent assets.

All other financial assets are initialy recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
On initial recognition, a financial asset {unless itis a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially measured

at fair value plus, for a financial asset not at fair value reported in profit or [oss, transaction costs that are diractly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant finrancing companent is initially measured at the transaction price.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement

A financial asset is classified either as being; measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income
or through profit or loss), or measured at amortised cost. The dlassification depends on the Group's business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual termis of the cash flows.

All financial assets of the Group are classified as measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for
managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period
following the change in the business madel.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at fair value
reported in profit or loss:

= itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collact contractual cash flows; and
« its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest mathod. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment osses. Interest income, foraign exchange gains and losses and impairments are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-recognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Deracognition

The Group derecegnises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financia! asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Impalrment of financlal assets

The Group recognises loss allowancas for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets measured at amortised cost. Loss
allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECL are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shartfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). An assessment
of the ECL is calculated using a pravision matrix model to estimate the loss rates to be applied to each trade receivable category.
ECL are discounted at the effective interast rate of the financial asset. Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carmying amount of the assets.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-Impaired. A financial
asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occured.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilites as measured at amortised cost. The classification of financial instruments is determined
at initial recognition in accordance with tha substance of the contractual amrangement into which the Group has entered.
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Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilites measured at amortised cost include non-derivative financial liabilities which are heid at original cost, less
amortisation. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise mainly trade and other payables and borowings (see
below for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial liability).

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilites are offset and the net amount presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when, and
only whan, the Group currently has a legally enforcoable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Comparative period financial instruments accounting policy under IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

The Group dlassifies its financial assets as loans and receivablas and has financial liabilities measure at amortised cost. The
classification of financial instruments is determined at initial recognition in accordance with the substance of the contractual
amrangemant into which the Group has entered.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that arise principally through the
provision of services to customers. Thay are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using
the effectiva interest method. They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. Loans and receivables comprise mainly cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables (see
above for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial asset).

impairment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets are recognised when there is objactive evidence (such as significant financial difficulties on the
part of the counterparty, or default or significant dalay in payment) that the Group will be unable to coftect all of the amounts due
under the terms receivable. The amount of such a provision is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present
value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impalred financial asset.

Financial llabllities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amartised cost include non-derivative financial liabilities which are held at original cost, less
amortisation. Financial liabilities measured at amertised cost comprise mainly trade and other payables and borrowings (see
below for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial liability).

Fair value measurement

The Group measures non-financial assets such as invastment properties, at fair value at each balanca sheet date. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ardery transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sefl the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or fiability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group,

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset of liability, assuming that market participants act in their aconomic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial
asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation technigques that are appropriate in the circumstances and far which sufficient data are available to
measure fair vaiue, maximising the use of relevant abservable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Al assets
and liabflities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

» Level 1-Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

+  Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowast leve! input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
incirectly observable

«  Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest lavel input that is significant to the fair value maasurement is unobservable

Far assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial staterments at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measuremnent as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

External valuars are involved for valuation of investment properties and assets held for sale. At each reporling date, the Directors
consider movemenits in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group's
accounting policies. For this analysis, the Directors consider the major inpuis applied in the latest valuation by reviewing the
information in the valuation computation to valuation reports and other relevant documents.

The Directors, in conjunction with the Group's external valuers, alsa compare the change in the fair value of each asset and
liability with relevant externa!l sources to determine whether the change is reascnable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value higrarchy, as explained above.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where fair
values are disclosed, are summarised in Note 27 ‘Fair Value Measurement',

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly atiributable to the issue of new shares are shown in share
premium as a deduction from the procseds.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Group's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Group's shareholders. interim dividends are recognised when they are paid. ‘

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ardinary course of business. These
are classified as current lfabilitias if payment is duae in one year or less. If payment is due at a iater date they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair vaiue and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Trade payables include the liability for vehicles held on consignment with the corresponding asset included within inventories.
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Borrowings

Bomowings comprise asset backed finance, mortgages and bank borrowings; they are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bomowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds {net of
transaction costs) and the redernption value is recognised in the Consolidated Staternent of Comprehensive Income over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts, which form an integral part of the Group's cash management, are included as a component of loans and
borrowings for the purpose of presentation in the Consalidated Statement of Cash Flows. Bank overdrafts are presented within
borrowings in current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Consclidated Balance Sheet when the Group has; a present legal of constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the obligation. if the effect is material provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

Ditapidation provision

The Group operates from a number of leasehold premises and is typically required by the terms of the lease to restore leased
pramises to their original condition on vacation of the premises at the end of the lease term. Estimates of dilapidation costs are
calculated in accordance with the specific remediation requirements stipulated in each lease contract. At the point at which these
remediation costs can be reliably estimated, a provision is recognised.

Restructuring (closed sites) provision

Provisions for restructuning costs are recognised at the paint when a detailed restructuring pfan is in place and the Group has
either started to implement the plan or has announced the main features of the plan to those affected. Restructuring provisions
include only direct expenditures necessarily entailed by the restructuring.

Vacant property provision

The Group recognises pravisions for all vacant leasehold property which the Group has substantially ceased to use for the
purpose of its business and where subletting is unlikely, or would be at a reduced rental compared to that being paid under the
head lease. The provision recognised represents the estimated future unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
leases during the remaining lease term.

Revenue recognition

The Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers using the cumulative effect method; therefore, the
comparative information has not been restated in accordance with the transition exemptions available under IFRS 15. The
following reflects the new revenue recognition policy adopted for the current reporting period onwards.

Revenue is measured baset on the consideration received or receivable as spedified in a contract with a customer and represents
amounts receivable for goads supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. Revenue excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue comprises sales and charges for vehicles sold and services rendered during the
period, including sales to other Marshall of Cambridge {(Holdings) Limited group companies but excluding inter-company sales
within the Group.
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Revenue recognition (continuead)
The Group recognises revenue when it transfars controt ovar a product or service to a customer, as described below.

Sale of motor vehicles, parts and aftersales servicas

The Group generates revenue through the sa'e of new and used motor vehicles and through the provision of aftersales services
in the form of vehicle servicing, maintenance and repairs. The Group recognises revenue from the sale of new and used motor
vehicles when a customer takes possession of the vehicle, at which point they have an obligation to pay in fuil and as such control
is considered to transfer at this point. The Group typically receives cash equal to the invoice amount for maost direct retail sales
to consumers at the time the consumer takes possession of the vehicle. When the consumer has taken out a finance (PCP)
agreement to purchase the vehicle, the Group receives payment from the finance company at the time the consumer takes
possession of the vehicla. Payment terms on sales to corporate customers typically range from 7 to 80 days. The Group
recognises revenue from the pravision of aftersales servicas when the service has been completed, at which point customers
have an obligation to pay in full. The Group typically receives cash equal to the invoice amount for most direct retail sales to
consumers at the time the service has been completed. Payment terms on sales to comorate customers typically range from
3010 60 days.

Sale of warranty products

Income received in respect of warmanty poficies sold and administered by the Group is recognised over the pericd during which
a customer can exercise their rights under the warranty; as such, revenue is recognised over the period of the policy on a straight
line basis. This is not a material revenue stream for the Group.

Commission income

The Group receives commissions when it amanges vehicle financing and related insurance products for its customers to purchase
its products and services, acting as agent on behalf of various finance and insurance companies. Commissions are based on
agread rates.

Where the Group acts as an agent on bahalf of a principal, the assuciated income is recognised within revenue on completion
of the arranging of the various producis (i.e. at the point at which control passes to the customar).

Rantal income

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is recognised in revenue on a straight line basis over the
period of the lease. Rental income is not disclosed separately from revenue from contracts with customers in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive fncome due to the immateriality of this income stream.

Contract liabllities

Where the Group receives an amount of consideration in advance of completion of perfonrmance obligations under a contract
with a customer, the value of the advance consideration is initially recognised as a contact liability in liabilities. Revenue is
subsequently recognised as the performance obligations are completed over the pericd of the contract (i.e. as controt is passed
to the customer). Contract liabilities are presented within trade and other payables in the Consolidated Balance Shest and
disclosed in Note 22 ‘Trade and Othar Payables'.

Coniract costs

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
as an axpense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise would have recognised is one
year or less.

Transaction price allocation to remalning performance obligations

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about remaining
performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue recognised from contracts with customers has been disaggregated into categories that depict how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash fiows are affected by economic factors. This disclosure, as wel! as the reconciliation
between the disaggregated revenue disclosures and the revenue figures disclosed for each of the Group's reportable segments,
is made in Note 5 ‘Segmental Information’,

Comparative period revenue recognition accounting policy under IAS 18 Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or raceivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, retums and value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity, and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue comprises sales and charges for vehicles sold and services rendered during the year including sales to other Marshall
of Cambridge {Haldings) Limited group companies but excluding inter-company sales within the Group. Revenue from the sale
of new and used vehicles is recognised at the point at which a customer takes possession of a vehicle. Revenue in respect of
other services is recognised onca the service has been provided. Income recaived in raspect of wamanty policies sold and
administered by the Group is recognised over the pericd of the policy on a straight line basis.

Where the Group acts as an agent on behalf of a principal, the associated income is recognised within revenue in the pericd in
which the product is sold. Revenue also comprises commissions receivable for ammanging vehicle financing and related insurance
products. Commissicns are based on agreed rates and the income is recognised when the vehicle is recognised as sold.

Rental income

Vehicles leased out under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets are passed to the lessee and hire purchase contracts, are shown as debtors in the Consclidated Balance Sheet at the
amount of the net investment in the lease. The interest elements of the rental obligations are credited to the Consolidated
Staterent of Comprehensive Income over the period of the lease and are apportioned based on a pattemn reflecting a constant
periodic rate of return. Finance lease income is presented in revenue.

Rental income arising from operating leases on vehicles and investment properties is recognised in revenue on a straight line
basis over the pariod of the lease. Vehicles leased out under operating leases are held within property, plant and equipment at
their cost to the Group and are depreciated to their residual vaiues over the terms of the leases. The vehicle assets held for
contract rental are transferred into inventory at their camrying amount when they cease to be leased out and become available
for sale in the Group's ordinary course of business.

Deferred income
Where the Group receives an amount in advance of future income streams the value of the receipt is amortised over the pericd
of the contract as the services are delivered. The unexpired element is disclosed in other liabilities as defemred income.

Supplier income

The Group receives income fram brand partners and cther suppliers. The Group receives income from its suppliers based on
specific agreements in place. These are generally based on achieving certain objectives such as specific sales volumes and
maintaining agreed operational standards. This supplier income received is recognised as a deduction from cost of sales at the
point when it is reasonably certain that the targets have been achisved for the relevant period and when income can be measured
reliably based on the terms of each relevant supplier agreement.

Supplier income that has been eamed but not invoiced at the balance sheet date is recognised in other receivables and primarily
relatas to volume-based incentives that run up to the period end.
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Discontinued operations

Adiscontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of and that either represents a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or
geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary which was acquired exclusively with a view to resalg. The results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Leases

Alease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in retum for a payment or a series of payments, the right to
use a specific asset for an agreed periad of time. Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Group as lessee

Rental charges payable under cperating leases are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a
straight line basis over the lease term.

Group as lessor

Where the Group is a lessor under an operating lease, the asset is capitalised within property, plant and equipment and
depreciated over its useful economic life or is capitalised within investment property. Paymants received under operating leases
are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Where the Group is a lessor under a finance lease, the amount due from the lesses is recogmised as a receivable at the amount
of the Group's net investment in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant pericdic
rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the lease. The Group's finance lease as lessor activates
were discontinued in the prior period following the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settiad, share-based compensation plans through which the Group allows employees
to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market based
parfarmance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair vaiue of share options granted and is recognised as an empioyee expense within underiying earnings, with a
corresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vasting pariod (being the pericd over which all
vasting conditions are to be satisfiad). An award subject to graded vesting is accounted for as though it were multiple, separate
awards, the number of awards being determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in which the cptions vest.

The share-based payment charge is based on the Group's estimate of the numbaer of oplions that are expected to vest. At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance vesting conditicns and service conditions. The Group's remuneration policy gives the Remuneration Committee
discration to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of Group restructurings and reorganisations on incentive
outcomes. The impact of any revisions to original vesting estimates or performance conditions is recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income with a comesponding adjustmant to equity.

Sacial security contributions payab!e in connection with share options granted are considered to be an integral part of the grant
and are, therefore, treated as cash-settled transactions. For cash setiled share-based payments, the Group recognises a liability
far the services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. This liability is re-measured at each balance sheet
date and at the date of setiement, with any changes in fair value recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Whaen options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. These shares are gifted to the Employee Benefit Trust by the
Company at nominal value. The cost of these shares is recognised as a reduction to equity in the own shares reserve. When the
options are exercised and the shares transfemed to the employees, the cost on the own shares reserve is fransferred to equity.

Whaen options issued by the Employee Benefit Trust are exarcised the own shares reserve is reduced and a gain or l0ss is
recognised in reserves based on proceeds less weighted-average cost of shares initially purchased now exercised.

Where shares options are forfeited, effective from the date of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previously
recognised in both the current and prior periods in relation to these options is reversed though the Consoclidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income with a corrasponding adjustment through the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Net finance costs

The Group has no bormowing costs with respect to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, therefore, no borrowing
costs are capitalised. Qualifying itemns of property, plant and equipment are considered fo be those which take a substantial
perind of time to get ready for their intended use. These wouid include assets which are under construction for periods in excess
of a year; the Group's dealetship development programmes are not considered to qualify.

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest payable on bormowings, stock financing charges and other interest.

Finance Income

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested. interest income is recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Incoma as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Taxation

The taxation charge comprises corporation tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Current taxation

Thae current tax payable is based on the Group's taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expenditure that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items of income or expenditure that are never taxabie income or tax deductible expenditure. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
data,

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is the tax expected (o be payable or recoverable on differences between the canying amount of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred taxation
is atcounted for using the balance sheet liahility method.

Deferred tax liabiliies are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differances and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be avaliable against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwil! or from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in & transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred tax liabilities where

the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxatlon (continued)

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that futura taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temparary differences can be utifised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are raviewed at each balance sheet
date and are recuced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The Group's deferred tax balances are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged
or credited in the income statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income
or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset curment tax assets against curment
tax liabilities and when the defarmed tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Pensions
Defined contrihution pension plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the employer/amployee pays contributions into a separate fund managed
and administered by a third party. The employar has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold suffictent assets to pay employeas the benefits relating to their service and contributions in current and prior periods.

The Group operates the Marshall Motor Holdings Defined Contribution Pension Scheme.

Until 3t December 2018, the Group also participated in the defined contribution section of the Marshall Group Executive Pension
Pian (“the Plan") which is operated by Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited acting as principal employer. The Plan also has
a defined benefit section

Where the Group makes employer pension contributions, the Group's contributions to both sections of the Plan are charged to
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Incorne as they become payable.

Defined baenefit pension plans

A defined bensfit plan is a pension plan which defines the amount of pensicn benefit that an employee will receive on retirement,
usually dependant on ane or more factors such as age, years of service and remuneration.

By virtue of histaric employment relationships, the Group was, until 31 December 2018, a participating employer in the defined
bensfit pension section of the Marshall Group Executive Pension Plan (“the Plan"). The Plan is non-secticnalised, therefore, the
assetls of the Plan are not allocatad to or directly associated with individual participating employers of the Plan. There is no
contractual agreemant or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit cost between participating employars in the Plan,
therafore, any contributions would be accounted for as if they were being made to a defined cantribution scheme.

On 31 December 2018, the Group ceased to be a participating employer in the Plan as a result of it no longer employing any
active members of the defined contribution section of the Plan. Accordingly, on 31 December 2018, a debt was triggered under
Section 75 of the Pension Act 1995 an the Group (“Employar Debt"). On 7 Fabruary 2019 the Plan's actuary issued a certificate
for the purposes of Ragulation 5(18) and Regulation 6(8) of the Occupational Pension Schemes (Employer Debt} Regulations
2005 confirming that the Employer Debt at 31 December 2018 was £5,541,000. On 25 February 2019 the Group pald the
Employer Debt (logether with Trustee expenses of £25,000) to the Trustees of the Plan and entered into a Deed of De-Adherence
with the Trustees and Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited confirming the discharge of the Group from the trusts of the Plan
and from any further obligations in relation to the Plan with effect from that date. The Employer debt was utilised against the
provision of £6,000,000 racognised in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Details of the latest actuarial valuation of the Plan are disclosed in the financial statements of the principal employer, Marshall of
Cambridge (Holdings) Limited.
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Alternative performance measures

Certain items recognised in reported profit or loss before tax can vary significantly from year to year, therefore, these create
volatility in reported earnings which does not refiect the Group's underlying performance. The Directors believe that the ‘undertying
profit before tax’ and ‘underlying basic eamings per share' measures presented provide a clear and consistent presentation of
the underlying performance of the Group's on-going business for shareholders. Underlying profit is net defined under IFRS,
therefare, it may not be directly comparable with the “adjusted’ profit measures of other companies.

Non-underying items are defined as follows:

- Acquisiticn costs;

— Profitsflosses arising on closure or disposal of businesses;

— Restructuring and reorganisation costs - these are one-off in nature and do not relate to the Group's underlying performance;

— investment property fair value movements — these reflect the difference between the fair value of an investment property at
the reporting date and its carrying amount at the previous reporting date;

—  One-off tax items and pension charges; and

-  Assetimpairments.

Similarly, the Directors believe that the impact of acquisitions and disposals distort the value of comparative information provided.
Tharefore, the measure of 'like-for-like' financial performance is used to present consistent, comparative information. Results on
a Ylike-for-like’; basis include only the Group's husinesses that have been active and trading for a period of 12 consecutive months.

Business that are excluded from the definition of 'like-for-like’ are those sites that have recently cormmenced operation, therefore
do not have a 12-month trading history, as well as any businesses that were closed and market segments or activities that were
ceased during the current or previous year. See Appendix on page 143 for full details.

3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017.

New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group

The following amendments to existing standards became affectiva on 1 January 2018 and have been adopted in the consolidated
financiat statements for the first time during the year ended 31 December 2018. These have been assessed as having no financial
or disclosure impact on the numbers presented.

+  |AS 40 Transfers to Investment Property (amendments to 1AS 40)
* IFRS 2 Classification and Measurements of Share-based Payment Transactions (amendments 1o IFRS 2)

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurements of Share-based Payment Transactions (amendments to IFRS 2)

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-Based Payment that address three main areas. Thase are: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction, the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net setiement features for withholding tax obligations and accounting where a modification to the terms and
conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity setled.

These amendments are adopted prospectively. Therefore, application of the amendments does not require the restating of prior
periods. .

The Group's accounting policy for cash-settted share based payrments is consistent with the approach darified in the amendments.
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New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group (continved}
IFRS 2 Classification and Measurements of Share-based Payment Transactions (amendments to IFRS 2) {continued)

The Group's equity-setifed share-based payment transactions have net setlement modification features to allow for withholding
tax obligations. The amendment permits the entire transaction to continue to be treated as equity-settied with a debit to equity at
the point of setlement to set up the liability, Any incremental fair value is charged to the Consolidated Statemant of Comprehensive
Income. The Group applied the amendment to the exercises of share awards which took place in April 2018. This was the first
time the Group had utilised the option for net satttement of awards.

The following new standards became effective on 1 January 2018 for the current reporting period. The Group had o change its
acoounting policies and make adjustments as a result of adopting these standards:

» |FRS 9 Financial Instruments
» |FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The impact of the adoption of these standards are disclosed below. The accounting poficies above have been updated to include
the new accounting policies.

Impact on current period of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations
a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group has adopted \{FRS 9 Financial Instruments issused in July 2014 with a date of initial application of 1 January 2018,
The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 38 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
The nature and effects of tha key changes to the Group’s accounting palicies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised
below.

Additionally, the Group adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 39 Financial Instruments. Disclosures that are applied to
disclosures about 2018 but generally have not been applied to comparative information in compliance with IFRS 9.

Classification of flnancial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value reported in
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value reported in profit and loss (FVPL). The classification of financial assets
under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed based on its contractual cash flow
characteristics. IFRS 9 eliminates the previous IAS 38 categories of held to maturity, loans and recsivables and available for
sale. For an explanation of how the Group classifies and measures financial assets and accounts for related gains and lossaes
under IFRS 9, see the 'Financial Assets’ accounting policy.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies for financial liabilities.

Impairment of financlal assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit toss’ (ECL) madel. The new impairment model applies
to financial assets measured at amortised cost. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under (AS 39,

Hedge accounting

IFRS 9 introduces a new general hedge accounting model. The Group has not previously applied hedge accounting under IAS
3%, and has not commenced hedge accounting under IFRS 9; therefare, this change has had no impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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Impact on current period of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)
a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments {continued)

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as described
below:

« Comparalive figures have not been rastated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the
adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised in opening retained eamings and reserves as at 1 January 2018 in accordance
with IFRS 9. Accordingly, the information presented for the year ended 31 December 2017 does not generally reflect the
requiremeants of IFRS 9 and is not comparable to the information presented for the year ended 31 December 2018 under
IFRS 9.

+  The assessment of the determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held has been made on the
basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at 1 Janvary 2018, the date of initial application.

The following table summarises the impact, net of tax, of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves and retained eamings at 1 January
2018.

£'000
Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 - IAS 39 119,399
Recognition of expected credit losses from adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (91)
Deferred tax credit on transition adjustment 15
Opening balance as at 1 January 2018 - IFRS 9 119,323

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial llabllities on the date of Initial application of IFRS9

The following table shows the origina! measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under iIFRS
9 for each class of the Group's financial assets as at 1 January 2018,

Origlinal New

carrying carrying

New amount amount

Qriginat classification classification underlAS 39 underIFRS 9

under IAS 39 under IFRS 9 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost 92,141 92,050
Cash and cash equivalaents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 4,867 4 867

Trade and other receivables that were classified as loans and racsivables under |AS 39 are now classified as at amortised cost.
An increase of £91,000 in the allowance for impairment was recognised in opening retained samings as at 1 January 2018 on
transition to IFRS 9.

There has been no change in the classification and measurement of financial liabilities on the transition to IFRS 8.
b) [IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue fram Contracts with Customers issued in May 2014 with a date of initial application
of 1 January 2018. As a result, the Group has changed its accounting policy for revenue recognition as detailed below.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 using the madified retrospective approach {i.e. by recognising the cumulative effect of initially
applying IFRS 15 as an adjustrnent lo the opening balance of retained eamings as at 1 January 2018), Therefore, the comparative
information has not been restated in accordance with the transition exemptions available under IFRS 15.

No changes to the timing and measurement of revenue across the Group’s revenue streams have been identified on transition

fo IFRS 15.
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New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue, but were not yet effective at the balance sheet date.
These standards have not been applied when preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decamber
2018.

Effective for

accounting periods

Date Issued beginning on or after

IFRS 16 Leases (see below) January 2016 1 January 2019
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty ovar income Tax Treatments June 2017 1 January 2019

impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations

IFRS 16 Leases
Overview

IFRS 16 Leases was issued by the IASB in January 2016 and will replace IAS 17 Leases, [FRIC 4 Determining whether an
arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leasas-incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 is due to take effect for accounting periods comrencing on or after 1 January
2019. The Group wilt adopt the new standard in 2019 and will apply IFRS 18 far the first ime in the interim report for the six
months ending 30 June 2019 and the annual report for the year ending 31 December 2019.

Lassee accounting

IFRS 16 removes the cumrent distinction between operating leases and finance leases and requires that, for all leases, a right-of-
use asset and a financial liability are recognised in the Consclidated Balance Sheet. The asset represeants the right fo use the
leased asset and the financial liability represents the commitments payable under the lease and is substantively different to the
existing accounting.

Operating lease rental charges in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income will be raplaced by interest charges
and depreciation expenses. The timing of the recognition of these lease costs will alse change on adoption of IFRS 16, with
increased costs being recognised in the earier years of the lease due to interest being recognised at a constant rate on the
camying value of the lgase liability.

The classification of lease payments in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows changes from being exclusively operating
cash flows to a combination of operating cash flows (reflecting the interest portion of lease payments) and financing cash flows
({reflecting the principal portion of the lease liability).

Lessor accounting

With the exception of where the Group is an intermediate lessor, the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases does not significantly change
the Group's lessor accounting. Lessors will continue to classify leasas using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and
will continue to distinguish betwaen twa types of leases: operating leases and finance leases. On adoption of IFRS 16, in situations
where the Group is an intermediate lessor, the Group will account for its interests in head leases and sub-leases separately.

Based on initial impact assessments completed to date, the Group anticipates that the majority of properties for which the Group
is an intermediate lessor (i.e. sublets property in which it has an interest as lassee in a head lease} will meet the definition of a
finance lease and will be accounted for and disclosed as such on adoption if [FRS 16. As a result, new finance lease receivables
will be recognised on adoption of IFRS 16.
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Impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued}
Transition

The Group is currently finalising a detailed impact assessment to determine the impact and transition adjustments that the adoption
of IFRS 16 will have on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

As a result of these assessments, the Group currently expects to adopt the standard using the retrospective method. Therefore,
the cumulative impact of adaption will be recognised in retained eamings as of 1 January 2018 and comparatives for 2018 will
be restated.

The Group intends to apply the recognition exemptions available for short-term leases and leases for low-value assets, both of
which exist in the Group’s lease portfolio. The Group also intends to elect to apply the practical expedient permitting IFRS 16 to
be applied only to contracts that were previously identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Therefore, the Group will not
apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were not previousty identified under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 as containing a lease. At this stage, the
Group is not aware of any leases where the definition may differ between IFRS 16 and IAS 17/IFRIC 4.

Estimated financial impact of adoption

Based on analysis of the Group's lease portfolio at the transition date, the Group's assets are expected to increase in the region
of £86,000,000 being the netimpact of the recognition of right-of-use assets, derecognition of long leasehold property costs and
the recagnition of finance lease receivables on subleases. There is expected to be a comesponding approximate £92,500,000
increase in liabilities resuiting from the net effect of recognising leasa liabilities and derecognising vacant property provisions.
The adoption of IFRS 16 is anticipated to result in a raduction of the Group's net assets in the region of £6,500,000.

On restatement, an immaterial reduction to the Group's profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2018 is expected.

The Group continuas to finalise procedures and accounting policy choices required to apply the new requirements of IFRS 16.
As a result, revisions fo the estimated impact of adaption may arise prior to the issue of the 3¢ June 2019 Interim Report and
Accounts. However, at this time, any such revisions are not expected to be significant.

4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the future when applying the Group’s
accounting policies (as detailed in Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’) to datermine the amounts of assels, liabilities, revenue and
expensas reported in the consclidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates.

The Directors regularly review these judgements, estimates and assumptions and any resulting revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised. If the change in estimation impacts future accounting periods, the
revision is recognisad in the current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgements

The accounting judgements and assumptions {(excluding those which also involve estimates which are covered in the key sources
of estimation uncertainty section below) included in the consalidated financial statements which have a material impact on amounts
reported are as detailed below.
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Critical accounting judgements (continued)

Determination of indefinite useful economic life

Goodwill and franchise agreements are intangible assets acquired through business combinations. An asset is considered to
have an indefinite useful economic life if there is no foreseeable limit to the pericd over which the assel is expectad to generate
net cash inflows for the Group. The useful economic life of goodwill and franchise agreemaents is datermined at the point of initial
recagnition. Each franchise agreement is different; each contract baing for varying durations, with varying renewal or termination
options. Previous franchise agreements acquired have historically either been renewed without substantial cost or not had
termination options exercised. This past experience, coupled with the strength of the Group's relationships with brand partners,
determines that these assets have indefinite useful economic lives.

Significant financing components whan determining transaction prices

The nature of the Group’s activities is such that, with the exception of certain commission arrangements, the Group does not
have any contracts where the pericd between the transfer of the premised goods or services to the customer and payment by
the customer exceeds one year. Certain commissions are received in advance of the Group selling the associated finance or
insurance products (as an agent). The advance commissions are paid upfront and typically relate to periods of two to three years,
depending on the arrangement. The advance commissions are recognised in revenue when sales of finance or insurance products
are made. This can be over a year after the receipt of the advance.

Nevertheless, there is not deemed to be a financing component because, being an agency arrangement, the timing of the
recognition of the commission income varies on the basis of the cccurrence of future events that are not substantially within the
contral of the custemer or the Group. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time
value of money.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The accounting aestimates included in the consolidated financial statements which have a material impact on amounts reported
are as detailed below.

Goodwlll and other intanglble asset Impairment

Goaodwill is deemed to have an indefinite useful economic life and is not amortised. As a result, the Group reviews goodwill for
impaimment on at least an annual basis and more frequently where there ara indicators of potential impairment. The impairment
review raquires the value-in-use of each CGU ta be estimated; these calculations are based on a number of assumptions. Areas
of significant judgement include:

the estimation of future cash flows

the sefection of risk and the estimation of risk adjustment factors to be applied to cash flows
the sefection of an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value

the selection of an appropriate terminal growth rate.

The assumptions used in the impairment test are detailed in Note 15(b) ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets'. The assumptions
relating to future cash flows, estimated useful economic lives and discount rates are based on forecasts and are inherently
judgemental. Future events could resultin the assumptions used needing to be revised, changing the outcome of the impairment
test and resulting in impainment charges being recognised.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost and their net realisable value (being the fair value of the motor vehicles less costs
to sell). Fair values are assessed using reputable industry valuation data which is based upon recent industry activity and forecasts.
Whilst this data is deemed reprasentative of the cument value of vehicles held in inventary it is possible that the price at which
the vehicles are actually sold will differ from the vehicles’ industry valuations. Where this is the case, adjustments arise in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on the sale of vehicles held in inventory.

Industry valuations are sensitive to rapid changes in regulatory and market conditions which are difficult to anticipate. In light of
the materiality of the inventory balance in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, this uncertainty is considered to represent a key
source of estimation uncertainty. The inventory provision as at 31 December 2018 represents 2.5% of the gross inventory balance
(2017: 2.2%). A 100bps change in this ratio in 2018 would have changed the charge to the Cansclidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income by approximately £4.1 million (2017: £4.0 million).

Reassessment of previous areas of estimation uncertainty

Fgallowing a review of the Group's sources of estimation uncertainty, it has been concluded that the following are no longer key
areas of estimation that have a significant risk of resulting in a materia! adjustment in the next financial year to the amounts
currently reported. : ‘

Taxation

Following the payment of the settlement in respect of a tax issue inherited on acquisition (see Note 24 'Provisions’), the Group
currently has no material open Income tax issues with the tax authorities. Therefore, estimation uncertainty inherent in the Group's
provisions for uncertain income tax treatments is no longer considered to represent a significant risk of a material adjustment
being required to the carrying amount of either current or deferred tax provisions in subsequent accounting periods.

Where the final tax treatment applied on finalisation of the Group's corporation tax retums differs to the assumptions used when
calculating the amounts currently recognised, these differences impact the current and/or deferrad tax provisions in the period in
which the final tax treatment is determined. No single item is expected to give rise to a material adjustment in subsequent years,
neither are individual differences whan taken in aggregate.

Penslon provision valuation -

As described in Note 32 ‘Pensions', the Group undertook a strategic pension raview in the prior year which resulted in the Group
ceasing to be a participant in the defined benefit section of the Plan in December 2018. Based on the status of discussions as at
31 December 2017, it was reasonably probable that this review would result in the Group ceasing participation in this pension
scheme. Therefore, a provision was recognised for the estimated amount which would become payable in accordance with
Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 were the Group to cease to participate in the Plan (the “Employer Debt").

As a result of ceasing to participate in the defined benefit section of the Plan in December 2018, the Employer Dabt was orystaliised
triggering a forrmal actuarial valuation. Per this valuation the Employer Debt is £5,541,000, such that there is no future estimation
uncertainty.
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5. Segmental information

a) Operating segments — 2018 onwards

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to ba consistent with the internal managemant raporting provided to
the Chief Operating Decision Maker who is responsible for aliocating resources and assessing the performance of the operating
segments. The Group considers the Chief Executive Officer to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker.

The Group has identified its key product and service lines as being its ocperating segments because both performance and
strategic decisions are analysed at this level. The IFRS 8 aggregation criteria have been met as a result of the Group's key
product and service lines sharing commeon characteristics such as; simitar types of customer for the products and services, similar
nature of the product and service offerings, similar metheds used to distribute the products and provide the servicas and similar
regulatory and econcmic environment. As a result of these criteria being satisfied, the Group's operating segments constitute
one reportable segment {retail) and all segmental information has been disclosed as such. The retail segment includes sales of
new and used vehicles, together with the associated ancillary aftersales services of; servicing, body shop repairs and parts sates.

Tha Group has concluded that renta! income arising from investment properties does not meet the quantitative thresholds required
to constitute a repartable segment as defined in IFRS 8. Due to the non-material nature of these amounts, they are combined
with the retail sagment rather than being disclosed separately. As a result, all of the Group’s aclivities are disclosed within the
one reportable segmant — the retait segment.

Geographical information

Revenue eamed from salss is disclosed by origin and is not materially different from revenue by destination: All of the Group's
revenue is generated in the United Kingdom.

Information about reportable segment

All segment revenua, profit before taxation, assets and liabilittes are attributable to the principal activity of the Group being the
provision of car and commercial vehicle sales, vehicle service and other related services.

The following tables show the disaggregation of revenua by major product/service lines for continuing operations:’

Revenue Gross Profit
For the year ended 31 December 2018 £000 mix* £'000 mix
New Car 1,064,830 47.7% 76,349 29.8%
Used Car 520,237 41.2% €6,753 26.1%
Aftersales 246,116 11.1% 112,300 44.0%
Internal f Other (44,296) - 275 -
Total 2,186,887 100% 255,677 100%

Revenue Gross Profit
For the year ended 31 December 2017 £000 mix* £'000 mix
New Car 1,166,471 51.2% 84,086 32.6%
Used Car 869,733 38.2% 59,918 23.2%
Aftersales 243064 10.6% 113,975 44.2%
Internal / Other (47.289) - 322 -
Total 2,231,979 100% 258,301 100%

*mix calculation excludes internal / Other Sales

Prior to the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited, the Group's business was split into two main revenue-generating operating
segments and a third support segment. No significant judgments were made in determining the reporting segments.
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5. Segmental information (continued)

b} Operating segments — prior periods

Retail

The retail segment included sales of new and used vehicles, togather with the associated ancillary aftersales services of; servicing,
bady shop repairs and parts sales.

Leasing

The leasing segment included the leasing of vehicles to end consumers and fleet customers.

Unaliocated

The unallocated segment included the Group's head office and central management functions including; the Board, group finance
functions, the human resources department, the IT department and all govemance and compliance related functions in support
of the wider business, Also included was rental income arising from investment properties.

All segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabilities were attributable to the principal activity of the Group being the
provision of car and commercial vehicle sales, leasing, vehicle service and other related services.

Geographical Information

Revenue eamed from sales was disclosed by origin and was not matenally different from revenue by destination. All of the
Group’s revenue was generated in the United Kingdom.

Information about reportable segments

Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. F

Leasing
Retall (Discontinued) Unallocated Total

For the year ended 31 December 2017 £'000 { £'000 £'000
Revenue
Total revenue 2,231,696 36,969 283 2,268,948
Total revenue from external customers 2,231,696 36,969 283 2,268,948
Depreciation and amartisation {9,190) {4) {27} (9,221)
Segment aperating profit/{toss) 34,714 4,286 (14,617) 24,383
Other income - profit on disposal of subsidiary - 36,851 - 36,851
Net finance costs (6,586) (580) (933) {8,099)

Undarlying profit/{loss) before tax 34,911 3,706 (9,550) 29,067

Non-underlying items (6,783) 36,851 (6,000) 24,068
Profit/(loss) before taxation 28,128 40,557 (15,550) 53,135
Total assets 762,304 - 3,367 765,671
Total iiabilities 537,064 - 37,397 574,461
Additions in the period (Including acquisitions)

Property, plant, equipment and software assets 24,365 34,700 - 59,065
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6. Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging / (crediting):

Depreciation of assets held for contract rental (note 16} {Discontinued)
Depraciation of property, plant and equipment (note 16}

Amartisation of other intangibles (note 15)

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale (note 7)

Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment

Loss on impairment of proparty, plant and equipment (note 16)

Loss on disposal of investment property

Operating lease rentals - property

Operating lease rentals - vehicles and equipment

intangible assets impairment

7. Non-underlying items

Continuing operations

Post-retirement benefits charge

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale

Net releasa/(recognition) of restructuring costs and provisions
Loss on disposal of investment property

Loss on impairment ot gacdwill and other intangible assets

Discontinued operations
Profit on disposal of subsidiary
Non-underlying items

Post-ratirament benefits charge

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
- 15,962
8,975 8,917
352 304
(268) -
67 1,085

87 945
1,146 -
11,363 11,698
1,340 824
9,302 -
2018 2017
£000 £'000
- (6.000)

268 -
3,217 (6,783)
(1,146) -
(9,302) -
{6.963) {12,783)
589 36,851
{6,374) 24,068

See Note 32 *‘Pensions' for further details of the transaction giving rise to the post-retirement benefits charge in the pricr year.

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale

In May 2018, tha Group sold the freehold property classified as held for sale as at 31 Decembar 2017 for a profit of £268,000.

Net releasel{recognition) of restructuring costs and provisions

Restructuring costs during the current year inciude costs incurred as a result of the closure of one of the Group’s franchised
dealerships. The closure arose in the context of the UK wide franchise network review camied out by Vauxhall. Restructuring
costs include vacant property related costs of £154,000, redundancy costs of £280,000 and £252,000 of tangitre asset impairment
lesses and write offs. Also included in the cument year is a £4,160,000 release of vacant property and dilapidation provisions
foliowing the better than expected oxit from lease commitments noted above on premises no longer used by the Group.
£3,234,000 of the release relates to the exiting of a lease through the acquisition and immediate disposal of an investment property.

Restructuring and reorganisation costs in the prior period represent the costs incurred as a result of the closure of five franchised

dealerships and one used car centre.

ber
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7. Non-underlying items (continued)

Loss on disposal of investment property

In December 2018 the Group disposed of the investment property acquired in the year for proceeds of £4,654,000; resulting in
a loss on digposal of £1,146,000. The acquisition and immediate disposal of the investment property pravided the Group with a
better than expected exit from the lease commilment.

Loss on Impairment of goodwlil and other intangible assets
See Note 15 'Goodwill and Other Intangible Assats’ for further details of the transaction giving rise to the loss on impairment of
goodwill and other intangible assets.

Profit on disposal of subsidiary
See Note 8 ‘Discontinued Oparations' for further details of the transaction giving rise to the profit on disposal of subsidiary.

8. Discontinued operations

In November 2017 the Group disposed of Marshall Leasing Limited and its subsidiary (Gates Contract Hire Limited). A retention
of £1,600,000 was withheld in respect of anticipated setiemant of legacy defined benefit pension obligations triggered by the
changs in ownarship of Marshall Leasing Limited. in April 2018, the surplus retention withheld was calculated and returned to the
Group, generating an additiona! £589,000 profit on disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited and its subsidiary.

a) Details of the saie of subsidiary

2018 2017

£'000 £'000
Gross disposal consideration In cash 1,500 42,500
Pension retention (911) (1,500)
Net disposal conslideration In cash 589 41,000
Less carrying value of net assets sold at 24 November 2(17:
— Property, plant and equipment - 78,959
— Deferred tax - 1,547
— Trade and other receivables - 2,510
-~ Bank overdraft - (3,695)
— Trade and other payables _ - (8,120)
— Asset backed borrowings - {68,185)
— Corporation tax - (680}

. 2,336

Galn on sale of subsidiary before Income tax 589 38,664
Transaction costs - (1,813)
Net galin on sale of subsidiary before Income tax 589 36,851
Income tax expense on gain - -
Galn on sale of subsidlary after income tax 589 36,851
Cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary:
Net disposal consideration in cash 589 41,000
Disposal of bank overdraft - 3,695
Net cash flow from sale of discontinued operation 589 44,695
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8. Discontinued operations (continued)

b) Discontinued cash flow information

Net cash Inflow from operating activities

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and software
Proceads from disposal of property, pfant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activitles

Proceeds frorm borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Dividends paid

Net cash outflow frem financing activities

Net dacrease in cash generated by the subsidiary

¢} Discontinued profit before taxation information

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Net operating expenses

Operating profit

Other income - gain on disposal of subsidiary
Net finance costs

Profit before taxation

9. Auditor's remuneration

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group's auditors:

Audit services:

— fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the parent
Company and consolidated financial statements

— audit of Group's subsidiaries

Faes payable to the Company's auditors for other services:

— review of interim condensed consolidated financial statements
Total auditor’s reamuneration

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

16,027
(34,700)
9.474

(25,226)
31,778
(28,108)
{18,712)

(15,040)

(24,239)

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

36,969
(30,159)

6,810
(2.524)

589

4,286
36,851
(580)

589

40,557

2018
£'000

200
78

36

2017
£'000

215
78

36

314

329
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10. Employees and directors

a) Employee costs for the Group during the year

The aggregate remunearation of employees and directors was:

Wages and salaries
Social secunty costs
Other pension costs
Share based payments

Employee costs are included in:

Cost of sales
Net operating expenses

The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:

Retail
Leasing (Discontinued)
Unallocated (Discontinued)

The average number of Group employees excludes temporary and contract staff.

b) Directors’ emoluments

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
114,367 115,905
13,383 13,553
1,999 8,059
732 1,005
130,481 138,522
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
13,505 13,750
116,976 124,772
130,481 138,522
2018 2017
3,749 3,616

- 43

- 264

3,749 3,923

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, their share incentives and pension entilements are set out in the Directors'

Remuneration Report on pages 53 to 60.

c) Key management compensation

The following table details the aggregate compensation paid in respect of key management personnel — which comprises both

senior management who sit on the enlarged operational board and statutory directors.

Wages and salaries
Post-employment benefits
Compensation for loss of office
Share-based payments

Details of the share option schemas are provided in Note 29 ‘Share-Based Payments'.

ped

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
5,249 4,805

179 273

- 52

732 1,005
6,160 6,135
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11. Net finance costs

Interast income on short term bank deposits

Net interest payable on asset backed finance (Discontinued)

Stock financing charges and other interest
Interest payable cn bank borrowings
Nat finance costs

12. Taxation

a) Taxation charge

Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year

Adjustments in respect of prior years

Total current tax charge

Deferrad tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustments in respect of prior years

Total deferred tax charge / (credit) (note 25}
Total taxation charge

income tax axpense is attributable to:
Profit from continuing operations
Profit from discontinued operation
Total taxation charge

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
{13) (11)
- 580
5,395 5,385
980 2,145
6,362 8,099
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
5,106 5,651
(724) 50
4,382 5,701
50 (2.015)
(257) 110
393 (1,905)
4,775 3,796
4,775 3,080
- 716
4,775 3,796

Tha tax charge on discontinued opserations amounting to £nit (2017: £716,000; all relates to tax payable on profit from operations.

o
<
o
)

i
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12. Taxation (continued)

b} Reconciliation of tax charge

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%. The differences are explained below:

2018 2018 2017 2017

£'000 % £'000 %
Profit before taxation 19,293 53,135
Notlonal taxation charge at corporation tax rate
of 19.00% (20417: 19.25%) 3,666 19.00% 10,228 18.25%
Effects of:
Tax effect of items not deductible for tax pumoses’ 2,189 11.35% 630 1.19%
Non-taxabie gain on sale of subsidiary {111} (0.58%) {7,094} (13.36%}
Loss/(profit} on disposal of non-qualifying assets 100 0.52% {145) (0.27%)
Adjustments in respect of prior years (981) (5.08%) 160 0.30%
Dareoognilion‘of brought forward lossas previously recognised 43 0.22% - -
Utilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised - - (31) (0.06%)
Effact of difference between closing deferred tax rate
and current tax rate {131} {0.68%} 48 0.09%
Taxation charge and effective tax rate 4,775 24.75% 3,796 7.14%

1 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes predominantly consist of depreciation charges on non-qualifying assets, the creation of capital los$es, and non-dedudible
amortisation.

The applicable corporation tax rate is calculated at 19% (2017: 19.25%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year. The standard
rate of corporation tax reduced from 20% to 19% on 1 April 2017 and will reduce to 17% on 1 April 2020.

The analysis of the Group’s effective tax rate between underying and non-underlying activities is as follows:

2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017

Non- Non-
Underlylng underlying Total Underlying underiying Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Profit before taxation 25,667 (6.374) 19,263 29,067 24,068 53,135
Taxation 4,395 380 4775 5,270 (1.474) 3,796
Effective tax rate 17.12% (5.96%) 24.75% 18.13% {6.12%) 7.14%
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12. Taxation (continued)

b} Reconciliation of tax charge {continuved)
Non-recurring items

The Group's total effective tax rate for 201 8 of 24.75% was influenced by the impaimment of goodwil] as well as by the non-taxable
gain on disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited in the prior year and profit on dispesal of freehald properties shielded from chargeable
gains. The 2018 underlying effective tax rate of 17.12% is lower than the Group’s expected underlying effective tax rate due to
the impact of substantial credits in raspect of return to provision true-ups resulting from the filing in 2018 of retrospective capital
allowancss claims on the Group's historic capital expenditure. Excluding the impact of these, the underlying effective lax rate
would have been 21.6%.

Tha prior year total effactive tax rate of 7.14% was influanced by the significant non-taxable gain on disposal of a subsidiary, due
to the chargeable gain falling within the substantial shareholding exemption. Excluding this item, the total sffective tax rate for the
year would have been 18.13%.

c) Factors affecting the taxation charge of future years

Future tax charges, and the Group’s effective tax rate, may be affected by factors such as acquisitions, disposals, restructuring
and tax regime reforms.

There have been no changes to the standard rate of corporation tax announced during either 2018 or 2017.

In the budget of 16 March 2016, tha Chancellor of the Excheguer announced a further 4.00% reduction to the standard rate of
corporatian tax which will be applicable in the financiat year beginning 1 April 2020. The Finance Act 2016, which was substantively
enacted whan it received Royal Assent on 15 September 2016, reduced the carporation tax rate to 19.00% with effect fram 1 April
2017 decreasing to 17.00% with effect from 1 April 2020. These changas to the rate of corporation tax will impact the amount of
future cash tax payments for which the Group will be responsible.
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13. Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earings per share are calculated by dividing the eamings atiributable to equity shareholders by the weighted
average number of ardinary shares during the year and the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in the
year after taking account of the dilutive impact of shares under opticn of 2,423,249 at 31 Decembaer 2018 (2017: 2,866,231).

Underying eamings per share are based on basic eamings per share adjusted for the impact of nan-underlying items.

~ From continulng operations

Underlying net profit attributable 1o equity holders of the parent
Non-underlying iterns after tax

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent

From continuing and discontinued operations

Underlying net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-underlying itams after tax

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic EPS
Effact of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted EPS

From continuing operations

Basic underlying earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Diluted underlying earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic underlying earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Diluted underlying earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

2018 2017
£000 £'000
21,272 20,807
(7.343) {11,309)
13,929 9,498
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
21,272 23,797
(6.754) 25,542
14,518] 49,339
2018 2017
Thousands Thousands
77,736 77,393
2,584 2,536
50,320 79,929
2018 2017
pence pence
27.4 26.9
17.9 12.3
26.5 26.0
17.3 11.9
274 30.8
18.7 63.8
26.5 29.8
18.1 61.7
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14. Dividends

Afinal dividend of £3,309,000 (2016: £2,864,000) for the year ended 31 December 2017 was paid in May 2018. This represanted

a payment of 4.25p per ordinary share in issue at that time.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 Dacember 2018 of £1,674,000 (2017: £1,663,000), representing a payment
of 2.15p per ordinary share in issue at that time, was paid in Se_ptember 2018, '

A final dividend of 6.39p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 is to be proposed at the Annual General
Maeting on 21 May 201S. The ex-dividend date will be 25 April 2019 and the associated record date will be 26 April 2019. This
dividend will be paid subject to shareholder approval on 21 May 2019 and these financial stataments do not reflect this final

dividend payable.

15. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Franchise Favourable Order
Goodwlll agreements  Software leases backlog Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

Cost
At 1 January 2017 49,076 72,115 1,079 172 769 123,211
Additions - - 235 - - 235
Additions on acquisition - 22 - - - 22
Write-offs (447) - - - (769) (1.216)
Transfers fram property, plant and equipment - - 57 - 57
At 31 Decamber 2017 48,628 72,137 1,371 172 - 122,309
Additions - - 260 - - 260
At 31 December 2018 48,629 72,137 1,631 172 - 122,569
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2017 - - 376 33 769 1,178
Charge for the year - - 247 57 - 304
Disposals - - - - (769) (769)
At 31 Decemher 2017 - - 623 90 - 713
Charge for the year - - 295 57 - 352
Impairment 9,302 - - - - 9,302
At 31 December 2018 9,302 - 918 147 - 10,367
Nef book value
At 31 December 2017 48,629 72,137 748 82 - 121,586
At 31 Decamber 2018 39,327 72,137 713 25 - 112,202
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15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)
a) Disposals

There were no disposals in 2018.

In November 2017, the decision was mads to close five franchised dealerships and one used car centre, which resulted in
goodwill of £447,000 being writtan off,

b) Impairment testing

For the purpose of impaiment testing, goodwill and franchise agreements are allccated to a cash generating unit ("CGU”"), or to
the smallest group of CGUs where it is not possible to apportion the goodwill or intangible assets at the individual CGU level.
Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for management purposes. Goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations are allocated to CGUs
by datermining which CGU is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.

The Group's CGUs are groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand. The allocation of goodwill and indefinita life
intangible assets to the CGU groups is as follows:

Franchise

Goodwlll  Agreements

£'000 £'000

VW Audi Group 15,523 30,211
BMW/MINI ’ : 1,461 8,345
JaguariLand Rover 8,003 14,358
Mercedes-Benz/Smart 11,182 19,201
Cther 3,158 22

Total 39,327 72,137

Gaoodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable and a potential impairment may ba required. Impairment reviews have been performed
far all groups of CGUs for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Valuation basis

The recoverable amount of the Group's CGUs is determined by reference to their value-in-use to perpetuity calculated using a
discounted cash flow approach, with a pre-tax discount rate applied to the projected, risk-adjusted pre-tax cash flows and terminal
value. Where higher, the fair value of groups of CGUs, less costs of disposal, is taken as the recoverable amount. The fair value
amount is calculated by adding the net assets of each CGU to the estimated goodwill per CGU {budgeted EBITDA multiplied by
a goodwill premium factor). The goodwill premium factor is estimated based on brand premiums paid by our market peers in
recent acquisitions.
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15. Goodwill and other intangible assets {continued)

b) Impairment testing (continued)

Period of spaecific projected cash flows

The value-in-use of each CGU is calculated using cash flow projections for a five-year period; from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2023. These projections are based on the most recent budget which has been approved by the Board, the budget
for the year ending 31 December 2019. The key assumptions in the most recent annual budget on which the cash flow projections
are based relate to expectations of sales volumes and margins and expectations around changes in the operating cost base.
The assumptions made are based on past experience, adjusted for expected changes, and external sourcas of information. The
cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain tha Group’s dealership network, but exclude any grawth
capital expenditure projects to which the Group was not committed at the reporting date.

Growth rates, ranging from -2% to 5% (2017; 5%) have been used to extrapolate cash flows for a further four years beyond
budget, through to 31 December 2023. Growth rates for the BMW/Mini CGU have been used to extrapolate budgeted cash flows
from 2021 onwards. These growth rates reflect the products and markets in which the relevant CGU, or groups of CGUs, operate.
Growth rates are intemal forecasts based on both internal and external market information.

Discount rate

The cash flow projections have been discounted using a rate derived from the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost of capital
adjusted for industry and market risk. The discount rate used is 10.5% (2017: 10.4%).

Terminal growth rate

The cash flows after the forecast period are extrapolated into the future cver the useful economic life of the group of CGls using
a steady or declining growth rate that is consistent with that of the product and industry. These cash flows form the basis of what
is refarred to as the terminal value. The growth rate to perpetuity beyond tha initial budgeted cash fiows applied in the value-in-
use calculations to arrive at a terminal value is 2% (2017: 2%).Terminal growth rates are based on management's estmate of
future long-term average growth rates.

Conclusion

At 31 December 2018 the Group recorded impairment charges totalling £9,302,000; of which £8,388,000 is in respect of
BMW/MINI and £914,000 is in respect of Nissan. The impairments recorded are a conseguence of the continuing deterioration
in market conditions in these brands, resulting in revised assumptions around future profitability and growth rates. The impairment
charge is recorded within net operating expenses in non-underlying items in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive
Incame.

Sensitivity to changes In key assumptions

Impaimment testing is dependent on estimates and judgements, particularly as they relate to the forecasting of future cash flows,
the discount rates selected and expected long-term growth rates.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the impairment tests using two scenarios; firstly, where the discount rate
increases by 200 basis points, secondly, where cash flows in 2019 are based on a 1% decline in current year performance.
Under both seenarios, all groups of CGUs not currently subject to impairment continue to have adequate headroom to support
the carrying value of associated goodwill and other intangible assets. Both scenarios would increase impaimment of the BMW/MINI
CGU by 53% and 8% respectively. Howaver, only the second scenario affects the recoverable value of the Other CGU, increasing
the impairment by 46%.
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16. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold :

and long Assets

leasehold held for Assets

land and Leasehold Plant and contract under

buildings Improvement aequipment rental construction Total

£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost ‘
At 1 January 2017 108,487 15,015 35,126 101,944 7,022 267,594
Additions at cost 47 829 5,206 34,700 18,016 58,798
Additions on acquisition - - 32 - - 32
Disposals (2,485) (673) (2,734) {23,148) - (29,040)
Disposal of subsidiary - (42) (45) (113,496) - (113,583)
Transfers 16,052 2,555 1,308 - (19,915) -
Transfers to software - - (349) - - (349)
Transfers to assets held
for sale {750) - . - - {750}
At 31 December 2017 121,351 17,684 38,544 - 5123 182,702
Additions at cost 1,687 523 3,410 - 17,810 23,530
Disposals (205) {1.040) (5,277) - - (6.522)
Transfers 5,143 4,873 3,232 - (13,248) -
Transfers to assets held
for sale (797) - - - - {797)
At 31 December 2018 127,179 22,040 39,909 - 9,785 198,913
. Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 8,996 3,383 21,146 32,258 - 65,783
Charge for the year 1,434 1,913 5,570 15,962 - 24 879
Disposals {53) {608) (2.083) {13,673) - (16.417)
Disposal of subsidiary - (42) (35) (34,547) - (34.624)
{mpairment 194 332 419 - - a45
Transfers {405) 138 267 - - -
Transfers to software - - (292) - - (292)
At 31 December 2017 10,166 5,116 24,992 - - 40,274
Charge for the year 1,718 1,802 5,455 - - 8,975
Disposals . {20%) {1,076) (4,900) - - {6.181)
Impairment - - 87 - - 87
Transfers - 324 (324) - - -
At 31 December 2018 11,679 6,166 25,310 - - 43,155
Net book value
At 31 Decamber 2017 111,185 12 568 13,552 - 5,123 142,428
At 31 Decambar 2013 115,500 15,874 14,599 - 9,785 155,758

As at 31 Decembar 2018, the Group had capital commitments totalling £20.8m (2017: £7.7m) relating to ongoing construction

projects.
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2018

Transfers to assets held for sale

In Qctober 2018, the Group ceased commercial activities at ane if its freehold properties. As the property was no longer used for
the commercial activity of the business and is actively being marketed for sale, the asset has been transferred to assets classified
as held for sale (see Note 21 ‘Assets Classified as Held for Sale’).

Impalrments

The impairment loss of £87,000 represents the net of £101,000 write-down of certain property, plant and equipment in the
franchised dealership that closed in October 2018 and £14,000 impairment reversal of certain property, plant and equipment in
a franchised dealership that closed in December 2017. This loss was recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income in net operating expenses.

2017

Transfers to software

On integration of tha Ridgeway businesses into the Group, certain items of software were identified in the tangibte fixed assets
records of the racently acquired businesses. These software assets have been reclassified from property, plant and equipment
to intangible assets (see Note 15 'Goodwill and Other Intangible Assats') consistant with the Group's accounting policies.

Transfers to assets held for sale

In December 2017, the Group ceased commarcial activities at one if its freehold properties. As the property was no longer used
for the commaercial activity of the business and is being marketed for sale, the asset has been written down to its fair value and
transferred to assets classified as held for sale (sae Note 21 ‘Assets Classified as Held for Sale').

Impalrments

The impairment loss of £787.000 represented the write-down of cartain property, plant and equipment in the five franchised
dealerships and one used car centre which closed in November 2017 This loss was recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprahensive Incame in net operating expenses.

17. Investment property

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Fair value at 1 January 2,590 2,590
Additions 5,800 -
Disposals {5.800) -
Fair value at 3t December 2,590 2,590

See Note 7 'Non-undarying items’ for details of additions and disposals in the year.

investment properties are stated at fair value; a formal valuation is camied out at least every three years by a Chartered Surveyor
on an open market value basis. The most recent full valuation of investmaent properties was camied out as at 31 December 2016
by Raplays, Chartered Surveyors. The Group's leasahold investment property was valued on a fair value basis as at 31 Decembar
2016 at £590,000 and the Group’s freehold investment property on a fair value basis as at 31 December 2016 at £2,000,000.
A revaluation surplus of £670,000 was taken to the Consolidated Staternent of Comprehensive Income in 2016.

No formal valuation was required as at 31 December 2018. The Directars assessed the valuation of property based on a desktop
review which was camied out by Rapleys, Chartered Surveyors as at 13 November 2017; no indicators were identified which
signatled a material change in the fair value of investmant properties, and as such, investmant properties continue {0 be held at
their 31 December 2016 value.

The properties are rented out to third parties. Rental incorne of £266,000 was recognised in 2018 {2017: £283,000). There are
ne restrictions on the Group’s ability to dispose of the invesiment properties or use any funds arising on disposal. There are no
contraclual commitments for further development of the investment properties.

b
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18. Inventories

2018 2017

£'000 £'000
Stock held for resale 393,667 410,423
Less: Provisions (9,662) (9,163)
inventories ' 384,005 401,260

Stock held for resale include new and used vehicies held for resale, vehicle parts and other inventory. As at 31 December 2018
£370,823,000 (2017: £380,641,000) of finished goods are held under vehicle financing arrangements (see Note 22 ‘Trade and
Other Payables’).

Inventory recognised in cost of sales during the year as an expense was £1,885 million (2017: £1,943 million).

49. Trade and other receivables

2018- 2017

£'000 £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 42 644 51,669
Other receivables 29,235 31,613
Amounts due from related undertakings (note 31) 26 -
Prepayments 7.777 8,859
Trade and other receivables 79,682 92,141

More infarmation in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 26 'Financial Instruments — Risk Management'.

All financial assets included within trade and other receivables are held at amortised cost. The camying amount of trade and
other raceivables approximates fair value.

Other receivables include accrued supplier income of £11,940,000 (2017: £17,102,000).

20. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Cash at bank and in hand 1,174 4,867

Cash and cash equivalents are held at amortised cost. Fair value approximates carrying value.

Cash at bank eams interest at floating interest rates determined by reference to short-term benchmark rates.

21. Assets classified as held for sale

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Non-current assets held for sale
Fraeehold land and buildings
At 1 January 750 -
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 797 750
Disposals (750} -
At 31 Decembar 797 750
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21. Assets classified as held for sale (continued)

2018

Following the closure of one of the Group's dealerships in October 2018, the dacision was taken to sell the freehold property
awned by tha Group and used by the dealership. Based on current market conditions, the sale is expected to be complated
within one year from the balancea sheet date. As a result, the freehold property has been reclassified as held for sale and transferred
from property, plant and equipment into current assets. On reclassification, the freehold property was measured at the lower of
its camying amount and fair value less costs to sell at the date of reclassification (fair value as determined by a desktop valuation
from Chartered Surveyors). No impairment was required as fair value less costs to sell exceed the asset's carrying value,

Profits on disposal of assets classifiad as held for sale are included in Nota 7 ‘Non-Underlying ltems’.
2017

Feilowing the clasure of the one of the Group's dealerships in December 2017, the decision was taken to sell the freehold property
owned by the Group and used by the dealership. Based on current market conditions, the sale is expecled to be completed
within one year from the balance sheet date. As a result, the freshold property has been raclassified as held for sale and transferred
fram property, plant and equipment inte current assats. On reclassification, the freshold property was measured at the lower of
its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell at tha date of reclassification {fair value as determined by a desktop valuation
from Chartared Surveyors). This remeasurernent resulted in an impairment loss of £194,000 being recognised in the Consclidated
Staternent of Comprehensive Income.

The asset is presented within total assets of the prior year Retail segment in Note 5 *Segmental Information’.

22. Trade and other payables

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Current — trade and other payables
Trade payablaes:
- vehicle financing arrangements 370,823 380,641
- other trade payables 81,749 89,281
Caontract liahilities 18,165 21,478
Amounts owed to related undertakings (note 31) 37 149
Other tax and social security payable 4,443 4 500
Cther pavables . 1,658 8,205
Accruals - 16,984 23,360
Total current trade and other payables . 493,859 527,614
Non-current — other payables
Accruals 5,596 4,281
Total non-current other payables 5,596 4,281

All financial liabilities included within current trade and other payables are held at amortised cost; carrying value is a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

Vehicle financing arrangements

The Group finances the purchases of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities' provided by various lenders
including the captive finance companies associated with brand pariners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date.
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22. Trade and other payables (continued)

Vehlcle financing arrangements (continued)

Amounts dus to finance companies in raspect of vahide funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle
financing arrangements. Related cash fiows are reporting within cash flows from operating activities within the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Vehicle financing faciliies are subject to LIBOR-based (or similar) interest rates. The interest incurred under these agreements
Is included within finance costs and classified as stock holding interest.

Contract labilities

Contract liabilities include commission incoma received in advance from the various finance and insurance companies for which
the Group acts as agent.

In 2018 the Group recognised revenue of £9,863,000 (2017; £11,528,000) that was held in contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018.

23. Loans and borrowings

2018 2017
Nominal and Nominal and
book value book value
£'000 £'000
Current loans and berrowlngs

Merigages 641 642
641 642

Non-current loans and borrowings
Martgages 5,665 6,466
5,665 6,466
Total loans and borrowings 6,306 7,108

Mongages camprise amounts bormowed from commercial financial institutions and are secured by fixed charges over specified
property assets of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Committed facilitles

The Group has a revolving credit facility of £120,000,000 of which £nil was drawn at 31 Decarmber 2018 (2017; £nil). This facility
includes access to an overdraft facility of £25,000,000. This facility is available for general corporate purposes including
acquisitions or working capital requirements. The facility is held in a cash pooling arrangement and balances have baen offsetin
the Consclidated Balance Sheet,

The facility is secured by cross guarantees granted by the certain members of the Group. The facility is availabte until May 2021.
Mora information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 26 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk Managemaent'.

The camrying amount of current loans and borrowings approxirmate fair value.

The camrying amounts and fair vatue of the non-current loans and borrowings are as below. The fair values are based on cash
flows discounted using the prevailing rates.

2018 2017

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Mortgages 5,665 4,478 6,466 4917

e
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23. Loans and borrowings (continued)

a) Interest rate profile of borrowings

Mortgages

Walghted average cost of drawn borrowings

2018 2018 2017 2017

Average Average

Debt effective Debt effactive

£'000 interestrate E'000 interest rate
8,308 240 7,108 1.63
6,306 2.40 7,108 1.63

All loans and borrowings are subject to floating rates of interest which are determined by reference to official market rates such
as LIBOR or the Finance House Base Rate.

b) Maturity profile of borrowings

The Group's borrowings have the following maturity profile:

2018 2017
£'000 £000
6 months or less 321 321
6 — 12 months 321 321
1 -5 vyears 2,565 2,565
Over 5 years 3,099 3901
Total loans and borrowings 6,306 7,408
24, Provisions
Closed Vacant
Othar Pansion Tax sltes Dilapldattons property Total
£000 £'000 E'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Al 1 January 2018 200 6,000 237 527 1,053 4,813 12,830
Transfer from accruals 380 - - . 140 - 530
Charged tc income statement in the year 778 - - 35 3as 147 1,345
Raversed and credited to income _
statemant in the year - - - {135} {818) (3.581) (4,534)
Utilised during the year - {420) (237) (328} (117 (1,143) (2,245)
As at 31 Dacembar 2018 1,368 5,580 - 99 643 236 7,926

The reversead and credited to income statement in the year tota! includes £4,160,000 of non-underlying items included in Note 7

‘Non-underlying items’.

Provisions have besn allocated between cumrent and non-current as below.

Current
Non-currant
Total provisions

2018 2017
£000 £'000
7,926 8,815

- 4,015

7,926 12,830
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24. Provisions (continued)

Tax

On acquisition of Pentagon Limited and Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited during the year ended 31 Dacemnber 2016, the
Group inherited a potential setttemant in respact of various film tax planning initiatives previously entered into pre-acquisition.
The estimated settement was provided for as at 31 December 20186, In February 2017 a setlement with HMRC was agreed
with most instaiments paid during the year; the final instalment was paid in January 2018.

Closed sites, dilapidations and vacant property

The Group manages its partfolio carefully and either closes or sells sites which no longer fit with the Group’s strategy. When sites
are closed or sold provisions are made for any residual costs or commitments.

The Graup operates from a number of leasehold premises under full repairing leases. The provision recognises that repairs are
required to put the buildings back into the state of repair required under the leases.

Where property commitments exist at sites which are closed or closing the Group provides for the unavoidable cost of those
leases post closure. The £4,534,0000 relsase of unutilised provision in the year resulted from the better than expected exit from
lease commitments on premises no longer used by the Group.

Penslon

See Note 32 ‘Pensicns’ for full details of the circumstances giving rise to the recognition of this provision. The provision was
utilised on 25 February 2019.

Other

Other provisions include an amount of £301,000 in respect of the Group's estimated financial exposure under open insurance
claims, The claims are generally expected to be concluded within the next year.

Other provisions also inciude an allowance of £814,000 for polential output VAT payable arising from uncertain VAT treatment of
specific vehicle purchases. The conclusion of this open position is not expected in the forthcoming year.
25. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The anatysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as below,

2018 2047
. £000 £'000
Deferred tax assels:
— Deferred tax asset - 39
Deferred tax liabilities:
— Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months (note 25a) (22,202) (22,234)
— Deferred tax assets lo be offset against liabilities (note 25b) 1.415 1,786
(20,787) (20,448)
Net Deferred tax liabilitles : (20,787) {20,409)
The gross movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:
2018 2017
£'000 £°000
At 1 January {20,408) (20,767)
Transitional adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9 15 -
Disposal of subsidiaries - (1,547)
Income statement charge (note 12) (393) 1,905
At 31 December {20,787) {20,409)
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25. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

a) Deferred tax liabilities

Tha movemant in deferred tax liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the

same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Assats

] Fixed assets
Accolarated acquirad on a previously
tax business Roll over qualifylng Investment Intangible
depreciation combination rellef for IBAs properties assets Goodwill Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Deferred tax llabliitles
At 1 January 2017 - 6,800 1,206 303 164 12,283 1,564 22,320
Charged/(credited) to the
income statement — current year 80 (710} (3) (B1) {8) (8) 179 (551)
Charged/{credited}) fo the
income statement — prior year 5 235 - - 71 - (367) (198)
Transfers to deferred fax asset 720 - - - (57) - - 663
At 31 December 2017 805 6,325 1,203 222 28 12,275 1,376 22,234
Charged/(credited) to the
income statement - current year 609 (189) - (26) - (11) 177 ' B8O
Charged/(cradited) to the
Income statement — prior year (172) (482) 81 - - 4 7 (592)
At 31 Decomber 2018 1,242 5,654 1,254 196 28 12,268 1,560 22,202

b) Deferred tax assets

The movement In deferred tax assets during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated Shara- Disposals Other
tax Tax based  Investmant Capltal on asale temporary
depreciation josses payments proporties losses basls differences Total
£'000 €£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Deferred tax asseots
At 1 January 2017 887 a6 268 57 116 - 189 1,553
{Charged)/credited to the
income statement - curment year 41 2 - - 3 42 1,376 1,464
(Charged)/credited to the .
income statemant — prior year {103) 1 (268) - 44 - 18 {308)
Tranrsfers from deferred
tax liability 720 - - 57 - - - 663
Disposal of subsidiaries {1,545) - - - - - (2) (1.547)
At 31 Decembar 2017 - 39 - - 163 42 1,581 1,825
Transitional adjustment IFRS 8 - - - - - - 15 15
{Charged)/credited to the
income statement — current year - (43) - - 207 167 {421) (90)
{Charged)/credited to the
incomea statemeant — prior year - 4 - - (2) - (337) {335)
- - - 368 209 838 1,415

At 31 December 2018 -
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b) Deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets are racognised for tax loss carry forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxabte profits is probable.

2018 2018 2017 2017
Unrecognised Unrecognised
deferred deferred
Tax losses tax asset Tax losses tax asset
£'000 £'000 £000 £000
Trading losses
Available indefinitaly 1,387 236 1,133 192
At 31 Dacember 1,387 236 1,133 192

26. Financial instruments — risk management
a) Financial instruments by category

The Group's principal financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts and loans and bomowings.
Tha main purposs of thesa financial instruments is to manage the Group's funding and liquidity requirements. The Group has
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

Tha table below analyses financial instruments by type. In 2018, all financial assets are camiad at amortised cost (2017: loans
and receivables {amartised cost). All financial liabilities are carried at armortised cost in bath 2018 and 2017. For all financial
assets and liabilities, fair value equals carrying value except for long-term barrowings as disclosed in Note 23.

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Assets as per the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Trade and other receivables excituding prepayments (note 19} 71,906 83,282
Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) 1,174 4,867
Total financlal assats 73,079 88,149
Liabilities as per the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Leans and borrowings (nota 23) 6,306 7,108
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities (note 22) 495,012 527,395
Total financlal llabilitles 501,318 534,503

b} Risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to the following financial risks:

+  Market risk;
«  Credit risk; and
»  Liquidity risk.

Each of these risks are managed in accordance with Board-approved policies. Risk management policies and systems have
been established and ars reviewed ragularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Gmup's activities. These policies
ara set oul below.

The Group's financial risk management processes seek to enable the early identification, evaluation and effective management
of the significant risks facing the business.
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26. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)

b) Risk management (continuead)

The Group does not use financial derivatives and does not enter into trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of movements in the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument or forecast transaction as
underlying market prices change. The only market risk to which the Group is exposed is changes in interest rates. The Group's
business activities neither expose it to commodity price risk nor foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that a change in interest rates adversely effects the Group's performance or ability to settle financial
obligations and comprises two elements.

Interest price risk

This risk results from financial instruments bearing fixed interest rates; changes in floating interest rates affect the fair value of
these fixed rate financial instruments.

The Group has no debt subject tc fixed interest rates and is, therefore, not exposed to interest price risk.

Interast cash flow risk
This risk results from financial instruments bearing floating interest rates. Changes in fioating interest rates affect cash flows on
interest recaivable or payable.

The Group is exposed to interest ratae risk on its floating rate debt, nameiy all loans and borrowings. The interest rate exposure
of the Group is managed within the constraints of the Group's business plan and the financial covenants under its facilities. Due
to the low value of the Group's foans and bommowings as at 31 December 2018, the Group does not have significant sensitivities
to the impact of future changes in interest rates on floating rate debt.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractuat obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
The Group is exposed to credit risk on its financial assets which consist of cash balances with banks and trade and other
receivables to the extent that setttement is cash-related. The Group does not have a significant exposure to this type of financial

risk due to the nature of its customer base and the types of transaction that are undertaken.

The maximum exposure to credit risk on the Group's financial assets is represented by the assels’ carmying amount,
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b) Risk management (continued)
Credit risk {continued)

Exposure to credit risk

A summary of the Group's exposure to credil risk for trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

2018 2018 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000
Not credit- Credit-
impalred Impaired
Counterpartles without external credit rating:
Group 1 1,338 - 1,587
Group 2 41,983 - 51,026
Total gross carrylng amount 43,321 - 52,613
Loss allowance . (677) - {944)
Net carrylng amount of trade receivables 42,644 - 51,669
Counterparties with external credit rating:
A\ AA- (stable)* 1,174 - 4,867
Loss allowance - - -
Cash at bank 1,174 - - 4,867

Group 1 - new customers/ralated parties (less than 6 menths}
Group 2 — existing customers/retated parties (mare than 6 months) and no defaults In the past.
* Standard & Poor’s rating (long term)

Trade raceivables

The Group has a high volume of transactions spread across a large custorner base, therefore, does not have a significant
exposure to the credit worthiness of any single counterparty.

The Group has an established credit policy applied by each business under which the credit status of each new customer is
reviewad (by reference to external credit evaluations, where possible) before credit is advanced. Credit imits are established for
all significant or high-risk customers, which represent the maximum amount perrnitted to be cutstanding without requiring additional
approval from the appropriate level of management. These limits are based on external credit reference agency ratings and the
utilisation of approved credit imits Is regulary monitored. Outstanding debts are continually monitored by each business unit.

Trade recsivables are considerad to be past due once they have passed their contractual due date. At each reporting date, the
Group uses a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses on trade receivables, When the debt is deemed irrecoverable,
the allowance account is written off against the underying receivable.

Credit quality of trade receivables — expected credit Joss assessmemt at 1 January 2018 and 31 Decembeor 2018

The Group uses a provision matrix to measure the expected credit losses on trade receivables. Loss rates are calculated using
a 'roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of dehnquency to write-off.
Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past two years.
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b) Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of trade recelvables — expected credit loss assessment at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

£'000 £°000
Balance at 1 January per IAS 39 1,542 1,944
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS'9 g1t -
Balance at 1 January per IFRS 9 (2018)/IAS 39 (2017) 1,633 1,944
Amounts written off (736) (214)
Net remeasurement of loss allowances (220) (188)
Balance at 31 December per IFRS 9 {2018)/tAS 39 (2017) 677 1,542

Cash and cash equivalents

Banking relationships are genarally limited to those banks that are membaers of the cora relationship group. These banks are
selected for their credit status and their ability to meet the businesses’ day-to-day banking reguirements. The credit ratings of
these institutions are monitored on a continuing basis.

The Group has not recorded impaimments against cash or cash equivalents, nor have any recoverability issues been identified
with such balances. Such items-are typically recoverable on demand or in line with normal banking armangements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities as
they fall due.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework for the management of tha Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity managemant requiremenis.

Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate levels of easily accessible cash reserves and committed banking facilities. To
assess the adequacy of resourcas, available headroom is continuously monitored through review of forecast and actual cash
flows and through matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabifities. The Group has access to undrawn banking
facilities in arder to further reduce liquidity risk. The Group does not anticipate any issues drawing on the committed, undrawn
banking facililes should this be necessary. Full detalls of the Group's borrowing faciiities are given in Note 23 ‘Loans and
Bormrowings'.
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26. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)
b} Risk management {continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table balow analyses the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to the Group's financial liabilities at the balance sheet
date. The cash flows are grouped based an the remaining period to the contractual maturity date. The Group helds sufficient
funds to meet these commitments as they fall due.

Due Due Due
between between between
Due within & months 1and 2 2andS Due after

6 months and 1 year years years S years Total
£°000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Mortgages 379 376 741 . 2150 - 3,396 7,042
Trade and other payables
(excluding other taxes and social security) 489,416 - 5,596 - - 495012
At 31 December 2018 489,795 376 6,337 2,150 3,396 502,054
Due Due Due
between between between
Due within 6 months 1and2 2and5 Duo after
6 months and 1 year years years § years Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Mortgages ass5 382 753 2,187 4,099 7,806
Trade and other payables
(exciuding other taxes and social security) 523,114 - 4,281 - - 527,395
At 31 December 2017 : 523,499 as2 5,034 2,187 4,099 535,201

The above tabies do not include forecast data for liabilities which may be incurred in the future but which were not contracted as
at the balance sheet date.

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, loans and bormowings and shareholders’ equity. The
consolidated statement of changes in equity provides details on equity, Note 20 provides details of cash and cash equivalents
and Note 23 provides details of loans and bormowings.

The Group manages its capital structure with the following objectives:

+  to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and maintain sufficlent available resources as protection for
unforesean avents,

»  toensure that sufficient capital resources are available for working capital requirements and meeting principal and interest
payment cbligations as they fall due;

+  to provide flexibility of resource for strategic growth and investment where opportunities arise; and

+ - to provide reasonable retumns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders whilst maintaining & limited level of risk.

There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management during the year.
-By virtue of the Group's retail madiation activities, the Group is subject to the capital requirements imposed by the Financial

Conduct Authority on all non-invastment insurance intermediaries. The Group's capital adequacy is monitored on a quarterly
basis and its capital resources have been consistently in excess of the requirements.
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26. Financial instruments — risk management (continued)

b) Risk management (continued)

Capital risk management (continued)

The Directars monitor the Group's capital structure and determine the level of dividends payable to shareholders at least twice
a year prior to the announcement of results, taking into account the Group’s ability to continue as a going concem and the capital
requirements of its strategic business ptans. Consistent with others in the industry, the Directors monitor levels of leverage by
reference to the ratic of net debt to total shareholders’ equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including both current
and non-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. As disclosed in the Net Debt Reconciliation on page 76, the Group
had net debt of £5,131,000 as at 371 Decermber 2018 (2017: £2,241,000).

27. Fair value measurement

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets and liabilities.

Date of valuation

Assets measured at fair value:
Investment properties (note 17) 31 December 2018
Assets held for sale (note 21) 31 December 2018

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

Mortgages {note 23) 31 December 2018

Assots measured at falr value:
Invastment properties (note 17) 31 Dacember 2017
Assets hgld for sale (note 21) 31 December 2017

Liabilities for which falr vatues are disclosed:
Mortgages (note 23) 31 December 2017

Fair value measurement using:

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

Total (Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3)
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
2,590 - 2,590 -

797 - 797 -
4,478 - 4,478 -
2,590 - 2,590 -

750 - 750 -
4,817 - 4,917 -

There were no transfars between Leve! 1 and 2 during 2018 or 2017.
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28. Share capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium

Number Ordinary Share
of shares shares premium Total
£000 £'000 £'000
At {1 January 2017 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203
At 31 December 2017 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203
Issued 11 April 2018 472,73 303 - 303
At 31 Dacember 2018 77,865,653 49,834 19,672 69,506

On 11 April 2018 472,791 ordinary shares of 64p each were issued as part of the exercise of share options awarded under the
IPC Restricted and IPO Performance share option schemes. There were no shares issued in 2017,

All shares issued ars fully paid.
Details of Directors' interests in shares are shown in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 53 to 60.

Share repurchases

In April 2018 the Employee Benefit Trust (controlled by the Company) subsctibed to 472,791 ordinary shares of the Company as
part of the aforementioned exercise of share options. The Trust subscribed to the shares at nominal value. No ordinary shares
were repurchased by the Company in 2017.

Shares held by subsidiaries
No shares in the Company were held by subsidiaries in 2018 (2017 nil}.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to necognise the value of equity-seitted share-based payments granted to employees,
including key management parsonnel, and Directors of the Group as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 29 'Share-Based
Payments’ for further details of these ptans.

QOwn shares reserve

Represents shares in the Company held by the Marshall Motar Holdings Employee Benefit Trust These shares are held in order
to satisfy options exercised under the Group's Performance Share Plan. Further details of which are set out in Note 29 ‘Share-
Based Payments’.

29. Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled share option scheme for certain senior managers and executive directors of the Group
(“the Performance Share Plan™). As at 31 December 2018, five share grants have been awarded under the scheme being (a)
IPO Restricled Awards (vesting in three tranches), {b) IPO Performance Awards (vesting in two tranches), (c) 2016 Performance
Awards, (d) 2017 Performance Awards and (2) 2018 Performance Awards. Awards are made annually to eligible employees at
the discretion of the Remuneration Committee; employees receive shares at the end of the perforrnance period, subject to the
achievement of the specified underlying basic eamings per share (“EPS") performance conditions. Performance conditions are
designed to incentivise senior managers and executive directors to maximise long-term shareholder retums. Each option grant
under the scheme is disclosed separately below.

The tota! share-based paymaent charge recognised during the year ended 31 December 2018 was £732,000 (2017: £1,005,000).
This is split as £203,000 (2017: £266,000) in accruals and £629,000 (2017: £739,000) in share-based payment reserve.

If an option remains unexercised afier a period of ten years from the date of grant, the option expires. The waighted average
remaining contractual life of options ocutstanding as at-31 December 2018 is 8.1 years (2017: 8.2 years).

=
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29. Share-based payments (continued)

The fair value of share options is determined by reference to the market value of the Group's shares at the date of grant. No
valuation model is required to calculate the fair value of awards on the basis that the employees raceiving the awards are entitied
to receive the full value of the shares and thane are no market-based performance conditions attached to the awards. The weighted
average fair value of options outstanding as at 31 December 2018 is £1.68 (2017: £1.65). The fair value of options granted during
the year was £1.59 (2017: £1.69). The fair value of equity settled share options granted was based on market value on
17 April 2018 when the share options were granted.

Options are ardinarily forfeited if the employes leaves the Group before the options vast.
Ali options issued are nil cost options and all awards have an exercise prica of £nil,

The share option scheme is in place to encourage option holders to take appropriate and timely action to maximise the long-term
financial performance and success of the Group. As a result, in accordance with the discretion afforded to them under the Group's
remuneration policy, the Remuneration Committee regularly reviews any impact of Group restructurings and reorganisations on
incentiva outcomes to ensure that performance conditions are not distorted by action taken to optimise business performance
for the long-term benefit of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee exercised this discretion during 2017. incentive cutcomes on the PO Performance Awards and
the 2016 Performance Awards were adjusted for the impact of the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited.

In April 2018, the third tranche of the IPQ Restricted Share Awards as well as the first tranche of the (PO Performance Awards
vested and becama exercisable. On 11 April 2018, all option holders exarcised these options as well as the second tranche of
the |PO Restricted Awards which had previously vested and become exercisable in 2017. As such, 472,791 ordinary shares of
B4p were issued to satisfy the exercise of options. On exercise, the Remuneration Committee exercised its discration to settle a
proportion of the share options equal to the option holders' tax liability arising on exercise in cash rather than being cash settled.
The tota) value of cash-seltled transactions was £968,000.

As at 31 Decemnber 2018 outstanding share options were as follows:

No of shares

over which Date

options are  Exerclsa from which Explry
Award Award date outstanding price exorcisable date
IPO Performance Awards — Tranche 2 2 April 2015 578,856 Nil 2 April 2019 2 April 2025
2016 Performance Awards 13 June 2016 493,575 Nil 13 June 2019 13 June 2026
2017 Performance Awards 24 September 2017 619,763 Nil 29 Saptember 2020 29 September 2027
2018 Perfarmance Awards 17 April 2018 731,054 Nil 17 April 2021 17 April 2028
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a) IPO Restricted Awards

The IPO Restricted Share Awards ware not subject to any performance conditions; vesting was purely subject to the service
condition of continuous employment.

These options vested in three equal tranches and bacame exercisable on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date on
which the Company’s shares were admitted to trading on the Altemative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange
(2 April 2015).
2018 2018 2017 2017
No. WAEP No. WAEP
IPO Restricted Share Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 313,198 - 313,188 -
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year - - - -

Exercised {313,199) - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Qutstanding as at 31 December - - 313,199 -
Exerclsable as at 31 December - - 156,599 -

b) 1PQ Performance Awards

The IPO Performance Awards are subject to non-market performance conditions as detailed below as well as the service condition
of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2014 to 2017, 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI plus 4% per annum
increasing to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CPI plus 10% per annum,

Thase options vest in two equal tranches and 50% become exercisable on the third anniversary of the date on which the
Company's shares were admitted to trading on the Altemative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange and the
remaining 50% become exercisable on the fourth anniversary.

2018 2048 2017 2017
_ No. WAEP No. WAEP

IPO Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 1,208,056 - 1,406,040 -
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year (50,341) - (197,984) -
Exercised {578,859) - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 578,856 - 1,208,056 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -
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¢) 2016 Performance Awards

The 2016 Perforrmance Awards are subjact to non-market performance conditions as detailed below as wel as the service
condition of continuous amployment.

The options vast for achiaving growth in EPS from 2015 to 2018; 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI plus 3% per annum
increasing to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CPI plus 8% per annum,

These options all become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2016 Performance Awards are subject to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth anniversary
of the grant data.

2018 2018 2017 2017
No. WAEP No. WAEP

2016 Performance Awards
Cutstanding as at 1 January 538,835 - 660,801 B
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year (45,260) - (121,966) -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 493,575 - 538,835 -
Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -

d) 2017 Performance Awards

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject o non-market performance conditions as datailed halow as well as the service
condition of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in undenlying, basic EPS from 2017 to 2019; 25% vest for achieving growth of CPl plus 1%
per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving growth
of CPl plus 5% per annum.

These options all become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends an the fourth anniversary
of the grant date.

2018 2018 2017 2017
Ne, WAEP No. WAEP

2017 Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 806,141 - - -
Granted during the year - - 806,141 -
Forfeited during the year {186,378) - - -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 619,763 - 806,141 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - . - -

b



Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
29. Share-based payments (continued)

€) 2018 Performance Awards

The 2018 Performance Awards are subject to non-market performance conditions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in undertying, basic EPS from 2017 to 2020, 25% vest for achiaving growth of 1.3% per
annum and the percentage of options which vests increases an a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving growth of
6% or more per annum.

Thase options ail become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2018 Performance Awards are subjact to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth anniversary
of the grant date.

2018 2018 2017 2017
No. WAEP No. WAEP

2018 Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January - - - -
Granted during the year 930,966 - - -
Forfeited during the year . (199,912} - - -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 731,054 - - -

Exarcisable as at 31 December - - - -

30. Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee

The Group, as lessee, has non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The |ease terms vary and the majority of lease
agreaments are renewable at the and of the lease pericd at market rate.

The lease expenditure charged o the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income during the year is disclosed in Note 6
‘Profit befare Taxation'.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below.

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Vehicles and Vehicles and
Proparty equipment Property ‘equipment
£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Within 1 year 10,065 352 11,560 362
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years 35,339 94 41,739 38
After 5 years 61,707 - 69,506 -
107,111 446 123,205 400
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30. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Operating leases — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases, as lessor, on property included in investment property. The terms
of these leases vary.

Future minimum lease payments raceivable for property under non-canceliable operating leases ars as set out below.

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Within 1 vear 378 593
Between 1 and 5 years 1,314 1,520
After 5 years 1,777 2,057
3,469 4,170

31. Related party transactions

Key management compensation is given in Note 10 'Employees and Directors’.

During 2018 and 2017 the Directors were members of an employee car ownership scheme under which the following transactions
were made in the year. The Directors purchased 19 cars in 2018 (2017:15) at a price of £1,338,000 (2017: £1,170,000) and sold
back 22 (2017:12) at a price of £1,532,000 (2017: £938,000). The Directors didn't make a profit on these transactions.

The following table shows the aggregate transactions with companies within Marshall of Cambridge (Heldings) Limited other
than those which are subsidiaries of Marshall Motor Holdings ple.

Year-end
2018 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £000 £'000
Ultimate parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 52 606 1
Other related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 16 254 (39}
Marshall Thermec King Limited 296 3 27
Marshall Group Propertiss Limited {89) 1,112 -
275 1,975 {11}
Year-end
2017 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £'000 £'000
Ultimate parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 278 332 2
Other related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 62 303 (37)
Marshall Thermo King Limited 327 3 254
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited 3 8 -
Marshall Group Properties Limited 100 1,335 (368)
Aerapeople Limited 2 - -
Marshali Land Systems Limited 3 - -
775 1,981 (149)
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Outstanding balances with group entities are unsecunad, interest free and are expected to ba settled in cash. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful dabts relating to amounts awed by related parties
(2017: Enin).

32. Pensions
a) Defined contribution pension schemes

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pensien schemes; contributions paid are calculated by reference to a
percentage of each employee's salary. All defined contribution schemes inta which the Group makes contributions are managed
by third party providers. The only obtligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the specifiad contributions.
The total income statement charge for contributions far the year ended 31 December 2018 was £1,999,000 (2017: £2,059,000).

The total unpaid pension contributions outstanding at the year end were £313,000 (2017: £263,000).
b) Defined benefit pension schemes

The defined benafit section of the Marshall Group Executive Pension Plan {"the Plan") has multiple participating entities which
are under common cantrol. There is no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit pension cost
for the Plan as a whole to the various participating employers of the Plan. Therefore, in line with the disclosure requirements of
I1AS 19 Employee Benefits, the net dafined banefit cost is reccgnised in the financial staternents of the principal smployer (Marshall
of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited) and the other participating employers (including the Group) recognise a cost equal to their
contributions payable for the year. Consequently, the Group accounts for all of its pension contributions as if the contributions
were made to a defined contribution pension schame (see Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’).

The most recent triennial actuarial valuation of the defined benefit section of the Plan is as at 31 December 2016. The valuation
was agreed by the Trustees after the Group’s year end and revealed a global, scheme-wide deficit on a technical provisions
basis of £8.1 million. As a result, a recovery plan was put in place to which the Group, as a participating employer, was required
to contribute.

The Group's only contributions to the defined benefit section of the Plan during the current year was a payment of £420,000 due
under the recovery plan (2017: £nil).

Cessatlon of Participation [n the Plan and Provislon for Section 75 Employer Debt

Following the sale of Marshall Leasing Limited in 2017, the Group no longer had any current employees who were members of
the defined benefit section of the Plan. As a result of the Group's strategic review of its existing pension arrangements, on
31 December 2018 the Group ceased to be a participating employer in the Plan as a result of it no longer employing any active
members of the defined contribution section of the Plan. Accordingly, on 31 December 2018, a debt was triggered under Section
75 of the Pension Act 1895 on the Group ("Employer Debt").

On 7 February 2018 the Ptan’s actuary issued a certificate for the purposes of Regulation 5(18) and Regulation 6(8) of the
Occupational Pension Schemes (Employer Debt) Regulations 2005 confirming that the Employer Debt at 31 December 2018
was £5,541,000.

On 25 February 2019 the Group paid the Employer Debt (together with Trustee expenses of £25,000) to the Trustees of the Plan
and entered in to a Deed of De-Adherence with the Trustees and Marshall of Cambridge (Heldings) Limited confirming the discharge
of the Group from the trusts of the Pian and from any further obligations in relation to the Plan with effect from that date. Accardingly,
with effect from that date, the Group has no further commitments or participation in any defined benefit pension plans.

The Group recognised a provision of £6,000,000 in its financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2017 in respect of
the estimated costs (including the Employer Debt) of it ceasing to be a participating employer of the Plan.
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Principal Employer's IAS 19 Disclosures

Details of the full scheme are included in the Annual Report and Accounts of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited which
can be cbtained from: Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge CB5 8RY.

s

33. Acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiaries

On 22 February 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 1% of the share capital of the following subsidiary undertakings; Marshalt
of Peterborough Limited, Marshall of ipswich Limited and Marshall of Stevenage Limited, taking the Group's shareholdings in
these entities up to 100%. Total consideration for these shares amounted to £49,553; the value of consideration in excess of the
carrying value of the non-controlling interest acquired has been recognised in retained eamings.

34. Uitimate parent company

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which consclidated financial statements are drawn up and of
which the Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited. This is both the immediata parent undertaking
and the ultimate parent undertaking. In light of its aggregate shareholding in the capital of the Cempany, Marshall of Cambridge
(Holdings) Limited has entered into a relationship agreement in order to regulate the relationship between it and the Company
and enable the Company to act independently of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and its affiliates.

Copies of the consolidated financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited can be obtained from: Airport
House, The Airport, Cambridge CB5 8RY.
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at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £000 £'000
Fixed assets
Investments 6 161,886 163,528
Current assets
Debtors 7 6,317 6,265
6,317 6,265
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 9 (38,880) (30,499)
Net current liabilities (32,563) (24,234)
Net assets 129,323 139,294
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 10 49,834 49,531
Share premium 19,672 19,672
Share-based payment reserve 1,570 2,608
Own shares reserve - -
Profit and loss account 58,247 67,483
Shareholders’ funds 129,323 139,294

The total comprehensive loss of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 was £4,757,000 (2017: income of
£54,208,000).

The Company financial stalements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and authorised forissue en 12 March 2019.

Richard Blumberger
Chief Financial Officer
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 Decermnber 2018

Note
At 1 January 2017
Profit for the financial year

Total comprehenslve
Income for the year

Equity dividends paid
Share-based paymant charge
At 31 Dacember 2017

Loss for the financial year

Total comprehensiva
income for the year

Equity dividends paid 12
Issue of share capital

Exercise of share options
Share-based payment charge

At 31 December 2018

Share-
Called-up based Own  Profit and
share Share payments shares loss
Capital Premium reserve reserve account Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
49,531 19,672 1,869 - 17,802 88,874
- - - - 54,208 54,208
- - . - 54,208 54,208
- - - - (4,527) (4,527)
- - 739 - - 138
49,531 19,672 2,608 - 67,483 139,294
- - - - {4,757} (4,757}
- - - - (4,757) {4,757)
- - - - {4,983) (4,983)
303 - - (303) - -
- - (1,567) 303 504 (T60)
- - 529 - - 529
49,834 19,672 1,570 - 58,247 129,323
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1. Statement of compliance

Marshall Mator Holdings plc (the Company) is incorporated and resident in the United Kingdom. The Company is & public limited
company, limited by shares, whose shares are listed on the Altemative Investment Market (AlM) of the London Stock Exchange.
The Cornpany is registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 (registration number 02051461) with the address
of the registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CBS 8RY, United Kingdom.

The parent company financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, the Financial Reperting Standard
applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and in aceordance with the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in Sterling which is both the functional and presentational currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except where otherwise indicated. The financial information has been
prepared on the going concerm and historical cost basis.

The Company is part of the consolidated financial staterments of Marshall Motor Holdings ple.
Exemptions adopted

The following disclosure exemptions have been adopted as permitted by FRS 102:

— Presentation of a cash-flow statement and related notes
— Financial instrument-related disclosures

— Key managsment personnel compensation disclosures
— Share-hased payments disclasures

Company profit

As permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected to neither present a Company Income
Statement nor Company Statement of Comprehensive Income.

3. Accounting policies

Except whare disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the praparation of the Company financial
statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the Company financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investrnents in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less any impairment. Impairments are recognised directly through the
Income Statement.

Taxation

Current taxation
Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the current or past reporting
periods using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Defermad tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences which are differences between taxabis profits and total comprehensive
income that arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are
recognised in the financial statements. There are the following exceptions.

=
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3. Accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)

Where, in a business combination, there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assets (other than
goodwill) and liabilities compared with the amounts that are recognised in the financial statements for those assets and liabilities,
a daferred tax liablity or asset is recognised. The amount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the defermed tax
recognised.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is considered probable that they will
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or cther future taxable profits. Deferred tax is measured on an
undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax
rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

With the exception of changes arising on the initial recognition of a business combination, the taxation charge or credit is presented
either in the income staternent or the statement of other comprehensive income depanding on the transaction that resulted in the
taxation charge or credit. ’

Deferred tax liabilities are presented within provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets within debtors. Deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are offset only if:

— the company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabiliies, and

— the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same laxation authority on efther the
same taxable entity cr different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial instruments

The Company has non-derivative financial instruments comprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans
and borrowings and trade and other payables.

The Company has no financial instruments measured at fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand.
Short-term debtors and creditors

Dsbtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and which are receivabls or payable within one year are recorded at transaction
price. Any losses arising from impairmant are recognised in the Income Statement.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and bormowings are initially recognised at the present value of cash payable fo the bank (including interest).
After initial recognition they are measured at amertised cost using the effective interest rate method, lass impaimment. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in the Income Statement,

Share-based payments

The Company operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans through which the Company allows
employees to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market based
performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted and is recognised as an employee expense within underlying eamings, with a
correspoending increase in equity.
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Share-based payments (continued)

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straightdine basis over the vesting period (being the period over which all
vesting conditions are to be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting is accounted for as though it were multiple, separate
awards, the number of awards being determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in which the opticns vest.

The share-based payment charge is based on the Company's estimate of the number of options that are expected o vest. At
each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Company’s remuneration policy gives the Remuneration
Committee discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of group restructurings and reorganisations on
incentive cutcomes. The impact of any revisions to original vesting estimates or performance conditions is recognised in the Income
Statemsnt with a comesponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with share options granted are considered to be an integral pant of the grant
and are treated as cash-settled transactions. Cash-settled share-based payments transactions are measured at fair value at the
settlement date, with changes in falr value recognised directly in equity in retained eamings.

When options are exercised, the Company issues new shares, These shares are gifted to the Employee Bensfit Trust by the
Company at nominal value. The cost of these shares is recognised as a reduction to equity in the own shares reserve, When the
options are exercised and the shares transferred to the employees, the cost an the own shares reserve is transfemed to equity.

When options issued by the Employee Benefit Trust are exercised the own shares reserve is reduced and a gain or |oss is
recognised in the reserves based on proceeds less weighted-average cost of shares initially purchased now exercised.

Whare shares options are forfeited, effective from the date of the forfaiture, any share-based payment charge praviously recognised
in both the currant and prior periods in relation to these options is reversed though the Income Statement with a comesponding
adjustment to equity.

The cost of awards granted to employees of the Company's subsidiaries is recognised as an addition to the cost of its investment
in the employing subsidiary, with a comesponding increase in the Share-Based Payments Reserve In the Stalement of Changes
in Equity.

Pensions

The Company participates in a defined contribution scheme for its employees. Contributions are charged to the Income Statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. Interim dividends are recegnised when they are paid.

Dividend income

Income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders
approve the dividend. All of the Company's income is generated in the UK,

4. Auditor's remuneration

The auditor’s remuneratian for audit and other services was £3,000 (2017: £3,000).
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5. Employees and directors

Employee costs for the Company during the year:

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 1,337 2,098
Sacial security costs ‘ 412 454
Other pensicn costs 101 15
Share based payments 583 €633
2,433 3,300

The average number of employeas (including Executive Directors) was:
2018 2017
No. No.
Management 3 3
3 3

Detajls of the remuneration of the Directors, their share incentives and pension entitlements are set out in the Diractors’
Remunsration Report on pages 53 to 60.

6. Investments in subsidiaries

2018
£'000
Cost .
At 1 January 2018 163,528
Acquisition of minority interest sharaholding 50
Share-based payment awards to employees of subsidiaries 84
Impairment (1,776)
At 31 December 2018 161,886

On 22 February 2018, the Company acquired the remaining 1% of the share capital of the foifowing subsidiary undertakings;
Marshall of Peterborough Limitad, Marshall of Ipswich Limited and Marsha!l of Stevenage Limited, taking the Company's
sharehaldings in these entities up to 100%. Total consideration for these shares amounted to £49,553, the value of consideration
in excess the camying value of the non-controlling interest acquired has been recognised as an addition to Investments in
Subsidiaries. :

Management has recognised an impairment charge of £1,776,000 in the cumrent year against investments in subsidiaries with a
camying amount of £12,946,000 as at 31 December 2017. The impairment charge is recorded within administrative expenses in
the Income Statement. The impaitments reconded are a consequance of the continuing deterioration in market conditions resulting
in revisad assumptions around future profitability and growth rates within certain brands

The Company owns diractly or indirectly the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital of the following subsidiary
undertakings. All subsidiaries are incorporated in England and Wales and are 100% owned except where refarenced.

The registerad offica for all subsidiary companies listed above is Airport House, Tha Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY, United Kingdom.
All subsidiaries listed below are included within the consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 132.

bed
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

6.

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Name of Undertaking

Marshall Motor Group Limited

Marshalt of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited
Tim Brinton Cars Limited* (reg nc. 01041301)
Marshall of lpswich Limited*

Marshall of Patarborough Limited®

5.G. Smith Holdings Limited

S.G. Smith Automotive Limited* (reg no. 00622112)
S.G. Smith (Motors) Limited” {rag no. 00287379)

S.G.
S.G.
8.G.
S.G.

Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited* (re'g no. 0064B395)
Smith {Motors) Forest Hill Limited* (reg no. 00581710)
Smith {Motors) Crown Point Limited* {reg no. 00581711)
Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited™ (reg nc. 00660066}

S.G. Smith (Motors) Croydon Limited

S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited® {rag no. 01794317)
Prep-Point Limited* (reg no. 00660067)

Marshal of Stevenage Limited”

Marshall Commercial Vehicles Limited

Marshall North West Limited

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited® (reg no. 01174004)
Silver Strest Automative Limited

Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP* (reg no. 0C329331)
Audi South West Limited

Hanjo Russell Limited

CMG 2007 Limitad™ (reg no. 06275636)

Astla Limited® {reg no. 01114983)

Crystal Motor Group Limited* {reg no, 04813767)
Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limilad

Pentagon Limited

Pentagon South West Limited

Ridgeway TPS Limited

Ridgeway Bavarian Limited

Woaod in Hampshire Limited

Wood of Salisbury Limited

Principal activity
at period end

Franchised motar dealarship
Property holding

Property holding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motar dealership
Holding company

Holding company

Property holding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motar dealership
Franchised motar dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales

Maintenance and repair of motor vehicles

Franchised moior deafership
Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor deatership
Franchised motor dealership
Motor parts sales

Dormant

Dormant

Holding company
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales
Franchised motar dealership
Dormant

Dormant

* subsidiaries for which exemplion from audit by virtue of s479A of the Companles Act 2008 has besn laken for the year ended

31 Dacember 2018.

7. Debtors

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Other debtors

VAT

Prepayments and accrued income
Defarred tax asset (note.8)

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
5,567 5371

603 186
21 56
113 562
13 100
6,317 6,265

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, baar no interast and have no fixed repayment date.

pee
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8. Deferred tax assets

The analysis and movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows:

Share- Other
hased temporary
payments differences Total
Deferred tax assets £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2017 307 5 312
Credited to the income statement - current year - 66 66
{Charged)/credit to the income statement - prior year (307) 29 (278)
At 31 December 2017 - 100 100
Charged to the income statement - current year - (82) (82)
Charged to the income statement - prior year - (5) (5)
At 31 December 2018 - 13 13

The Directors believe that all dividands paid by the Company's subsidiaries will mest the exemption conditions set out in tax
legislation and are non-taxable income.

9. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2018 2017

£'000 £°000

Bank overdraft 4,274 6,390
Trade creditors 735 77
Amounts owead to Group undertakings 30,775 20,561
Corporation tax 1,490 1,654
Other taxes and social sacurity 63 80
Other creditors 354 -
Accruals and deferred income 1,189 1,857
38,880 30,499

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment date.

10. Called-up share capital

2018 2017

£°000 £'000

77,865,653 (2017: 77,392,862) ordinary shares of 84p each 49,834 49,531
2018 2017

Ordinary shares £000 £000
At 1 January 49,531 49,531
Issued on 11 April 2018 303 -
49,834 49,531

- On 11 April 2018 472,791 ordinary shares of 84p each wers issued as part of the exercise of share options awardad under the
IPO Restricted and IPO Performance share option schemes. Thers were no shares issued in 2017.

B
T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
11. Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based payment scheme; having adopted the disclosure exemptions permitted by FRS 102, full
details of the scheme are included in Note 29 ‘Share-Based Payments’ of the consolidated financial statements and are not
duplicated here.

The share-based paymant expanse recognised by the Company is calculated by reference to the number of options awarded to
the employees of the Company.

412. Dividends

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Paid during the year
Final dividend for 2016 - 2,864
Interim dividend for 2017 - 1,663
Final dividend for 2017 3,309 -
Interim dividend for 2018 1,674 -
4,983 4,527

Afinal dividend of £3,309,000 (20186: £2,864,000) for the year ended 31 December 2017 was paid in May 2018. This represented
a payment of 4.25p per ordinary share in issue at that time.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 Dacember 2018 of £1,674,000 (2017: £1,663,000), representing a payment
of 2.15p per ordinary share in issue at that time, was paid in September 2018.

Afinal dividend of 6.39p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 is to be proposed at the annual general meeting

on 21 May 2019. The ex-dividend date will be 25 April 2019 and the assoclated racord date will be 26 April 2019. This dividend will
be paid subject to shareholder approval on 24 May 2019 and these financlal statements do not reflect this final dividend payable.

13. Pensions

As describad in Note 3 ‘Accounting Policies', the Company participates in a pension scheme for the benefits of its employees
which is a defined contribution scheme, The scheme is funded by the payment of contributions to a trustee administered fund
which is kept independently from the asssts of the participating employers.

The total pension cost for the year was £101,000 (2017: £115,000)

The total unpaid pension contributions outstanding at the year end were £3,000 (2017: £3,000)

14, Related party transactions
Company transactions with subsidiaries

The Company has taken advantage of exemption, under the tarms of Section 33 of FRS 102, not to disclose related party
transactions with subsidiaries within the Group.

Transactions with Directors

Details of transactions with Directors are included in Note 31 ‘Related Party Transactions' of the consclidated financial statements.
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15. Ultimate parent company

The parent undartaking of the largast group of undartakings for which group financial statemenis are drawn up and of which the
Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridga (Holdings) Limited. This is considered to be the ultimate parent company.

Copisas of the group financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Airport Houss, The
Airport, Cambridge CBS 8RY.
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Appendix — Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)

The Group presents various APMs as the Directors believe that these are useful for users of the financial statemants in helping to
provide a balanced view of, and relavant information on, the Group's financial performance. The APMs are measures which
disclose the adjusted parformance of the Group excluding specific items which are regarded as non-recurring. Sea Note 7
‘Non-Underlying temns’ for full details of the nature of items excluded from non-undenying performance measures.

The following table shows the reconciliation between the Group's performanca as reported in accordance with Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Group's underlylng performanca and like-for-like results.

2018 2017
Continulng oparating profit £'000 £'000
Total continuing operating profit as reported 25,066 20,097
Impact of non-underlying Items
Post-retiremant benefits charge - 6,000
Restructuring costs and provisions (3.217) 6,783
Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale (268) -
Loss on disposal of investmant property 1,146 -
Loss an impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 9,302 -
6,963 12,783
Continuing underiylng operating profit 32,029 32,880
2018 2017
Continuing revenue £'000 £000
Total continuing revenua as reported 2,186,887 2,231,979
Impact of non llke-for-like actlvities
New dealerships acquired or opaned in the year (36,334) (4,437)
Dealerships closed in the year (15,908) (67,772)
Business activities ceased in tha year - (50,859)
(52,242) {123,668)
Caontinuing like-for-llke revenua 2,134,645 2,108,911
2018 2017
Continuing gross profit £'000 £'000
Total continuing gross profit as reported 255,677 258,301
Impact of non like-for-like activitias ]
New dealerships acquired or opened in the year (3,537) (617)
Dealerships closed in the year (1,623) (6,538)
(5,160} {7.155)
Continuing like-for-like gress profit 250,617 251,146
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Audi

BMVY

BMW Molorrad

CUPRA

Ford

Fard Vans

Honda

Hyundai

Jaguar

Kia

Lang Rover

Maserati

Mercedes-Benz
Mercedes-Benz Commercials
MENT

Nissan

Peugeot

Seat

SKODA
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Vauxhall

Volkswagen
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Volvo
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Used Car Centres

M Marshall

— Motor Holdings plc

23 BRAND PARTNERS
120 OPERATING UNITS
27 COUNTIES NATIONWIDE

www.mmhplc.com

Marshall Mctor Halgings plc
Arporl House, The Airport. Camibyridge. CBb 8RY

© 2019 Marshalt Malor Helgdings plo




